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{ dollars in thousands, except per share amounts
) )

"% Change - : : ‘
2002 vs. 2001 ZCE2 2901 ~ 2000 1999 1998 1997
Total Pro rata Revenues  18.2% | § 7 366,597 | $ 1,156,224 | $ 1,111,660 | $ 907,021 |$ 427,902 |$ 448,302
Total Pro rata EBITDA . 16.6% |& 833,090 $ 714,376 | $  672,830|$% 543737 |$ 365,166 $ 248,622
Funds from Operations (FFO o ’ ‘ o
(Before Minority interests) 27.4% | $ 479,977 |$ 376,799|$ 330,299 |% L 2742341 % 192274| % 147,625
FFQO Per'Share 12.5% 1§ 558 % 496 % 44218 “4.02(% 335|% 2.89
Real Estate Assets at Cost  35.3% | § 9.991,539 | $ 7,318,540 | $ 6,735,376 | $ 6,236,946 | $ 4,760,445 »$ 2,590,469
Total Market Capitalization  36.7% | $11,899,773 | $ 8,702,241 1 $ 7,331,495 | 6,672,167 |$ 5,922,023 |$ 3.674,164
STOCK AND PARTNERSHIP UNITS OUTSTANDING AT YEAR END ,
5 207 mE | ‘ .
Shares of Common Stock ¢2,397.085 | 61,923,932 52,281,259 | 51,697,425| 39,000,972 35,634,977 | .
Operating Partnership Units 19,556,247 | 19,572,493 | 19,593,705| 19,798,192} 19,831,354 18,763,955
Shares of Convertible o ‘ l ' ‘ A
Preferred Stock ©3,500,9¢0 | 13,500,000 | 13,500,000 | 13,500,000 13,500,000 -
Shares of Common Stock ’ .
Full Conversion of Operating
Partnership Units and . : :
Convertible Preferred Stock 9C.434 282 | 89,997,375 | 80,375,914 79,996,567 | 67,333,276 54,398,932
dollars in millions
2002 2001 N 2000 1999 1998 1997
Mall Shop Tenant Sales* $ 9,267 % 7326 | % 7.2431% 69311$  5176|% 2,651
Shopbing‘ Center Interests - ' '
Owned at Year End ** 723 97, .95 93 84 64
Mall Shop Square Footage ; '
Leased at Year End 91.5% " 91.0% 91.0% 90.1% 88.6% 85.7%
. t . .

* Excluding redevelopment properties.
** Includes regional malls only.
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General Growth Properties, Inc. 2002

E A UASTING €

_ Martin and Matthew Bucksbaum set off on a voyage
1954 that would see them become pioneers and leaders within the shopping -
center industry. They began by building concrete foundations for their shopping
centers, but equally as important, if not more so, they sta'rted=construéting the
solid foundations for the compah_y We know today as General Growth PrgpertJes,

Inc. (GGP), a company Built To Last.

In"2002 fraudulent accouniting, quick-buck schemes, and executive greed ravaged

the financial markets, adding up to "the perfect financial storm.” As reported by

The Wall Street Journal, “Options 'motivéted people to selfish, short-term thinking -

by promoting rapid sales growth at the expense of the detail-oriented work of build-
ing an infrastructure. They did not create what the shareholders wanted, which was
long-term value. Federal Reserve Chairman Alan Greenspan blamed poorly '
structured options as a major contributor to the infectious greed that gripped
business. The incentives they created overcame the good judgment of tao many
corporate managers; they were not trying to build a lasting business, they were
building a house of cards." On the other hand, General Growth Properties has over

500 erﬁployees, including trusts for the benefit of certain of their relatives, who cur-

METO
NT BUTION
M TS E RANMETPLAGE

rently o;/vn ove‘r 27 million common shares and/or common operating partnership '
units of GGP [exctuding option shares]. That significant management ownership
represents approximately 30% of the fully diluted Eommon equ'&y that is currently
outstanding. A‘chieving financial.security and cr_eatinvg value is a difficult task
that takes m-any years. This is what GGP has been delivering for 48 years as we

stand shoulder-to-shoulder with you, our investors.

Instability will always be a factor in financial markets, and while innocent employees
and unsuspecting investors were roiled by a'combination of factors in 2002 that
revealed corporate America at its worst, a beacdn of stability was General Growth
Properties. Anchored so>lidt§_ to its core foundation of ethics, integrity, timeless
fundamentals and consistent profitability, you have our promise that we wiH_con-'
tinue to steer GGP out orf harm's way. Good reputations are not made overnight,
nor is recurring profitability; it takes time-and it takes hard WOFR and that is what
we are here doing for you. We have made, and we continue to make, a lasting con-
tribution in the marketplace. Begi'nnmg in 1954, this company was Built To Last

-and we are continuing to'Build To Last as we move forward in the 21st century.

In 2002, GGP began work on a new Code of Businéss Conduct and Ethics to replacé'

its existing Code due to new legal requirements and problrems'ihb corporate America.

{




{ . -

The Company anticipates that our Board of D|rectors wil adopt the new Code in
12003. TheCode is intended to cover a wide range of business practices and
" procedures and w: set out basic prmcrples to guide al employees officers and
dwectors of the Company (mctudmg but not hm\ted to, the Company s chief
executive officer, ch|eff|nanc1a officer and prmmpa accounting officer). All of our
emp oyees,.pfflcers and directors will be expected to conduct themselves in
accordance with the Code and séek to avoid even the appearrance of irhproper

behavior. The Code will_atso' be prévided tb the'Company’s -agents and representa-

tives, including consultants, who will be expe‘cted to comply with its terms.

Employees will be periodically asked to sign a statement attesting to the fact that

they are complying with this Code. Our Board also expects to adopt formal Corporate
Governance Guidelines in 2003, and has recently adopted a revised charter-for the
Audit Committee and charters for our Compensation Committee ahd_ newly formed
. Nominating and Governance Committee. The Code-of Businesé Conduct and Ethics,

Corporate Governance Guidelines and Comm'ittee\charters will be posted on GGP's

website soon after they are formally adopted. In addition, to promote open discus- .

sion.among our non-management directors, such members of the Board have

‘tg_eg(m to meetin regular executive sessions prior to scheduled Board meetings.-

In,2002, the Company also elected to adopt the fair value'based employee stock-

based compensation expense recognition provisions of Statement of Financiat

‘Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Cornpensation. This.

change was effective for all 1993 Incentive Plan stock options ("1993Plan’]
granted during the year and results in recognizing current period compensation
expense that many in the financial community believe more properly reflects the

true value of these awards. The total compensation expense recognized by the

Company for ThresholdVesting Options and 1993 Plan options to which the.account-.

ing change applies amounted to approximately $11.8 mitlion in 2002. -

Eac VEYEA A nthefmanoalmarketp ace.
GGP produced a total shareho der return of 42.0% in 2002 versus 24.6% for the

National Association of Real ‘Estate Investment Trusts (NAREIT] mall peer group.

Our perf_érmapce in 2002 compares very favorably against the overall Morgan '

Stanley REIT Index, whic':h‘ap\preci,ate‘d 3.6%, the S&P 500, which declined 22.1%,

and the NASDAQ, which declined 31.5%. GGP also fared well against corporate

bonds, which produced a total return of _10.1%, and government bonds, which
increased 11.6%. Over the last nine yea’rs {since its initial public offering.{IP_O] in
-_April 1993], GGP's per-share growth iv,n Funds From Operations [FFO] has hcregsed
at a rat.e of approximately 15% compoundéd anfually. Annusl compounded total
return for GGP's shareholders, including the reinvestment of dividends, has been
14.9% from the IPO through December 31, 2002, compared to 9.4% for the S&P 500
Totat Rveturn Index and 7.4% for the NASDAQ during‘tbis same period. As owners
of GGP, you will be pleased to know that in the past year the Company accom-

plished the following:

2002 Generat Growth Properties, Inc.
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+  Fully diluted FFO per share increased to $5.58 for the full year 2002. This rep-
resented an increase of 12.5 % over 2001.

+ Total FFO ‘fgr 2002 increased to $480 million versus $376.8 million in 2001.
Accordingly, total FFO for the year increased by 27.4% over 2001,

+ Fullyeardiluted ear_nmgs’per share increased to $2.95 in 2002 as compared
to $1.28 in 2001. ‘

+ TJotal sales increased 4% and comparable sales decreased 2.1% for 2002. .

- ArmuéUzed sales productivity per square foot in 2002 remained the same
as in 2001 at $355. ’ ’ ‘

+ Total prorata revenues for 2002 increased to $174 billion, an increase of
18.2% over 20071.

’

+ Prorata fhet operating income ["NOI"] increased to $847 million for the year
2002, an increase of 16.7% over 2001.

+ Mall shop occupancy in 2002 remained even with 2001 at 97%.

+_ The average rent per square foot for new/renewal leases-signed during 2002

was $36.00, versus $29.90 for all leases expiring in 2002. This represents an
increase of 20.4%, showcasing our strong leasing affort in 2002.

Last year we wrote gbout the importance of being solid and steady, living up in every -

way to our reputation as a blue-chip real estate company that consistently made

* money and paid increased dividends year in and year out. As you can see from our
~

-numbers, we adhered to our commitmentas a blue-chip company. In calendar year

2002, we paid a dividend of $2.67 per share, an increase of 19% over 2001.

- Importantly, we achieved this dividend growth u‘sing only 47.8% of our FFQ per

share in 2002 versus a REIT average of 69%, leaving us approximately $260 million’

of undistributed FFO to reinvest in our business.

In-the nine years that GGP has been a public company, our annualized dividend
yield has averaged. 6.38% while our ar/mualized dividend has increased 11
times from $71.48 per share in 1993 to $2.88 per share currently. A shareholder
who invested in GGP at thelrtime of the IPO in 1993 received a $1 :48-per share
dividend on their $22‘anestment, or'a 6.7% yield. IPO shareholder;s that have

i

held their stock through December 31, 2002, are now receiving.an approximate

13.1% cash yield on their initial $22 per share investment, not including 2 236%

return on their principal. For comparative pu\fposes, below is a table showing

dividend yields of major stock market indices in 2002:

index - : Yield
DJIA Utilities 5.23%
BJIA Industrial Average o 2.28%
S&P 500 ’ 1.76%
. Russell 2000 ‘ - 1.46%
DJIA Transportation 1.26% : -
NASDAQ 0.39% ‘

Source: Bloomberg and McDonald Investment, Inc. Reat Estate Research




At GGP, we understand who our customeris — in fact, we retognize there are four

constituencies we work for: Consumers, Owners, Retailers and Employees, which ,

we-Tefer to by the acronym CORE. Itis imperative that we keep investing/reinvesiing

in every shopping center, every retéit concept and every GGP employee_ because .
- we take nothing for granted; no one has a monopoly on the right‘an.swe;*s; and there .

will always be somebody else out there eager to better serve our CORE customers.

12

Shopping centers were originally built to better serve the consumer. The evolution
of the 'regional mall began as people moved away f’rom the urban cvo‘rv‘e and into the
rapidly devéloping suburbs. Retailers had to follow their customers. Initially, con-
sumérs were satisfied with just havihg a.broaci selection of sHirts, shoes and-slacks.

This is not enough to satisfy today's consumer. Today's consumer has many choices:

DPERATING PRINC!FLES

GGP is founded on the follewing principtes, which guide cur daily tusiress, We sirive to:

- _° Maintain a ciear focus on whai we do hest: create value and profit oy acquiring, developing, rer-

ovating, and managing regional malls in major and middle markets throughout the United States.

Make decisions with your money that we would make with our own, When we ac!, we are act-

] S
lar ~
ers. Ny

Ing with our own money sice by side with yours. We are partners'witn cur sharehold the

mana ccment and 3,800 employees of General Crowth own epproximately 30% of the company.

i e To i 7

. Avoid actions based solely on cur current stock price or for shart-term results, We are in 2

L

ong term business. Our goal is to maximize and increase sharehoider vawe.

i + soded P g P 1 T T TN ol - i livg mad Eodbe o LY
LSO CONSCSTVatIVE FeRariting matnons inay adcuraisy ana meanmg,uhy’ refiect the gperaung
'

results of our company. These methods are recommended

v ine Nationai Asscciation of Rea

o

rstate invesiment Trusts N/\RDT’, and allow for accurate comparisons with our competitors.

‘Continue to reduce the pereniagn distributed from Funds From Operations {FFOL

L

Undistributed FFO represents our {east expensive form of capital. Depreciation in reat ostate

()
—t
@]
-
[0}
23
<<
wm
—

requires that we have thec funds availabl st to keep cur progerties interesting,

appealing, and attractive to customers.

ity of sharehoiders and business partners are

Koo abt of the rpacong agor commy
ael S?L_., 8 FoAse A1

invesied in us: performance, securty, and bpndity. We wiit Se candic in our reporting Lo you

We witl be honest in telling you wnat i{s good in our business and what the challenges are. In
a business that counts on the successful nandiing of details, we will work nard to keeép your

'

confidence as we tend o ine deigils at hand.

2002 General Growth Properties, Inc. GTD
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they cah shop at the mall, they can shop at the discolnt store, they can shop at the

ne|ghborhood convemence center, they can shop downtovvn they can shop at the

- local speuatty retaller they can shop by catalog or they can shop online. Because

they have an unprecedented number of choices, we have to respond to the cha enge.

Today, more than ever, it is paramount to our success that we have the necessary

'

capital available to relnvest into our properties. GGP has atvvays understood and

© practiced the basic fundamentals of real estate, and because of this we manage

our finances prudently. Depreciation of real estate is real, and at GOP we use our

approximately $260 million of undistributed FFO to improve our properties so that

we can continue to provide ! ong term value for our owners. In the past year, we-

completed approxnmatety $1 76 million of renovattons expansions and improve-
ments to our properties with an average f|r5t-year return oncost 0f 10.5%. In the
last three years, we have redefined, redeveloped and reinvested over $5.83 million
in 30 GGP malls. Consumers have told us what they like and what they don't like.
The consumer told us-to build “street front” retajl as part of our malls for better
convenience, and for a way to reconnect with the retalt streets of bygone eras. In
2002, we have responded at MayfaJr \Nauvvatosa [Milwaukee], Wiscaonsin;
Lansing Mall, Lansing, Michigan; and Eden Prairie Center Eden Prairie
[Minneapolis), Minnesota. The consumer has told us to build better dining
establishments into our malls. We have provided them at Eden Prairie Center;
Valley Plaza Shopping Center, Bakersfield, Catifornia; Regency Square Mall,
Jacksonville, Flerida; Oglethorpe/ Mall, Savannah, Georgia; and Apache Mall,
Roohester, Minnesota. The consumer hastotd'us to build better amenities into

our properties, and we have_‘construc'tedand incorporated family restrooms,

~ children’s play areas’and comfortable seating groupings into Regency Square

Mall; Lansing Mall; The Oaks Mall in Gainesville, Florida; and The Parks at
Arlington, Arlington (Dallas), Texas. Many of our centers were built in the
1970s and 1980s. They were Built To Last when they were orig'matly constructed,
and we continue to improve them as we Build To Last for the next generation

of consumers.

Also; in order to better serve the consumer, GGP has implemented a far-reaching

. Customer Retationship Management [CR’M] program. The CRM initiative was

devetooed to help improve. GGP's business by leveraging customer knowledge.
Through the use of GGP's oustomer database, our Corpany now conducts cost-
effective direct marketing and research with mall consumers on a one-to—on-e
level. Our database now contains over 450,000 mall consumers and is growing ‘
rapidly. CRM has been used to support programs In mu ttp e disciplines across
GGP inc ud|ng corporate marketing, tocatrnarketmg retailer productivity, new
busnness development, asset management and leasing. Over three million e-mails

were sent to GGP mall shoppers in 2002. Use of CRM's online direct marketing
program has generated a savings/value of more than $900,000 for the malls in

2002.\Our e-mail campaigns have been very useful with an average reeponee rate.




N

of 6% versus direct mail response rates of 1-2%. The CRM program’s online
reseafch tool is Utilized to conduct real-time consumer research for fast
results at a fraction of the cost of tréditionét methods. Over 40 surveys“were
compteted in 2002, which fncluded work for retailers such as Starbucks Goffee®
and Williams-Sonomae. Over t.%‘we’ last 48 years, our malls and ou-r'Company
have changed significantly. The 'péce‘of change. is accelerated today, and tech-
nology will play an ever—‘increasi/ng role. We can think of nothing more exciting

than usher[ng in the era of convergence as we continue to Build To Last.

public company, also named General Growth Proberties, produced a 22% compound

annual return from 1970-1985 for its owners. If was 2 company Built To Last and '

it is from these beginnings that we are building the General Growth of today for -

tomorrow. A key part of our strategy has been to acquire centers that will help our
Company grow. When deciding to re-e}\tertﬁe public marketplace in 1993, it was our
belief that the shopping center industry would structurally change from a business
of developing new centers to a business of cohsotidating existing malls. In nine
*‘?fears §f being a pubhc compaﬁy GGP has acquired 156 retail properties totaling
épproximatety $11.2 billion. This past year saw GGP make more than $2.85 billion
of acquisitions in '30’properties, producing an expected first year return of approx-

imately 9%: Highlights of GGP's 2002 acquisitions.are:

The $1.1 billion purchase of JP Realty, Inc., the dominant mid-market fetail prop-
erty developrﬁeﬁt and management company in the intermountain region

of the United States. JP Realty included 18 regional mall properties that com-

prise approximately 10.3 million square feet of gross leasable area (GLAJ.
and are located in eight states. In addition, there were 26 community cénters

with total GLA of 3.4 milljon square feet. The portfolio included an additional ~

1.4 million square feet of industrial 'properties,_,The.predecessor company to
JP Realty was founded in 1957 by John Price, and we are proud to carry on

the legacy that Ambassador Price and his fine management team created.

* % %

The $250 million acquisition of the principal assets of Victoria Ward Limited,

which include 65 fee'simple'acres in Kakaakoi central Honolulu,‘Hawaii,'cur—

N

rently improved with over 1 million square feet of leasable area. Included in -

the acquisition is ene of Hawaii's most popular entertainment, shopping
and dining districts, which includes_Ward Entertainment Center, Ward

~Warehouse, Ward Village”and Village Shops. In total, Victoria Ward currently

has 29 buildings and 17 ground leases containing approximately 700,000'

.square feet of retail space, as well as approximately 700,‘000 square feet

of office, commercial and industriat properties.

The Ward properties represent the uniqué heritage that exists in Hawait. It
is our hanor to carry on the traditions of Victoria Ward, the Husta_ce and

Wodehouse families.
: * ok %

Qur predécessor

2002 General Growth Properties, inc.




The $730 million joint venture with the Teachers’ Retirement System of the State

of Illinois. The newly created venture acquired five enclosed regional malls: The

Galleria at Tylér in Riverside, California; Kenwood Towne Centre in Cincinnati, Ohio;

Silver City Galleria in Taunton [Boston], Massachusetts; Clackamas Town Center

in Portland, Oregon; and Florence Mall in Florence, Kentucky. GGP is very excited

to work with this fine fund .so ably advised by Commonwealth Rbea[ty Advisors.

* %k

The $415 million joint venture acquisition of Glendale Galleria in Glendale

California, with the New York State Common Retirement Fund. Glendale Galleria

is a super regional mall that is one of the most dominant retail locations in

" the country. The property contains approximately 1.3 million square feet of

retafl space, and approximately 147,000 square feet of office space in a 12-story
ol

building. The center contains five major department ‘stores, Nordstrom, -

. Robinsons-May, Macy's, JCPenney and Mervyn's, and 240 in-line retail shops

that preduce average sales of $544.per square foot. In addition to being a great

mall, Glendale Galleria is also avgreat tourist destination: it is the most visited

destination in.the greater metropolitan area of Los Angeles, attracting ovér

3

26 million customers every year; almost twice the number of visitors to °

Disneyland and more than five times the tourist count at Universal Studios.

All of us at GGP offer our condolences to the Conahue family and all the fine

people of the Donahue Schriber Company on the passing of Dan Donahue. -

Dan was developer, manager and part owner of Glendale Galleria from its
inception until our purchase in December 2002. Unexpectedly, Dan passed
“away on December 31, 2002. He is missed by all of us who were so lucky ta

have known him in busmess and in life.

[1S @ U@R JOB 10

@Np ERSTEND OUR RETALERS
AND KELP THEH ACH! RIEVE THE R OBJECTIVES

- Historically we have finanvced a portton of our acqwsittons with short-term debt,
and this year was no exception. Exper\ience has shown us that when we acquirei
broperties, we genérallyAimprovcew the NOI during the first three yéars of ownership.
By waiting to utilize pern’;anent, long-term financing on the properties, we are able
to realize'the gréater value that we have created. A good example of this is Ala Moana
Center jn Honolulu, Hawaii: Co‘ns&‘sten_t‘with our aforementioned financial strat-
egy, we obtained maximum investment-grade ‘short term financing in the
amount.of $5b0 million when we acquired Ala Moana in July of 1999, By late -
20[?1, we had increased the in-place NOI by approximately $15 million. Becau§e .
we are planning a major remerchandising that should generate further sigrﬂﬁcant
improvement in net‘operating income, we obtained another short-term loan in

December of 2001 to retain the ability to refinance again when the remerchandismg

a : ) c
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is comptefe. The replacemént loan investment grade proceeds level increased from

$500 million to approximately $643 million, prt;ducing $143 million of gxcess pro-

ceeds at our lowest bossibtevborrow\‘ing 'raté: We then reinvested the $143 million

to grow our portfolio and expand or improve otAhér‘projectsthatwe already own‘Af ’ )

this point we have approximately $175 million of cumulative equity invested in _ -
Ala Moana, énd it is currently generating aleveraged return of greater than 30%
per year. Increasing cash flow and continuously réfinancirfg our nonrecourse
loans enable us to grow profitably and consistently without constantly tapping
the equity-capital market. Furthermore, by limiting our individuat property loans
to-conservative levels as determined by outside rating agencies setting investment
grade loan amounts, we maintain our profile of moderate leverage. In the past three
y'ears, we have converted approxlmately $2.7 billion of short-term debt into approx-
imately-$3.3 billion of long-term fixed-rate debt éenerating over $626 million of
éxcess cash proceeds for our partners and ourselves: This method of financing our
business has 'dramatically r‘educed our weighted average cost of debt capital and ‘

has been a major driver of our-mdustry leading compound growth in per share FFO.

It is not a coincidence thaf ‘m‘any sellers of properties in 200’é sought out GGP for
our financial and management stability. GGP's 48 y\e’"ars of being an honorable and
ethical company were rewarded. Property owners and investors alike are attracted
to us because theyéppreciate how important these values are to us. Only good sense
and good fundameptals, not smoke and mirrors, can sustain profitability. We

are proud of our past, but we are Building To Last for you, our Owners.

People c,njten categorize the real estate business as being one of landlords and ten-
ants, but we view our business as bging more of a partnership with.our retailers. Our
business is to create r{etail marketplaces that enable our retailers to achieve their - -
goals and objectives. By doing this we are able to sustain'o/ur position as the leading -
developer, manager and operator o}-reglonatmaLlsrthroughout the-United States. .
One fundamental that we stress to all ourémptoyees is that itis our job to understand

“aur retaigers and help them achieve their objectives If we can understand their needs,

“and they can understand ours, both of us can be successful. In 2002, GGP signed over’
2.8 million square feet of space at rents averaging $36 per square foot. This is an
increase of 20.4% for new rents achieved obtained versus 2002 expiring rents.

' Working wit% reta‘lte‘rs requires a nurturing partnership. We recognize that most retail.

concepts are not BuilkTo Last forever and that is why we work with all our retail part-

ners on a regular basis to make sure we, and they, are Building To Last.

lw ave been developing, traimn nd better identifying thestrengths inour
people in order to build and improve our Company. The programs, efforts and-invest-
ments that are being méde in our employees today will serve this Compa‘ny, and
that means you, well into the future. Three years ago in our shareholder letter we
told you we had created a GGP University within the walls of GGP. Du'fing these three

years we have had over 80% of our employees go through various types of training in

a
2002 General Growth Properties, Inc. G i 13 ’




clockwise from top left: John Bucksbaum, Jean Schiemmer,
Matthew Bucksbaum, Bernard Freibaum, and Robert Michaels
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" our university. The past year saw over 120 employees go through our most advanced
leadership courses. A great benefit to GGP relative to our leadership training is
-that our retention rate for these employees is over 9t)%, and 38% of these people
‘have been promote-d since 2000. Encouraging employee adt/ancement'and pro-

moting from within is how we Build To Last.

Rec\og'nizm‘g an.emptoyee's strength is critical to building a long and lasting suc-
cessful relationship betwéen the Company and the employee. In the last two years,
we have been positioning and devetopiho our peop-te‘so that we can take their
natural tateots and turn them into bona fide strengths. What is often shocking and

misunderstood by a company is that it is not uncommon to be startlingly inefficient

at capitalizing on the strengths-of its people. According to-The Gallup Organization

ont-yIZO% of the people in most organizations feel that their strengths are in play
every day. And in fact many Ameﬂrica‘ns do not know what their strengths.are. We

are selecting the.right talent to tead this organization forward in every area, and

we are building that into strength. We are treating people according to their.individ- -

uality, because we recognize that each person’s talents are enduring and unique.
+ This past year we worked with The Gallup Organization to push forward and meas-
ure aspects of employee engagement that we then linked to business oroddctivtty.
employee retention-and profitability. We are revolutionizing our organization and
" building around the strengths of each individual and buitding around the strehg’th's
this organization has created over the past 48 years The people within GGP. uoder—
stand what we need todoto become better, more adaptable and how to mcrease

personal excellence. This is a company that is buil ding its emptoyees to last.

B FO-L-AS WHAT WE-ARE A The founders of our company
gave us a great platform trom which to buil d on and to make a profrt and that
is what we are doing. It takes many years of hard work to make a company great

and we keep workmg at it. Our business has never been one that has easy or quick

fixes. Qur success has come from being diligent, being smart and from being scared

of failure. The b{ggesten‘em'y of being.great is being good. When we are good
at something we_ tend to become complacent and accept the results of being
_ good — given that they are probably bettér than most other companies to which
we ocompare ourselves. The vast majority of us never become great because
- we are already good —.our challenge at GGP is to become great. We were Built

To Last when this company was founded; now we are Building ToBe Great.

MWM, /%BW %M%a

Matthew Bucksbaum - John Bucksbaum
Founder and Chairman of the Board ‘ i Chief Executive Officer

Wﬁ:@,——

Bernard Freibaum Jean Schlemmer

Robert Michaels
President and Chief Operating Officer

Exécutive Vice President and Chief Financiat Officer Executive Vice President, Asset Management
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CWNED AND MANAGED PROPERTIES ias o marcr 17 2003)

Century Plaza -
Birmingham

Total Square Feet: 743,594
Opened/Expanded: 1975/1990, 1994
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: JCPenney, McRae's,

Rich’'s, Sears ™ .

Arrowhead Towne Center
Glendale
Total Square Feet: 1:131,276
Opened/Expanded: 1993
Ownership Interest: 17%
Anchors: Dillard's, JCPenney, Mervyn's,
Robinsons-May, Sears

e

\

Fiesta Mall ¢

Mesa [Phoenix)
Total-Square Feet: 1,037,188
Opened/Expanded: 1978/1987, 1990, 1999
Anchors: Dillard’s, Maty's, Robinsons-
May, Sears

-Mall at Sierra VYista
Sierra Vista

- Total Square Feet: 338,875
Opened/Expanded: 1999 -
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchaors: Dillard’s, Sears

Park Place

Tucson

Total Square Feet: 1,037,013
‘Opened/Expanded: 1974/1998, 2001
" Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Dillard's, Macy’s, Sears

Superstition Springs

East Mesa [Phoenix

Total Square Feet: 1,084,607
Opened/Expanded: 1990/19%94
Ownership Intefest: 17%

Anchors: Dillard’s, JCPenney, Mervyn's,
Robinsons-May, Sears

Tucson Matl - -
Tucson

Total Square Feet: 1,304,899
Opened/Expanded: 1982/1991, 1993
Ownership Interest: 100% -
Anchors: Dillard's, JCPenney, Macy's,
Mervyn's, Robinsons-May, Sears

Park Plaza ¢
- Little Rock .

_Total Square Feet: 548,121
Opened/Expanded: 1960/1988 = .
Anchors: Dillard’s

© Managed-only: no owneShip inlerest

The Pines

Pine Bluff

Total Square Feet: 604,989
Opened/Expanded: 1986/1990
~Qwnership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Dillard’s, JCPenney
Sears, Wal-Mart

Baldwin Hills Crenshaw Plaza °
Los Angeles .

Total Square Feet: 820,307
Opened/Expanded: 1 1947/1988, 1992
Anchors: Robinsons:=May, Sears,

T.J. Maxx, Wal-Mart

-’Bayshore Mall

Eureka

Total Square Feet: 615318 - ’ .

Opened/Expanded: 1987/1989
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Gottschalks, Mervyn's, Sears

Chula Vista Center

Chula Vista (San Diego)

Total Square Feet: 885,739 |
Opened/Expanded: 1962/1988, 1993, 1994
Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: JCPenney, Macy's,

Merwyn's, Sears

Eastridge Mall

San Jose

Total Square Feet: 1,358,744
Opened/Expanded: 1970/1982, 1988, 1995
Ownership Interest: 51%

Anchors: JCPenney, Macy's, Sears

Fallbrook Mall

West Hills (Los Angeles}

Total Square Feet: 1,010,427
Opened/Expanded: 1966/1985, 2002, 2003
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: Home Depot, Kohl's,

Mervyn's, Target '

Galleria at Tyler

Riverside

Total Square Feet: 1,055,184
Opened/Expanded: 1970/1991, 1996
Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: JCPenney, Macy's, Nordstrom,

Robinsons-May

Glendale Galleria

Glendale

Total Square Feet: 1,322,040
Opened/Expanded: 1976/1983, 1987
Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: JCPenney, Macy's, Merwn’s,
Nordstrom, Robinsons-May :

Hanford Mall o

Hanford

Total Square Feet: 482, 794
Opened/Expanded: 1993/199
Anchors: Gottschalks, JCPenney,
Mervyn’s, Sears

Media City Center ¢

Burbank [Los Angeles)

Total Square Feet: 1,248,015
Opened/Expanded: 1991/1992
Anchors: Macy's, Mervyn's, Sears,
Sport Chalet .

Montclair Plaza

Montclair (San Bernadino)

Total Square Feet: 1,372,095
Opened/Expanded: 1968/1985
Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: JCPenney, Macy's, Nordstrom,
Robinsons-May, Sears

Moreno Valley Mall

Moreno Valley (Riverside]

Total Square Feet: 1,035,273
Opened/Expanded: 1992
Ownership Interest: 50%
Anchors’ Gottschalks, JCPenney,

-Robinsons-May, Sears

NewPark Mall

Newark (San Francisco]

Total Square Feet: 1,137,559
Opened/Expanded: 1980/1993
Ownership Interest: 50% .

Anchors: JCPenney, Macys Mervyn s,
Sears, Target -

MNorthridge Fashion Center
Northridge [Los Angeles)

Total Square Feet: 1,516,383
Opened/Expanded: 1971/1995 1997
Ownership Interest: 100% .~
Anchors: JCPenney, Macy's,
Robinsons-May, Sears

Southland Mall
Hayward

. Jotal Square Feet: 1,312,159

Operied/Expanded: 1%4/1%8 1972, 1984
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: JCPenney, Macy's,

Mervyn's, Sears

Valley Plaza Shopping Center
Bakersfield

Total Square Feet: 1,162,335 .
Opened/Expanded: 1967/1988, 1997, 1998
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: Gottschalks, JCPenney,
Macy’s, Robinsons-May, Sears

Visalia Mail

Visalia

Total Square Feet: 439,833
Opened/Expanded: 1964/1997
Ownership Interest: 100% -
Anchors: Gottschalks, JCPenney

2002 General Growth Properties, Inc. ﬁﬂ?D




(CALIFORNIA CONTINUED)

West Valley Mall

Tracy {San Francisco)

~ Total Square Feet: 851,361
Opened/Expanded: 1995/1997
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: Gottschalks, JCPenney, Ross
‘Dress for Less, Sears, Target

Chapel Hills Mall

Colorado Springs

Total Square Feet: 1,174,070 .
Opened/Expanded: 982/ 986, 1997, 1998
* Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: Dillard's, Foley's, JCPenney,
Kmart, Mervyn's, Sears

Southwest Plaza

Littleton {Denver)

Total Square Feet: 1,285,095
Opened/Expanded: 1983/1994, 195, 2001
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: Dillard's, Foley's, JCPenney, Sears

'!@(@~ .E@*’l’l'@‘.l'] °
Brass Mill Center and Commons
Waterbury

Total Square Feet: 1,181,596
Opened/Expanded: 1997 '
Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: Filene's, JCPenney, Sears

N

Pavilions at Buckland Hiﬂs

-Manchester ;
. Total Square Feet: 1 009 489

Opened/Expanded: 1990/1994
Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: Dick’s Sporting Goods,
Filene's, JCPenney, Lord & Taylor, Sears

Altamonte Mall

Altamonte Springs {Orlando}

Total Square Feet: 1,088,479
Opened/Expanded: 1974/1990, 2002, 2003
Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: Burdines, Dillard’s,

JCPenney, Sears

Coastland Center
Naples
Total Square Feet: 924,139 .

- Opened/Expanded: 1977/1985, 1996

Ownership interest: 100%
Anchors: Burdines, Diltard’s,
JCPenney, Sears

Eagle Ridge Mall

Lake Wales [Orlando)

Total Square Feet: 625,125
Opened/Expanded: 1996/2000
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Dillard’s, JCPenney, Sears

’

- 1. The Parks at Arlington, Arlington (Dallas), TX; 2. Columbiana Centre, Columbia, SC: 3. Sooner Mall, Norman, OK; 4. Mayfair, Wauwatosa (Milwaukee), Wl

Lakeland Square Mall
Lakeland (Grlando}

Total Square Feet: 901,214 :
Opened/Expanded: 1988/1990, 1994
Ownership Interest: 50% ’
Anchors: Belk, Burdines, Ditlard’s,
Diltard's Men’s and Home Store
JCPenney, Sears

The Oaks Mall
Gainesville

Total Square Feet: 906,009
Opened/Expanded: 1978/1995
Qwnership Interest: 51%’
Anchors: Belk, Burdines, Dillard's,

JCPenney, Sears

Pembroke Lakes Mall
Pembroke Pines [Fort Lauderdale)
Total Square Feet: 1,106,467

* Opened/Expanded: 1992/1997

Ownership Interest: 50%
Anchors: Burdines, Dillard’s, Dillard's
Men's and Home Store, JCPenney, Sears

Regency Square Matl

Jacksonville . ‘

, Total Square Feet: 1 455,865 - .
-*Opened/Expanded: 1 1948/1992, 1998, 2001
Ownership Interest: 100%

) Anchors Betk, Dillard’s, JCPenney Sears

West Oaks Mall

Ocoee (Orlando)

Total Square Feet: 1,071,973
Opened/Expanded: 1996/1998
Ownership interest: 50%
Anchors: Dillard’s, JCPenney,
Parisian, Sears ’

O Managed-caly; no ownership interest




WestShore Plaza ©

Tampa

Total Square Feet 1,036,980
Opened/Expanded: 1967/1974, 1983,
1997, 2000 ’ :
Anchors: Burdines, JCPenney,

Saks Fifth Avenue, Sears

Cumberland Mall

Atlanta -

Total Square Feet: 1,171,495
Opened/Expanded: 1973/1989
Ownership Interest: 100% ) :
Anchors: JCPenney, Macys <
Rich’s, Sears

North Dekalb Mall »

Decatur Atlanta)

Total Square Feet: 633,105
Opened/Expanded: 1965/1986
Anchors: Burlington Coat Factory
Rich's, Stein Mart

North Point Mall
Alpharetta [Atlanta)- .
Total Sguare Feet: 1,365,903
Opened/Expanded: 1993

Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: Dillard’s, JCPenney,

Lord & Taylor, Parisian, Rich's, Sears

Oglethorpe Mall ;

Savannah

Total Square Feet: 951,059
Opened/Expanded: 1969/1974, 1982,
1990, 1992, 2002 .

.Ownershlp Interest: 51%

Anchors: Belk, JEPenney, Rich's/Sears

Shannon Matll o

Union City (Atlanta}

Total Square Feet: 797,700 .
Opened/Expanded: 1980/1986, 1999
Anchors: Rich's, Sears

Southlake Mall - -
Morrow (Atlanta) - .
Total Square Feet: 1,017 347
Opened/Expanded: 1976/1995, 1999
Ownership Interest: 100% "

Anchors: JCPenney, Macy's,

Rich's, Sears

© Managed-only: no ownership interest

1. Galleria at Tyler, Riverside, CA; 2. Oglethorpe Mali, Savannah, GA

Ala Moana Center
Honolulu

Total Square Feet: 1,847, 908
Opened/Expanded: 1959/1966,
1987, 1989, 1999

Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: JCPenney, Macy's,
Neiman Marcus, Sears

- Prince Kuhio Plaza

Hilo

Total Square Feet: 504,427
Opened/Expanded: 1985/1994, 1999
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: JCPenney, Macy's, Sears

Victoria Ward
Honoluly

Total Square Feet: 695,473 -~

Opened/Expanded: 1972/1982, 1988,
1995, 1997, 1999, 2001

Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: Borders Books, Consolidated
Armusement Theatres, Dave & Busters,
Nordstrom Rack. Office Depot, Ross -~
Dress for Less, Sports Authority

Boise Towne Square
Boise
Total Square Feet: 1,177,944

~ Opened/Expanded: 1988

Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: The Bon Marché, Dillard" s,
JCPenney, Mervyns Sears

Grand Teton Mall

ldaho Falls

Total Square Feet: 541,746
Opened/Expanded: 1984

Ownership Interest: 100% - ’
Anchors: The Bon Marché, Dillard's,
JCPenney, Sears’

Pine Ridge Mall
Pocatelo
Total Square Feet: 610,305

"Opened/Expanded: 1981

Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: The Bon Marché, Dillard’s,
JCPenney, Sears, Shopko

Silver Lake Mall

Coeur d'Alene

Total Square Feet: 333,755
Opened/Expanded: 1989/1995
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: The Bon Ton, The Emporium,
JCPenney, Sears

I

Ford City Mall »

Chicago

Total Square Feet: 1,448,018
Opened/Expanded: 1965/1989
Anchors: Carson Pirie Scott, JCPenney

Golf Mill Shopping.Center ©
Niles (Chicago)

Total Square Feet: 983,732
Opened/Expanded: 1958/1986, 1998

" Anchors: JCPenney, Kohls, Sears, Target

Market Place Shopping Center
Champaign

Total Square Feet; 1,105,843
Opened/Expanded 1976/1984 1(87,
1990, 1994, 1999 .

Ownership Interest: 100% :
Anchors: Bergners, Famous Barr, Sears

Northbrook Court

Northbrook (Chicago)

Total Square Feet: 1,017, 066
Opened/Expanded: 1976/1995, 1996
OwnershipInterest: 50%

Anchors: Lord & Taylor, Marshall
Field's, Neiman Marcus

Sandburg Mall ¢
Galesburg” -
Total Square Feet: 529,462
Opened/Expanded: 1975
Anchors: Bergners, JCPenney,
Kmart, Sears

Spring Hill Mall

West Dundee {Chicago)

Total Square Feet: 1,108,992
Opened/Expanded: 1980/1992, 1997
Ownership Interest: 100% . .
Anchors: Carson Pirie Scott,

. JCPenney, Kohl's, Marshall Field's,,

Sears, Wickes Fu rniture

Stratford Square Mall «
Bloomingdale (Chicage! .

Total Square Feet: 1,314,487
Opened/Expanded: 1981/1985, 1991
Anchors: Burlington Coat Factory,
Carson Pirie Scott, JCPenney, Kohl's,
Marshalt Field's, Sears

4
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Marquette Mall o
Michigan City

Total Square Feet: 505,684
Opened/Expanded: 1967/1969
Anchors: Carson Pirie Scott,
JCPenney, Sears

River Falls Mall
Clarksville

Total Square Feet: 754,974
Opened/Expanded: 1990
Ownership tnterest: 100%

Anchars: Dillard’s, Toys 'R" Us, Wal-Mart

Corat Ridge Mall

Coralville (lowa Cityl

Total Square Feet: 1,046,629

Cpened/Expanded: 1998

Ownership Interest: 160%

Anchors Diltard’s, JCPenney, Scheel's
All Sports, Sears, Target, Ydunkers

Matl of the Bluffs

Council Bluffs [Omaha, NE}

Total Square Feet: 678,397
Openéd/Exparided: 1986/1988, 1998
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Dillard's, JCPenney,

. Sears, Target

Florence Mall

Florence [Cincinnati, OHJ
Tptat Square Feet: 924,341 |
Opened/Expanded: 1976/1994
Ownership Interest: 50%
Anchors: JCPenney, Lazarus,
Lazarus Home Store, Sears

Greenwood Mall
Bowling Green
Total Square Feet: 829, 239

Opened/Expanded: 1979/1987, 1996, 2002

Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Dillard’'s, Famous Barr,
JCPenney, Sears .

Alexandria Mall ¢

Alexandria

Total Square Feet: 882,449
Opened/Expanded: 1973/ 1986, 1992

Anchors: Dillard's, JCPenney, Merwyn's,

Sears, Stein Mart

Mall St. Vincent
Shreveport .

Total Square Feet: 545, 687
Opened/Expanded: 1976/1991
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Dillard’s, Sears

Pecanland Mall
Monroe
Total Square Feet 946,995

_Opened/Expanded: 1985

Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Ditlard's, JCPenney,
McRae's, Merwn's, Sears |

Pierre Bossier Mall -
Bassier City [Shreveport)

Total Square Feet: 612,580
Opened/Expanded: 1982/1985, 1993
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Dillard’s, JCPenney,
Sears, Stage

Riverlands Shopping Center
LaPlace (New Orleans)

Total Square Feet: 187,718
Opened/Expanded: 1965/1984, 1990
Ownershipinterest: 100% ‘

ERAINE
Auburn Mall ¢

Auburn i
Total Square Feét: 297,928
Opened/Expanded: 1979/1992
Anchors: JCPenney

Hanover Matll «

Hanover

Total Square Feet: 676,971"
Opened/Expanded: 1971/1998, 1994
Anchors: Filene's, JCPenney, Sears

1. Clackamas Town Center, Portiand, OR; 2. First Colony Mall, Sugar Land (Houstbn), ™

Natick Mall
Natick (Boston]

-~ Total Square Feet: 1,155,711

Opened/Expanded: 1966/1994
Ownership Interest: 50%
Anchors: Filene's, Lord & Taylor,
Macy's, Sears

Silver City Galleria

Taunton {Boston]

Total Square Feet: 1,015,314
Opened/Expanded: 1992/1999
Ownership Interest: 80% .
Anchors: Fitene's, JCPenney, Sears

Adrian Mall ¢

Adrian

Total Square Feet; 391 340
Opened/Expamded 1949/1986
Anchors: Elder-Beerman;
JCPenney, Sears

Bay City Mail

Bay City

Total Square Feet: 525 019

~ Opened/Expanded: 1991/1994, 1997 *

Ownership Interest: 50%
Anchors: JCPenney, Sears,
Target, Younkers

Birchwood Mall
Port Huron (Detroit)
Total Square Feet: 780,541

" Opened/Expanded: 1990/1991, 1997

Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors:JCPenney, Marshall
Field's, Sears, Target, Younkers

The Crassroads

Portage {Kalamazoo)

Total Square Feet: 766,629
Opened/Expanded: 1980/1992
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: JCPenney, Marshall ™
Field's, Merwyn's, Sears

Grand Traverse Mall
Traverse City

Total Square Feet: 577,632
Opened/Expanded: 1992
Ownership_Interest: 100%
Anchors: JCPenney, Marshall
Field's, Target

¢ Managed-cnly; no ownership interest
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Lakeview Sguare Mall

Battle Creek

Total Square Feet: 607,095
Opened/Expanded: 1983/1998, 200/
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: JCPenney, Marshall
Field's, Sears

Lansing Mall .

Lansing

Total Square Feet: 838,502
Opened/Expanded: 1969/2001
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: JCPenney, Marshall
Field's, Mervyn's, Younkers

RiverTown Crossings
Grandville [Grand Rapids)

Total Square Feet: 1,256,814,
Opéned/Expanded: 1999 -
Ownership Interest: 100% ‘
Anchors: Galyans, JCPenney, Kohl's,
Marshall Field's, Sears, Younkers

Westwood Mall

Jackson

Total Square Feet: 454,984
Opened/Expanded: 1972/1978, 1993
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: Elder-Beerman, JCPenney

Apache Mall

Rochester

Total-Square Feet: 747,195
Opened/Expanded: 1969/1985, 1992, 2002
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: Herberger's, JCPenney
Marshall Field's, Sears .

© Managed-only; no ownership interest
N

1. Boise Towne Square, Boise, ID; 2. Valley Plaza Shopping Center, Bakersfield, CA; 3. Mall at Sierra Vista, Sierra Vista, AZ;

Crossroads Center

St. Cloud

Total Square Feet: 784,707
Opened/Expanded: 1966/7995 °
Ownership Interdst: 100%
Anchors: JCPenney, Marshall Field's,
Sears, Target

Eden Prairie Center

Eden Prairie (Minneapolis)

Total Square Feet: 1,127,058
Opened/Expanded 1976/1989, 1994
2001

Ownership Interest: 100% ~
Anchors: Kohl's, Mervyn's, Sears,
Target, Von Maur

Knollwood Mall

St. Louis Park (Minneapolis)

Total Square Feet: 403,802
Opened/Expanded: 1955/1981, 1999
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: Cub Foods, Kohl's -

River Hills Mall

Mankato :

Total Square Feet: 646,113
Opened/Expanded: 1991/1996
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Herberger's, JCPenney,
Sears, Target

4

~Capital Mall

Jefferson City

Total Square Feet: 530,964
Opened/Expanded: 1978/1985, 1992
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: Dillard's, JCPenney, Sears

Columbia Mall

Columbia

Total Square Feet: 744,676
Cpened/Expanded: 1985/1986
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchaors: Dillard's, JCPenney
Sears, Target

Northpark Mall o

Joplin .

Total Square Feet: 986,694
Opened/Expanded: 1972/1987, 1996, 1998
Anchors: Farhous Barr, Famous Barr
Home Store, JCPenney, Sears

Oak View Mall

* Omaha

Total Square Feet: 866,595
Opened/Expanded: 1991
Ownership Interest: 51%
Anchors: Dillard’s, JCPenney,
Sears, Younkers

Westroads Matl

Omaha ¢

’ TotalSquare Feet: 1,119,719

Opened/Expanded: 1968/1990, 1995, 1999
Ownership Interest: 51%

Anchors: Galyans, JCPenney,

The Jones Store, Von Maur, Younkers

.

\
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The:Boulevard MaM

Las Vegas

Total Square Feet: 1,186,185
Opened/Expanded: 1968/1992
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchers: Dillard’'s, JCPenney,
Macy's, Sears

Meadows Mall

Las Vegas

Total Square Feet: 947,370
Opened/Expanded: 1978/1987, 1997
Ownership Interest: 51%°

Anchors: Dillard's, JCPenney,
Macy's, Sears

Steeplegate Mall

Concord -

Total Square Feet: 488,450
Opened/Expanded:.1990

Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: The Bon Ton, JCPenney, Sears

Animas Vauey Mall
Farmington -
Total Square Feet: 515,752 .
Opened/Expanded: 1982/2001
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Dillard’s, JCPenney,
Kaye Home Furnishings,
. Ross Dress for Less, Sears

HZZD Generat Growth Properties, Inc. 2002
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Mesilla Valley Mall ¢
Las Cruces

Total Square Feet: 588,296
Opened/Expanded: 1981/1990
Anchors: Dillard’s, Diltard's Men’s
and Home Store, JCPenney, Sears

North Plains Mall |

Clovis

Total Square Feet: 298,993
Opened/Expanded: 1985/1988 |
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Beall's, Dillard's,
JCPenney, Sears .

Rio West Mall

Gatlup

Total Square Feet: 445,076
Opened/Expanded: 1981/1991, 1998
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Beall's, JCPenney, Kmart

Villa Linda ©

Santa Fe

Total Square Feet: 570, 387
Opened/Expanded: 1986/1987 |
Anchors: Dillard’s, JCPenney,
Mervyn’'s, Sears

Lockporfc Mall

Lockport

Total Square Feet: 336,075
Opened/Expanded: 1975/1984
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchdrs: The Bon Ton, Rosa’s
Home Store

" JCPenney, Sears

- Opened/Expanded: 1986/2000

Carolina Place

Pineville [Charlotte)

Total Sguare Feet: 1,099,981
Opened/Expanded: 991/1994
Ownership Interest: 50%
Anchors: Belk, Ditlard’s, Hechts

Golden East Cmssmgo
Rocky Mount
Total Square Feet: 584,176

Anchors: Belk, JCPenney, Proffitt’s, Sears

Valley Hills NaM -

Hickary

Total Square Feet: 904,542
Opened/Expanded: 1978/1988, 1990, 1996
Ownership Interest: 100% .
Anchors: Belk, Dillard's, JCPenney, Sears

Colony Square Mall

Zanesville

Total Square Feet: 552,166
Opened/Expanded: 1981/1985, 1987
Ownership interest: 100% .
Anchors: Elder-Beerman, JCPenney, Sears

Kenwood Towne Centre
Cincinnati

Total Square Feet: 1,082,681
Opened/Expanded: 1959/1988
Qwnership Interest: 50% .
Anchors: Dillard's, Lazarus, Parisian

© Managed-only: no ownership interest



Quail Sprlngs Mall

Dklahoma City

Total Square Feet: 1,130, 633
Opened/Expanded- 980/1992 1998, 1999
Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: Dillard's, Foley's,

JCPenney, Sears

, Shawnee Mall «

Shawnee [Oklahoma City)~
Total Square Feet: 443,939
Opened/Expanded: 1989 -
Anchors: Dillard's, JCPenney, -
Sears, Wal-Mart

Sooner Mall

Norman

Total Square Feet: 508,585
Opened/Expanded: 1976/1989, 1999
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: Dillard's, JCPenney, Old Navy
Sears, Stein Mart

Tulsa Promenade © -
Tulsa

Total Square Feet: 928,592 .
Opened/Expanded: 1980/1986, 1994
Anchors: Dillard’s, Foteys
JCPenney, Merwyn's

Washington Park Mall
Bartlesville :

Total Square Feet: 351,457
Opened/Expanded: 1984/1984
Ownership Interest: 50% :
Anchors: Dillard’s, JCPenney, Sears

Clackamas Town Center

Portland

Total Square Feet: 1,184,448
Opened/Expanded: 1981/1993, 1994
Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: JCPenney, Meier & Frank, Meier
& Frank Home Store, Nordstrom, Sears

Gateway Mall

Springfield :

Totat Square Feet: 724,885
Opened/Expanded: 1990/1999
Ownership Interest: 100% .
Anchors: The Emporium, Sears, Target

Salem Center

Salem

Totat Square Feet: 648,556
Opened/Expanded: 1979/1987, 1995
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: JCPenney, Meier & Frank,
Mervyn's, Nordstrom

© Managed-only; no ownership interest

1. Stonebriar Centre, Frisco (Dallas), TX; 2. Pembroke Lakes Mall, Pembroke Pines (Fort Lauderdale), FL

Valley River Center ¢

Eugene

Total Square Feet 1,123,223
Opened/Expanded: 1969/7986,1990

Anchors: The Bon Marché, Copeland's , -

Sports, The Emporium, JCPenney,
Meier & Frank .

Cranberry Mall ¢ .

Cranberry

Total Sguare Feet: 404,781
Opened/Expanded: 1981/199{4 1996 -
Anchors: The Bon Ton, JCPenney, Sears

Neshaminy Mall

Bensalem

Total Square Feet: 1,043,011
Opened/Expanded: 1968/1995, 1998
Ownership Interest: 25%

Anchors: Bascov, Sears, Strawbridge
and Clothiers

Park City Center

Lancaster {Philadelphia)

Total Square Feet: 1,368,029
Opened/Expanded: 1970/1988, 1997
Ownership Interest: 51% !
Anchors: The Bon Ton, Boscov,

JCPenney, Kohl's, Sears

Garden City Center

Cranston o

Total Square Feet: 475,953
Opened/Expanded: 1947/1988
Anchors: Borders Books, Circuit City,
Linens 'n Things: OfficeMax

Columbiana Centre

Columbia

Total Square Feet: 831 515
Opened/Expanded: 1990/1993
Ownership Interest: 50% .
Anchors: Belk, Dillard's, Parisian, Sears

"Inlet Square Mall ©

Murretls Intet [Myrtle Beach)
Total Square Feet: 433,362
Opened/Expanded: 1990/1998
Anchors: Betk, JCPenney, Kmart

1

Northgate Mall

Chattancoga :

Total Square Fest; 824,430 .
Opened/Expanded: 1972/1991, 1997
Ownership Interest: 51%

Anchors: JCPenney, Proffitt's, Sears

Stones River Mall ¢
Murfreesboro [Nashville)

Total Square Feet: 412,225
Opened/Expanded: 1992/1994, 1997
Anchors: Dillard's, Goody's,
JCPenney, Sears

Baybrook Mall

Friendswood (Houston] )

Total Square Feet: 1,082,679 :
Opened/Expanded: 1978/1984, 1985, 1995
Cwanership Intergst: 100%

Anchors: Dillard’s, Dillard’'s Men's and
Home Store, Foley's, Mervyn's, Sears

Brazos Mall» -

Lake Jackson {Houston)

Total Square Feet: 686,708
Opened/Expanded: 1976

Anchors: Dillard's, Dillard’s Men's,
JCPenney, Sears

Dallas Galleria

Dallas_

Total Square Feet: 854,519
Opened/Expanded: 1982/1985, 1990,
1996, 1999

Anchors: Gap, Macy's, Nordstrom
Saks Fifth Avenue

Deerbrook Mall

Humble {Houston)}

Total Square Feet: 1,200,052
Opened/Expanded: 1984/1996, 1997

. Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: Dillard's, Foley's” JCPenney,
Mervyn's, Sears

First Colony Mall

Sugar Land {Houston)

Total Square Feet: 1,005,393
Opened/Expanded: 1996
Ownership Interest: 50% °
Anchors: Dillard's, Foley's,
JCPenney, Merwn's

- Killeen Mall »

Killeen

Total Square Feet: 577,726
Opened/Expanded: 1981/1987
Anchors: Beall's, Dillard's,
JCPenney, Sears




e m—nr

1, Pecanland Mall, Monfoe, LA; 2. North Point Mall, Alpharetta (Atlanta), GA; 3. RiverTown Crossings, Grandville (Grand Rapids), MI; 4. Morthridge Fashion Center, Northridge (Los Angeles), CA

-

Norih Temaole
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Orem Plaza

State Sirest

Orem

Provo
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Lufkin Mall <

Lufkin . p

” Total Square Feet: 345 855
Opened/Expanded: 1980/2001
Anchors: Bealls, Circuit City,
JCPenney, Sears

Mall de las Aguilas <

Eagle Pass .

Total Square Feet: 434, 853
Opened/Expanded: 1982
Anchors: Beall's, Beall's for Men
& Kids, JCPen\ney

Mall del Norte o
Laredo :
Total Square Feet: 1,209,002
Opened/Expanded: 1977/1990, 1993
Anchors: Beall's, Dillard's, Foley's,
Foley's Home Store, JCPenney,

. Joe Brand, Merwyn's, Sears

McCreless Mall

San Antonio

Total Square Feet: A77 b46
Opened/Expanded: 1962/1985, 1997
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Bealt's

Memariat City Viall o

Houston

Total Square Feet: 1,314,799 )
Opened/Expanded: 1946/1 989 1995,
2001-2003

Anchors: Foley's, Lord & Taylor
Mervyn's, Sears

The Parks-at Arlington  °
Arlington {Dallas] . '

Total Square Feet: 1,520,316
Opened/Expanded; 1988/1996, 2002 ~
Ownership Interest: 50% 3

* Anchors: Dillard's, Foley's, Galyans,
The Great Indoors, JCPenney,
Mervyn's, Sears

Stonebriar Centre

Frisco (Dallas)

Total Square Feet: 1,652,840
Opened/Expanded: 2000

Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: Foley's, Galyahs, JCPenney,
Macy's, Nordstrom, Sears

Town East Mall

Mesquite {Dallas})

Total Square Feet: 1,249 506
Opened/Expanded: 1971/1986, 1994,
1998, 2000 o ]
Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: Dillard's, Foley's,
JCPenney, Sears

Vista Ridge.Mall
Lewisville (Dallas}

Total Square Feet: 1,054,865
Qpened/Expanded: 1989/1991
Ownérship Interest: 50%
Anchors: Dillard's, Foley's,
JCPenney, Sears

Willowbrook Mall
Houston®

Total Square Feet: 1,510,909
Opened/Expanded: 1981/1992
Ownership Interest: 50% :

~ Anchors: Dillard's, Foley's, Foley's Home'

Store, JCPenney, Lord & Taylor, Sears

The Woodtands Mall

The Woodlands (Houston] -

Total Square Feet: 1,177,713 *
Opened/Expanded: 1994/1998
Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: Dillard’s, Foleys JCPenney
Mervyn's, Sears

Cache Valley Mall

Logan

Total Square Feet: 305 9465
Opened/Expanded: 1976
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Dillard's, Dillard’s Men’s
and Home Store, JCPenney,

Cottonwood Mall:

Salt Lake City

" Total Square Feet: 737,716

Opened/Expanded: 1962/1984 .
Ownership Interest: 100% -
Anchors: JCPenney, Meier & Frank

Newgate Mall

Ogden (Salt Lake Cityl
Total Square Feet: 686,060

.Opened/Expanded: 1981/1994, 1998

Ownership Interest: 50%
Anchors: Dillard's, Gart Bros.,
Mervyn's, Sears

Provo Towne Centre
Provo

Total Square. Feet: 801,597
Opened/Expanded: 1998

-Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: Dillard's, JCPenney, Sears
Red Cliffs Mall

' St. George

Total-Square Feet: 385, 476 '
Opened/Expanded: 1990
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: Dillard's, JCPenney, Sears

EIRGINAS

Landmark Mall

Alexandria (Washington D.C.)

Total Square Feet: 969,989
Opened/Expanded: 1965/1989, 1990
Ownership Interest: 51% |

Anchors: Hecht's, Lord & Taylor, Sears

Piedmont Mall

Danville .

Total Square Feet: 662,248
Opened/Expanded: 1984/1995
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Betk, Belk Men’'s,
JCPenney, Sears

" Tysons Galleria

Mclean (Washington D.C.]

Total Square Feet: 814,456
Opened/Expanded: 1988/1994, 1997
Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: Macy's, Neirrran Marcus,
Saks Fifth Avenue .

- Alderwood Mall

Lynnwood {Seattle}

Total Square Feet: 980,934
Opened/Expanded: 1979/1995
Ownership Interest: 50%

Anchors: The Bon Marché, JCPenney,
Nordstrom, Sears

" Bellis Fair

Bellingham {Seattle)’

Total Square Feet: 772,395
Opened/Expanded: 1988

Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: The Bon Marché, JCPenney,
Merwn's, Sears, Target

North Town Mall @
Spokane i

Total Square Feet: 1,056,391
Opened/Expanded: 1955/1961, 1977,
1984, 1989, 1992, 1999-2000 ‘
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: The Bon Marché, The Emporium
JCPenney, Mervyn's, Sears —

SauthShore Mall
Aberdeen .

Total Square Feet: 284,088
Opened/Expanded: 1981
Ownership Interest: 100%*
Anchors: JCPenney, Sears

Spokane Valley Mall
Spokane i
Total Square Feet: 739,140
Opened/Expanded: 1997
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: The Bon Marche

. JCPenney, Sears

Three Rivers Mall

Kelso )

Total Square Feet: 527,028 -
Opened/Expanded: 1987

Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: The Bon Marché,

The Emporium, JCPenney, Sears

Fox River Mall

Appleton

Total Square Feet: 1,221,520
Opened/Expanded: 1984/1985, 1991
1997, 2002, 2003

Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: JCPenney, Marshall
Field's, Scheel's All Sports, Sears,
Target, Younkers

Mayfair -

Wauwatosa (Milwaukee)

Total Square Feet: 1,060,273
Opened/Expanded: 1958/1973, 1986,
1994, 2001 -

Ownership Interest: 519

Anchors: The Boston Store,
Marshall Field's

Oakwood Mall

Eau Claire

Total Square Feet: 823,004
Opened/Expanded:, 1984/ 19971,
Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: JCPenney, Marshall Field" s,
Scheel's-All Sports, Sears, Younkers

1995, 1997

Eastridge Mall

Casper

Total Square Feet: 571,842
Opened/Expanded: 1982/1997
Ownership Interest: 100%

Anchors: The Bon Marché, JCPenney,
Sears, Target -

. White Mountain Mall

Rock Springs
Total Square Feet: 341, 274
Opened/Expanded: 1978

Ownership Interest: 100%
Anchors: Harley Davidson,
Herberger's, JCPenney

~

‘

© Managed-only; no ownership interest
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The following table sets forth selected financial data for the Company which is derived from, and should be read in conjunction
with, the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes and Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained in this Annual Report.

PERATING DATA

 Revenue - 6% 803709 | $ 698767 § 612342 & 426576
. Network Discontinuance Costs = “ 06) ‘ = =
§ De reciation and Amortization . .ﬂ”m 148,352 199,663 198,272 | 75,227
s operatlng expenses - 369,731 28,8463 | 226,284 206,083 ‘ 139,784
“Interest Experise, Net 218286 209,622 \\1 212,549 174,905 109,840
Income allocated to Minority Interest (e7pd)| o792 (52,360} (33,088) | (29,794)
“@m' 63566 50,643 19689 . 99,067
B =] 3 4412 196
. !‘ ' l
200601 | 109686 | 127948 194925 . 71,19
aordinary Ttems (94,022) = 192,796} | ‘! (6,743
- Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change - [3.384) 1‘ = !
‘ -
Net inceme (loss) 92310 | 137,948 ﬂﬂ ﬂ@@ e
Convertible Preferred Stock Dividends QWU} (28,467) 324&;%% 1 H“’U@ é@@ﬂ
Net Income available ——— . | ‘
%o common stockholders—— N @70“3 'S 193, 481 S 76 (558 S 8812
Earnings Before Gain on Sales, L ) ;
Extraordinary ltems and \ !
Cumdlative Effect of Accounting : | ‘ ‘
Change Per Share-Basic - - 1611 8 258 % 197 ' $ 1.60
Earmngs Before Gain on-Sales, — ’ 1 !
Extraordinary Items and 3
€umulative Effect of Accounting ;
Change Per Share-Diluted - 989 2.%8 196 1.59
- Earnings Per Share-Basic vﬂnfz 298 1.67 ‘ 1.46
"Eernings Per Share-Diluted 9.28 Y 2.18 .66 1.6
| Distributions Declared Per Share 2.36 2.06 .99

CASH FLOW DATA

Operating Activities
Investmg Activities
Financing Activities

" FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS"
Operating Partnersﬁip 7

- Minority Interest - Uﬂ%@’@
Eunds From Operations-Company. ..

- BALANCE SHEET DATA i

~tnvestment in Real Estate Assets~Cost QE 7,724,819

- - Total Assets
Total Debt
Preferred Units

C mon Unlts

’@@r,.,-

vertible Preferred Stock
Stockholders Equity

- 207,925
(967,366

de 2@@%@

- 376,799

@@?@77%7

988

D (386,914]

7,667

, 6 » &
1907,844) !

(90,838)
239496 -

I

éj bﬂ@@@“

¢ 207,969 & 2
19,298,268 |

26284 6

70 - 86764 |
11,479,607)
1,386,879

192,274
82689 (69,982)
199,609 128,092

2470 - $ 6,063,097

(1) Funds from Operations {as defined below} does not represent cash flow from operations as defined by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
("GAAP”] and is not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund all cash requirements.

9280822 | 5,666,807 | 5284906 4984895 4027476
592,391 | 3.398.207 . 3,266,926 3019836 . 2,648,776
175000 175,000 - -~ -

300,389 ¢ 385,988 WEBLE T 299431

; 2800 337,500 3378500 ; 337,500
1096828 | 1,983,386 938418 927,786 | 866,707
(29]



| SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (contnuea

- |DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

FUNDS FROM | Funds from Operations is used by the real estate industry and investment community as
OPERATIONS | 4 supplemental measure of the performance of real estate companies. As revised in October
1999, the National Assaciation of Real Estate Investment Trusts ("NAREIT"] defines Funds
from Operations as net income [loss) [computed in accordance with GAAP), excluding gains
(or losses) from debt restructuring and sales of properties, plus real estate related depreciation
and amortization and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures.
In calculating its Funds from Operations, the Company also exctuded $66,000 of network
discontinuance costs recognized in 2001 and approximately $6,705 of minimum rent recog-
nized in 2002 pursuant to SFAS No. 141 and No. 142 (Note 13). The Company’s Funds from
Operations may not be directly comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other real
estate investment trusts. Funds from Operations does not represent cash flow from operating
activities in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income
(determined in accordance with GAAP) as an indication of the Company’s financiat performance
or to cash flow from operating activities [determined in accordance with GAAP) as a measure
of the Company’s liquidity, nor is it indicative of funds available to fund the Company’s cash
needs, including its ability to make cash distributions. In accordance with past practices and
consistent with current recommendations of NAREIT, the Company has and will continue to
provide GAAP earnings and earnings per share information in its periodic reports to

investors and the real estate investment community.

‘ 1999
—Net tncome available to commion stockholders 1B 6" 6 113,480 & 76,658 ¢ 33,012

|
1
- Extraordinary items - charges:related to i f

early retirement of debt — 13,7%6 &, 749
Cumutative effect of accounting change : @D@@é, — - —
Allocations to Operating Partnership unitholders : : @Eﬁ@ - 43,026 33088 29,794 i

~Net [gain] loss on sales S e = 1,005 14,492) [196) |

Depreciation and amortization 262,818, .- ,‘: @@@Dé‘?@ 172,787 155,134 104,919
i Network discontinuance costs Mrﬁ@@

- SEAS #141 and #142 below-miarket
| lease rent accretion

= == = |

Dogosh - kBesn) 169,182 !
$ 123002 |
J

Funds From Operations - Operating Partnership - ' @%a‘? : "
| Funds From Operations - Mingrity Interest 194394 ﬂﬂ@i_ﬂqﬂ

| Funds From Operations - Company 365 i $2‘24£55
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ALYSIS OF FINANCIAL

F OPERATIONS -

All references to numbered Notes are to specific footnotes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements of the Company included in this annual report and which descriptions are hereby
incorporated herein by reference. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with
such Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes. Capitalized terms used, but not
defined, in this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations have the same meanings as in such Notes.

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report may include certain forward-looking FORWARD-LOOKING
information statements, within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, INFORMATION

as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including
{without limitation) statements with respect to anticipated future operating and financial
performance, growth and acquisition opportunities and other similar forecasts and statements
of expectation. Words such as “expects”, “anticipates”, “intends”, “plans”, "believes”, "seeks”,
“estimates” and "should” and variations of these words and similar expressions, are intended
to identify these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements made by the
Company and its management are based on estimates, projections, beliefs and assumptions
of management at the time of Such statements and are not guarantees of future performance.
The Company disclaims any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement based
on the occurrence of future events, the receipt of new information or otherwise.

Actual future performance, outcomes and results may differ materially from those expressed
in forward-looking statements made by the Company and its management as a result of a
number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Representative examples of these factors
inctude without limitation} general industry and economic conditions, interest rate trends, cost
of capital and capital requirements, availability of real estate properties, inability to consummate
acquisition opportunities, competition from other companies and venues for the sale/distribution
of goods and services, changes in retail rental rates in the Company’s markets, shifts in
customer demands, tenant bankruptcies or store closures, changes in vacancy rates at the
Company’s properties, changes in operating expenses, including employee wages, benefits
and training, governmental and public policy changes, changes in applicable laws, rules and
regulations [including changes in tax laws), the ability to obtain suitable equity and/or debt
financing, and the continued availability of financing in the amounts and on the terms necessary
to support the Company’s future business.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally USE OF ESTIMATES
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and AND CRITICAL

. . . ACCOUNTING POLICIES
assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Critical accounting policies are those that are both significant to the overall presentation of
the Company’s financial condition and results of operations and require management to make
difficult, complex or subjective judgments. For example, significant estimates and assumptions
have been made with respect to useful lives of assets, capitalization of development and leasing
costs, recoverable amounts of receivables and deferred taxes and initial valuations and related
amaortization periods of deferred costs and intangibles, particularly with respect to property
acquisitions, as further discussed below. Actual results could differ from those estimates for
a variety of reasons, certain of which are discussed below. The Company's criticat accounting
policies have not changed during 2002, except for the election, during the second quarter of
2002, to adopt the fair value based employee stock-based compensation expense recognition
provisions of SFAS 123, as discussed in Note 9.
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Initial valuations and estimated useful lives or amortization pericds for property and intangibles:
Upon acquisition of an investment property, the Company makes an initial assessment of the
initial valuation and composition of the assets and liabilities acquired. These assessments
consider fair values of the respective assets and liabilities and are determined based on
estimated future cash flows using appropriate discount and capitalization rates. The estimated
future cash flows that are used for this analysis reflect the historical operations of the property,
known trends and changes expected in current market and economic conditions which would
impact the property’s operations, and the Company's plans for such property. These estimates
of cash flows were particutarly important in 2002 given the application of SFAS 141 and 142
[Note 13] for the allocation of purchase price between land, buildings and improvements and
other identifiable intangibles. If events or changes in circumstances concerning the property
occur, this may indicate that the carrying values or amortization periods of the assets and
Liabilities may need to be adjusted. The resulting recovery analysis also depends on an analysis
of future cash flows to be generated from the property’s assets and liabilities. Changes in the
Company’s overall plans and its views on current market and economic conditions may have
a significant impact on the resulting estimated future cash flows of a property that are analyzed
for these purposes. As the resulting cash flows are, under current accounting standards, the
basis for the carrying values of the assets and liabilities and any subsequent impairment losses
recognized, the impact of these estimates on the Company’s operations could be substantial.
For example, the net consolidated carrying value of the land, buildings and other assets, net
of identifiable intangible liabilities, at December 31, 2002 for acquisitions completed by the
Company in 2002 was approximately $1.6 billion.

Recoverable amounts of receivables and deferred taxes: The Company makes periodic

assessments of the collectability of receivables and the recoverability of deferred taxes based
on a specific review of the risk of loss on specific accounts or amounts. This analysis places
particular emphasis on past-due accounts and considers information such as, among other
things, the nature and age of the receivables, the payment history and financial condition of the
debtor and the basis for any disputes or negotiations with the debtor. The resulting estimate
of any allowance or reserve related to the recovery of these items is subject to revision as these
factors change and is sensitive to the effects of economic and market conditions on such debtors.

Capitalization of development and leasing costs: The Company has historically capitalized the
costs of development and leasing activities of its properties. These costs are incurred both at
the property location and at the regional and corporate office level. The amount of capitalization
depends, in part on the identification of certain activities to specific projects and lease proposals.
The amount of costs capitalized and the recovery of such costs depends upon the ability to
make such specific identifications or justifiable allocations. Differences in methodologies of
cost identifications and documentation, as well as differing assumptions as to the time incurred
on different projects, can yield significant differences in the amounts capitalized.
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As of December 31, 2002, the Company owns 100% of the Wholly-Owned Centers and GGMI,
50% of the common stock of GGP/Homart, 50% of the membership interests in GGP/Homart 1!,
50% of the membership interests in GGP/Teachers, 51% of the common stock of GGP Ivanhoe,
51% of the common stock of GGP lvanhoe Il and 50% of Quail Springs Mall and Town East Mall.
Reference is made to Notes 3 and 4 for a further discussion of such entities owned by the Company.

As of December 31, 2002, GGP/Homart owns interests in twenty-two shopping centers,
GGP/Homart Il owns interests in ten shopping centers, GGP/Teachers owns interests in five
shopping centers, GGP lvanhoe owns interests in two shopping centers and GGP Ivanhoe i
owns interests in eight shopping centers [collectively, with the Wholly-Owned Centers, Quail
Springs Mall and Town East Mall, the "Company Portfolio”}.

As used in this Annual Report, the term "GLA" refers to gross leaseable retail space, including
Anchors and mall tenant areas; the term "Mall GLA" refers to gross leaseable retail space,
excluding Anchors; the term “Anchor” refers to a department store or other large retail store;
the term “"Mall Stores” refers to stores {other than Anchors] that are typically specialty retailers
who lease space in the structure including, or attached to, the primary complex of buildings
that comprise the shopping center; and the term "Freestanding GLA” means gross leaseable
area of freestanding retail stores in locations that are not attached to the primary complex
of buildings that comprise a shopping center; and the term “total Mall Stores sales” means
the gross revenue from product sales to customers generated by the Mall Stores.

The Mall Store and Freestanding Store portions of the centers in the Company Portfolio which
were not undergoing significant redevelopment on December 31, 2002 had an occupancy rate
of 91% as of such date. This occupancy percentage remained constant as compared to the
December 31, 2001 occupancy percentage of the Mall Store and Freestanding Store portions of
the centers in the Company Portfolio which were not undergoing significant redevelopment.

Total annualized Mall Store sales averaged $355 per square foot for the Company Portfolio for
the year ended December 31, 2002, approximately equal to the comparable amount for 2001.
Comparable Mall Store sales are retail sales of those tenants that were open the previous
12 months. Therefore, comparable Mall Store sales in the year ended December 31, 2002 are
of those tenants that were also operating in the year ended December 31, 2007, Comparable
Mall Store sales in the year ended December 31, 2002 decreased by 2.1% as compared to
the same period in 2001.

The Company Portfolio (excluding 2002 acquisitions) average Mall Store rent per square foot
from leases that expired in the year ended December 31, 2002 was $29.90. The Company
Portfolio benefited from increasing rents inasmuch as the average Mall Store rent per square
foot on new and renewal leases (excluding 2002 acquisitions) executed during this same period
was $36.00, or $6.10 per square foot above the average for expiring leases.

GENERAL Company revenues are primarily derived from tenants in the form of fixed minimum
rents, overage rents and recoveries of operating expenses. Inasmuch as the Company’s consol-
idated financial statements reflect the use of the equity method to account for its investments
in GGP/Homart, GGP/Homart Il, GGP/Teachers, GGP lvanhoe, GGP Ivanhoe I, Quail Springs
Mall and Town East Mall, the discussion of results of operations of the Company betow relates
primarily to the revenues and expenses of the Wholly-Owned Centers and GGMI. In addition, the
consolidated results of operations of the Company were impacted by the following acquisitions:
In April 2000, the Company purchased a 100% interest in Crossroads Center; on January 1,
2001, the Operating Partnership purchased the common stock of GGMI and the preferred stock
of GGMI, which was 100% owned by the Operating Partnership, was cancelled; in August 2001,
the Company purchased a 100% interest in Tucson Mall; in May 2002, the Victoria Ward Assets

CERTAIN INFORMATION
ABOUT THE COMPANY
PORTFOLIO

RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS OF
THE COMPANY
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were acquired; in July 2002, the JP Realty Assets were acquired; in August 2002, Prince Kuhio
Plaza was acquired; in September 2002, Pecanland Mall was acquired; and in December 2002,
Southland Mall was acquired. Such 2002 acquisitions represented a net consolidated carrying
vatue at December 31, 2002 of approximately $1.6 billion of net property and equipment, or
approximately 26% of the Company’s consolidated net property and equipment of approxi-
mately $6.2 billion. For purposes of the following discussion of the results of operations, the
net effect of acquisitions will include the effect of the new acquisitions in 2002, 2001 and 2000
and the consolidation of GGMI's operations in 2001.

COMPARISON OF YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001
Total revenues for 2002 were $980.5 million, which represents an increase of $176.8 million
or approximately 22.0% from $803.7 miltion for the year ended December 31, 2001. New
acquisitions accounted for approximately $104.7 million of the increase in total revenues with
increases in tenant recoveries and fee income as discussed below representing the majority
of the remaining increase. Minimum rent for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased
by $118.6 million or 25.3% from $468.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 to
$587.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The effect of acquisitions comprised
$74.9 million of such increase in minimum rents (including approximately $4.6 mitlion related
to FAS 141 and 142 [Notes 2 and 13]), while the remainder of such increase was due primarily
to base rents on expansion space and specialty leasing increases at the comparable centers
(properties owned for the entire time during the year ended December 31, 2002 and 2001).
Tenant recoveries increased by $34.4 million or 15.5% from $221.9 million in 2001 to $256.3
million in 2002. Of the increase in tenant recoveries, approximately $24.6 million was attributable
to new acquisitions and the remainder was due to increased recoverable operating costs at
the comparable centers. Overage rents increased $5.3 million or 23.2% from $22.8 million
in 2001 to $28.1 million in 2002. The increase in overage rents is substantially all due to new
acquisitions. Fees and other income increased by $18.5 million or 20.5% from $90.4 million
to $108.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 primarily due to increases in acquisition,
financing, leasing and development fees.

Total operating expenses, including depreciation and amortization, increased by approximately
$42.6 million or 8.4%, from $507.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 to $549.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2002. Excluding the effects of the $66 million of
Network discontinuance costs which were incurred in 2001 but not in 2002, total operating
expenses increased approximately $108.6 million in 2002. Of the increase, $53.4 million was
due to the effect of acquisitions as discussed below. Property operating expenses increased
by $60.7 million or 26.0% from $234.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 to $294.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2002, approximately $26.0 million of which was
attributable to the effect of acquisitions. The remainder was due primarily to approximately
$27.5 million in increases in net payroll and professional services costs including approximately
$11.8 million of compensation expenses recognized due to the vesting of certain of the Company’s
threshold vesting stock options as described in Note 9.

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2002 was $218.9 million, an increase of
$4.6 million or 2.1%, from $214.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. This increase
was primarily due to loans incurred or assumed in conjunction with new acquisitions, partially
offset by lower interest rates in 2002.

Equity in income of unconsolidated affiliates increased by approximately $18.5 million or 29.1%
to earnings of $82.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, from $63.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2001. This increase was partially a result of reduced net interest
expense for such affiliates in 2002 due to reduced interest rates on their mortgage loans primarily
resulting from refinancings in 2001. In addition, the Company’s equity in the income of GGP
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lvanhoe |1l increased approximately $8.7 million, primarily caused by increases in minimum
rents, tenant recoveries and specialty leasing revenues at the properties. The Company's
equity in the income of GGP/Teachers resulted in an increase in earnings of approximately
$6.0 million for 2002.

Extraordinary items were approximately $1.3 million in 2002, primarily due to the Company's
$.7 million equity interest in the extraordinary item at Town East, an Unconsolidated Real
Estate Affiliate, related to a prepayment penalty incurred in connection with the refinancing
of mortgage debt collateralized by Town East Mall.

COMPARISON OF YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
Total revenues for 2001 were $803.7. million, which represents an increase of $104.9 million
or approximately 15.0% from $698.8 mitlion in 2000. Approximately $12.8 million or 12.2% of
the increase was from properties acquired or developed after January 1, 2000. Minimum rent
during 2001 increased $28.6 million or 6.5% from $440 million in 2000 to $468.6 million. The
acquisition and development of properties generated a $7.6 million increase in minimum rents.
Expansion space, specialty leasing and a combination of occupancy and rental charges at the
comparable centers accounted for the remaining increase in minimum rents. Tenant recoveries
increased by $8.4 miltion or 3.9% from $213.5 million in 2000 to $221.9 million in 2001. The
increase in tenant recoveries was generated by a combination of new acquisitions and increased
recoverable operating costs at the comparable centers. Overage rents decreased $5.8 million or
20.3 % from $28.6 million in 2000 to $22.8 millior in 2001. The majority of the decline in overage
rents was due to the conversion of overage rent to minimum rent on the releasing of tenant
space and due to general economic conditions as discussed below. Fees for 2001 increased
$ 70.3 million or 1004.3% from $7.0 million in 2000 to $77.3 million in 2001. The increase was
primarily generated by the acquisition of GGM! as described above and in Notes 1 and 4.

Total operating expenses, including depreciation and amortization, increased by approximately
46.6% or $161.3 million, from $345.9 million in 2000 to $507.2 million in 2001, Part of the increase
in total operating expenses was attributable to the $66 million provision for the discontinuance
of the Company’s Network Services development activities as more fully described in Note 11.
The Company’s Network Services development activities was an effort to create for retailers
a suite of broadband applications to support retail tenant operations, on-line sales, and private
wide area network services to be delivered by the Broadband System as discussed below.
The Network Services development activities were discontinued on June 29, 2001, resutting
in a charge to operations of $65 million in the three months ended June 30, 2001, which
represented the Company’'s entire investment in the Network Services development activities.
The Company incurred $1 million of net incremental discontinuance costs in the three months
ended September 30, 2001 related primarily to payroll and severance costs and expects that
any net additional costs related to the discontinuance of the Network Services development
activities will not be significant. Depreciation expense increased by approximately $25.7 million,
primarily due to increased depreciation on property additions including Broadband System
additions which have shorter depreciable lives. An increase of $65.9 million was attributable
to the consolidation of GGMI as described above and in Notes 1 and 4. The increase in total
operating expenses from the new acquisitions described above consists primarily of approx-
imately $1.2 million of real estate taxes, $3.2 million of property operating costs, and $2.7
million of depreciation and amortization.

Interest income decreased approximately $7.8 million or 62.4% from $12.5 million in 2000 to
$4.7 million in 2001. The note receivable from GGMI generated $6.8 million of interest income
in 2000, whereas no such interest income was recognized in 2001 due to the consolidation of
GGMI in 2001 as discussed above. The corresponding interest expense incurred by GGMI in
2000 was reflected as a component of the equity in the income {loss) of GGML.
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interest expense decreased by $10.8 million or 4.8% from $225.1 million in 2000 to $214.3
million in 2001. Declines in effective interest rates, partially offset by the effect of acquisitions,
were the major source of such interest expense decreases.

Equity in income (loss) of unconsolidated affiliates during 2001 increased by $13.5 million to $63.6
million from $50.1 million in 2000. GGP/Homart il accounted for an increase of approximately
$4 million primarily due to declines in interest rates in 2001 and the acquisition of Willowbrook
Mall in March 2001 by GGP/Homart Il. The Company's ownership interest in GGMI resulted

in a increase of $1.6 million due to the consolidation of GGMI in 2001.

Extraordinary items were approximately $14.0 million in 2001, primarily due to the refinancing
of debt as a result of the GGP MPTC financing (Note 5) and the 2001 Offering (Note 1.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company held approximately $54.1 million of unrestricted
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. The Company uses operating cash flow
as the principal source of internal funding for short-term liquidity and capital needs such as
tenant construction allowances and minor improvements made to individual properties that
are not recoverable through common area maintenance charges to tenants. External funding
alternatives for longer-term liguidity needs such as acquisitions, new development, expansions
and major renovation programs at individual centers include construction loans, mini-permanent
loans, long-term project financing, joint venture financing with institutional partners, additional
Operating Partnership level or Company level equity investments and unsecured Company
level debt or secured loans collateralized by individuat shopping centers. In this regard, the
Company assumed, in conjunction with the acquisition of JP Realty, a then outstanding $200
million unsecured credit facility (the "PDC Credit Facility”} with an outstanding balance of
approximately $120 million on acquisition. On September 20, 2002, the Company made a
prepayment of approximately $97 million on the PDC Credit Facility. The Company borrowed
an additional $110 million in the fourth quarter of 2002. The balance on the PDC Credit Facility
was approximately $130 million at December 31, 2002. The PDC Credit Facility is scheduled
to mature in July 2003 and bears interest at the option of the Company at [i] the higher of the
federal funds rate plus 50 basis points or the prime rate of Bank One, NA, or i/ LIBOR plus
a spread of 85 to 145 basis points. The LIBOR spread is determined by PDC’s credit rating.
The PDC Credit Facility contains restrictive covenants, including limitations on the amount of
outstanding secured and unsecured debt, and requires PDC to maintain certain financial ratios.
As of December 31, 2002, the Company believes it is in compliance with these and any other
restrictive covenants (Note 5] contained in its various financing arrangements.

In addition, the Company considers its Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates as potential
sources of short and long-term liquidity. In this regard, the Company has net borrowings

{in place of distributions) at December 31, 2002 of approximately $21 million and $82 million
from GGP/Homart and GGP/Homart I, respectively (which bear interest at 5.5% per annum and
of which approximately $63 million is due March 30, 2003 and approximately $39 million is
due December 31, 2003. Such {oaned amounts are substantially all of the GGP/Homart and
GGP/Homart Il net proceeds of the GGP MPTC and other recent financings and are expected
to be repaid from future operating distributions from GGP/Homart and GGP/Homart Il (Notes 4
and 5]. To the extent that amounts remain due in March 2003 after the application of available

operating distributions, the Company expects to repay such amounts from other financing

proceeds as discussed below. Also, in order to maintain its access to the public equity and debt
markets, the Company has a currently effective shelf registration statement under which up
to $2 billion in equity or debt securities could be issued from time to time. The Company also
believes it could obtain, if necessary, revolving credit facilities similar to those which were
fully repaid in December 2001 with a portion of the proceeds of the GGP MPTC financing.
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As of December 31, 2002, the Company had consolidated debt of approximately $4.6 billion,
of which approximately $3.2 billion is comprised of debt bearing interest at fixed rates (after
taking into effect certain interest rate swap agreements described below], with the remaining
approximately $1.4 billion bearing interest at variable rates. In addition, the Company's pro rata
share of the debt of the Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates was approximately $2.2 billion,
of which approximately $1.1 billion is comprised of debt bearing interest at fixed rates (after
taking into effect certain interest rate swap agreements), with the remaining approximately
$1.1 billion bearing interest at variable rates. Except in instances where certain Wholly-Owned
Centers are cross-collateralized with the Unconsolidated Centers, or the Company has retained
a portion of the debt of a property when contributed to an Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliate
{Note 4), the Company has not otherwise guaranteed the debt of the Unconsolidated Real
Estate Affiliates. Reference is made to Notes 5 and 12 and Itemns 2 and 7A of the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding the Company's debt and
the potential impact on the Company of interest rate fluctuations.

The following summarizes certain significant investment and financing transactions of the
Company currently planned or completed since December 31, 2001:

During April 2002, the Company, through the LLC, issued an additional 240,000 RPUs to an
affiliate of the institutional investor to whom the LLC had issued 700,000 RPUs in May 2000
{see Note 1]. The issuance of these preferred units yielded approximately $58 million in net
proceeds to the Company.

During May 2002, the Company, through the LLC, issued 20,000 8.25% Cumulative Preferred
Units to an investor yielding $5 million in net proceeds to the Company (see the description
of the CPUs-Note 1).

On May 28, 2002, the Company acquired the stock of Victoria Ward, Limited, a privately held
real estate corporation as described in Note 3. The total Victoria Ward acquisition price was
approximately $250 million, including the assumption of approximately $50 million of existing
short-term debt, substantially all of which was repaid immediately following the closing. The
$250 mitlion total cash requirement was obtained primarily from the sale of the Company's
investment in marketable securities and other available cash and cash equivalents.

On July 1, 2002, the Company obtained a new mortgage loan collateralized by the Crossroads
Center in St. Cloud, Minnesota, which was previously unencumbered. The new $62 million
mortgage loan bears interest at LIBOR plus 120 basis points and matures, assuming the
exercise of one eighteen-month extension option, in July 2005.

On July 9, 2002, the Company obtained a new mortgage loan collateralized by the Eden Prairie
Mall in Eden Prairie (Minneapolis], Minnesota. The Eden Prairie Mall was previously subject
to a construction loan which was paid in December, 2001 with a portion of the proceeds of the
GGP MPTC financing [Note 5). The new $55 million mortgage loan bears interest at a rate
per annum equal to LIBOR plus 105 basis points, provides for monthly payments of interest
only and matures in July 2007, assuming the exercise of all extension options.

On July 10, 2002, the Company acquired the JP Realty Assets (Note 3] by merging JP Realty
and PDC with wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, with PDC surviving the merger and
all of its subsidiaries remaining in existence. The total acquisition price was approximately
$1.1 billion which included the assumption of approximately $460 million in existing debt
and approximately $116 million of existing preferred operating partnership units. Pursuant
to the terms of the merger agreement, each outstanding share of JP Realty common stock
was converted into $26.10 in cash. Holders of common units of limited partnership interest
in POC received $26.10 per unit in cash or, at the election of the holder, .522 8.5% Series B
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Cumutlative Preferred Units of the Operating Partnership (convertible into common units of
limited partnership interest of the Operating Partnership based on a conversion price of $50
per unit). The cash acquisition price was funded from a combination of the net proceeds
from the new Eden Prairie and Crossroads mortgage loans described above, a $350 million
acquisition loan obtained from a group of commerciat banks, and available cash and cash
equivalents. The acquisition loan bears interest at the option of the Company at (i/ a rate per
annum of LIBOR plus 150 basis points, or {ii/ the higher of reference rate of Dresdner Bank
AG or the Federal Funds rate plus 50 basis points, provides for periodic principal payments
fincluding from certain refinancing proceeds) and matures in July 2003,

On August 5, 2002, the Operating Partnership acquired Prince Kuhio Plaza in Hilo, Hawaii
from GGP/Homart for approximately $3% million. The purchase price was comprised of the
assumption of approximately $24 million of GGP MPTC financing, a note for $7.5 million and
$7.5 million in cash. The $7.5 million note, payable to GGP/Homart, was distributed to the
Operating Partnership in conjunction with the distribution of the $7.5 million of cash proceeds
to NYSCRF. The Operating Partnership then cancelled the $7.5 million note.

On August 23, 2002, the Company obtained a new mortgage loan collateralized by Eagle Ridge
Mall in Lake Wales, Florida; Century Plaza in Birmingham, Alabama and Knollwood Mall in
St. Louis Park [Minneapolis), Minnesota. The new $76 million mortgage loan bears interest
at LIBOR plus 103 basis points and matures, assuming the exercise of four, twelve-month
extension options, in October 2007.

During August 2002, the Company, through Victoria Ward, arranged for an aggregate of $150
million in toans from two seperate groups of banks. On August 23, 2002, the Company borrowed
an initial $80 million and, on September 19, 2002, the Company borrowed an additional $70
million. The two-year loans provide for quarterly partial amaortization of principal, bear interest
at the option of the borrower at a rate per annum of (i} the greater of the administration agent’s
reference rate and the federal funds rate plus 50 basis points or {ii/ LIBOR plus 100 basis
points, and require the remaining balance of approximately $130 million to be paid at maturity
[untess extended, under certain conditions, for an additional six months with the LIBOR spread
to increase to 125 basis points).

On August 26, 2002, the Company formed GGP/Teachers, a joint venture with Illinois Teachers.
Upon formation of GGP/Teachers, Clackamas Town Center in Portland, Oregon, which was
100% owned by Illinois Teachers, was contributed to the new joint venture. In addition, concurrent
with its formation, GGP/Teachers acquired Galleria at Tyler in Riverside, California, Kenwood
Towne Centre in Cincinnati, Ohio, and Silver City Galleria in Taunton, Massachusetts, from
an institutional investor for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $477 million. Two
existing non-recourse mortgage loans on Silver City Galleria, aggregating a total of $75 million
and bearing interest at a rate per annum of 7.41%, were assumed and three new non-recourse
acquisition loans totaling approximately $337 million were obtained. The new loans bear
interest at a weighted average rate per annum of LIBOR plus 76 basis points. The Company’s
share (approximately $112 million} of the equity of GGP/Teachers was funded by a portion of
new secured and unsecured loans as described above. In addition, the Company has approx-
imately $19.5 million of Retained Debt (Note 4) related to the debt collaterized by the malls
owned by GGP/Teachers which remains a contingent obtigation of the Company.

On September 13, 2002, the Company acquired Pecanland Mall, a 984,000 square foot enclosed
regional mall in Monroe, Louisiana, for approximately $72 million. The acquisition was funded
by approximately $22 million of cash on hand and the assumption of an existing $50 million




loan that bears interest at a rate per annum equal to the sum of 3.0% plus the greater of (i}
LIBOR and [ii] 3.5%. The loan is scheduled to mature in January 2005 [subject to a right to
extend for one additional year).

On December 4, 2002, the Company acquired Southtand Mall, a 1,450,000 square foot enclosed
regional mall in Hayward, California, for approximately $89 million. The acquisition was
funded by approximately $24 million cash on hand and a new 5-year lassuming all extension
options are exercised] $65 million mortgage loan that bears interest at a rate per annum of
LIBOR plus 75 basis points.

Subsequent to year end, the Company refinanced the mortgage loans collateralized by the
Provo Mall and the Spokane Mall with a new, long-term non-recourse mortgage loan. The new
$95 million loan bears interest at a rate per annum of 4.42% and matures in February 2008.

In March 2003, the Company reached a preliminary agreement with a group of banks to
establish a new revolving credit facility and term loan. The total amount to be financed is
expected to be approximately $700 million, have a term of three years and provide for partial
amortization of a portion of the principal balance of the term loan in the second and third years.
The proceeds are anticipated to be used to repay and consolidate existing financing including
amounts due on the PDC Credit Facility, the Term Loan, the JP acquisition loan, and to certain
Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates.

In addition, certain Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates completed significant investment
and financing transactions since December 31, 2001, as summarized as follows:

On June 24, 2002, GGP/Homart |l refinanced the existing $178 million, 6% mortgage loan [with
a scheduled maturity of December 2002) collateralized by Natick Mall. Both the refinanced
loan and the new loan represent Retained Debt of the Company (Note 4], for which the Company
remains contingently responsible for the entire principal balance. The new $168.4 miltion
mortgage loan, bearing interest per annum equat to LIBOR plus 55 basis points, provides for
monthly payments of principal and interest and matures, assuming the exercise of three,
twelve-month extensicn options, in January 2007.

On September 18, 2002, the Company, through Town East Mall Partnership, refinanced the
existing $44.8 mortgage loan collateralized by the Town East Mall. The new mortgage loan has
a principal balance of $87 million, provides for monthly payments of principal and interest,
bears interest at LIBOR plus 58 basis points and matures, assuming the exercise of two,
twelve-month extension options, in October 2007.

On November 27, 2002, the Company through GGP/Homart Il acquired all of the membership
interests in a limited liability company (“Glendale LLC") that owns directly and indirectly Glendale
Galleria, an approximately 1,500,000 square foot enclosed regional mall in Glendale (Los Angeles),
California {the “Glendale Property”). The purchase price for the membership interests in Glendale
LLC is approximately $415 mitlion less the outstanding balance (approximately $170 million)
of the existiné Glendale Property mortgage debt. Approximately $41.1 million of the purchase
price, which was paid to one of the former holders of membership interests in Glendale LLC,

was paid by issuance of units of a new series of preferred units of limited partnership in the
Operating Partnership, and the remainder of the purchase price was paid in cash. The cash

portion of the purchase price and the repayment of the then-existing mortgage debt {which

repayment occurred at closing} was funded with the proceeds of {i] a new $235 million mortgage
loan collateralized by the Glendale Property which bears interest at a rate per annum of LIBOR

plus 75 basis points and matures in November 2007, assuming the exercise of all three options,
and {ii) a new $200 miltion unsecured term loan obtained jointly and severally by GGP/Homart
and GGP/Homart |l which bears interest at the option of the borrower at a rate per annum equal
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to (il 25 basis points plus the higher of the Deutsche Bank Trust Company of America's prime
rate or the federal funds rate plus 50 basis points or (ij/ LIBOR plus 125 basis points and

matures in November 2003.

In November, 2002, the Company, through GGP/Homart, obtained a $41 million mortgage
loan collateralized by the Parks at Arlington in Arlington [Dallas), Texas. The loan bears
interest at a rate per annum of 5.59% and matures in September 2009.

On December 10, 2002, the Company, through GGP/Homart Il, refinanced the existing $135
million mortgage loan collateralized by Stonebriar Centre in Frisco (Dallas), Texas. The new

martgage loan has a principal balance of $185 million, bears interest at a rate per annum of
5.23% and matures in December 2012.

On December 19, 2002, the Company, through GGP/Teachers, acquired Florence Mall in Florence,
Kentucky for a purchase price of approximately $97 million. The acquisition was funded by
additional cash contributions to GGP/Teachers and a new $60 million two-year mortgage
loan that bears interest at a rate per annum of LIBOR plus 89 basis points and matures in

January 2008 (assuming the exercise of both extension options]. The Company’s share of the
capital contributions to GGP/Teachers for the acquisition was funded from cash on hand.

Also on December 19, 2002, the Company, through GGP/Homart, acquired for a purchase price
of approximately $50 million the 50% interest that it did not own in The Woodlands Mall in
Houston, Texas from The Woodlands Commercial Property, LP. An additional $50 mitlion
mortgage loan bearing interest at a rate per annum of LIBOR plus 250 basis points was placed
at the property on December 31, 2002. The loan is scheduled to mature in December 2006.

On BCecember 30, 2002, the Company, through-GGP/Homart il, acquired First Colony Mall,
an enclosed regional mall in Sugar Land, Texas, for a purchase price of approximately $105
million. The acquisition was funded by cash on hand plus a new $67 million mortgage loan
bearing interest at a rate per annum of LIBOR plus 80 basis points with a scheduled maturity
of January 2006.

Approximately $752.7 million of the Company’s consolidated debt is scheduted to mature

in 2003 and approximately $488 million of consolidated debt is scheduled to mature in 2004,
In addition, the Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates have certain mortgage loans maturing
in 2003 (the Company’s prorata portion of which is approximately $201.1 million]. Although
agreements to refinance all of such indebtedness have not yet been reached, the Company
anticipates that all of its debt will be repaid on a timely basis. Other than as described above
or in conjunction with possible future acquisitions, there are no current plans to incur additional
debt, increase the amounts available under the Term Loan or raise equity capital. However,
the Company currently expects to issue Common Stock to convert its outstanding preferred
stock [PIERS - Note 1] when its option to do so becomes exercisable on Juty 15, 2003. If additional
capital is required, the Company believes that it can increase the amounts available under the
Term Loan, obtain new revolving credit facilities, obtain an interim bank loan, obtain additional
mortgage financing on under-leveraged or unencumbered assets, enter into new joint venture
partnership arrangements or raise additional debt or equity capital. However, there can be no
assurance that the Company can obtain such financing on satisfactory terms. The Company
will continue to monitor its capital structure, investigate potential investments or joint venture
partnership arrangements and purchase additional properties if they can be acquired and
financed on terms that the Company reasonably believes will enhance long-term stockholder
value. When property operating cash flow has been increased, the Company anticipates the
refinancing of portions of its long-term floating rate debt with pooled or property-specific,
non-recourse fixed-rate mortgage financing.
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Net cash provided by operating activities was $460.5 million in 2002, an increase of $253.4 million
from $207.1 million in the same period in 2001. Income before gain on sales, extraordinary items
and cumulative effect of accounting change increased $100.9 million, which was primarily
due to the effect of the $66 million provision for the discontinuance of the Network Services
2001 as discussed in Note 11 and $69.5 million of 2002 earnings is attributable to properties
acquired in 2002.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $207.1 in 2001, a decrease of $80 million from

$287.1 million in the same period in 2000. Income before gain on sales, extracrdinary items

and cumulative effect of accounting change decreased $28.2 million in 2001, which was primarily
due to the $66 million provision for the discontinuance of the Network Services development
activities in 2001 as described in Note 11.

The events of September 11th have had an impact on the Company's insurance coverage.
The Company had coverage for terrorist acts in its policies that expired in September 2002.
The coverage was excluded from its standard property policies at the time of renewal.
Accordingly, the Company obtained a separate policy for terrorist acts. The Company’'s premiums,
including the cost of a separate terrorist policy, increased by a factor of approximately 30%
to 40% for property coverage and liability coverage. These increases will impact the Company’s
annual common area maintenance rates paid in the future by the Company's tenants as well
as the Company's net unrecoverable amounts.

The Company has over the past year experienced a significant increase in the market price
of its Common Stock. Accordingly, certain options granted under its incentive stock plans that
vest based on the market price of the Common Stock have vested. Under current accounting
standards, such vesting caused the recognition of approximately $11.8 million of additional
compensation expense in 2002, as described above and in Note 1. In addition, the Company
has adopted SFAS 123 for grants of Common Stock options awarded after January 1, 2002 as
more fully discussed in Note 9.

Net cash used by investing activities in 2002 was $965.8 million, compared to a use of $367.4
million in 2001. Cash flow from investing activities was affected by the timing of acquisitions,
development and improvements to real estate properties, requiring a use of cash of approximately
$1.0 biltion in 2002 compared to $338.2 million in 2001. In addition, approximately $155.1
million of the use of cash in 2001 and a corresponding source in 2002 for investing activities
was the purchase and subsequent sale of the marketable securities discussed in Note 1.

Net cash used by investing activities in 2001 was $367.4 million, compared to a use of $356.9
million in 2000. Cash flow from investing activities was affected by the timing of acquisitions,
development and improvements to real estate properties, requiring a use of cash of approxi-
mately $338.2 million in 2001 compared to $286.7 million in 2000. In addition, approximately
$155.1 million of the use of cash for investing activities in 2001 was the purchase of the
marketable securities discussed in Note 1.

Financing activities provided net cash of $398.2 million in 2002, compared to $293.8 million

in 2001. A significant source of funds from financing activities in 2002 was the Company's
issuance of additional preferred units in the Operating Partnership yielding net proceeds of
approximately $63.3 million as described in Note 1. The 2001 Offering resulted in net proceeds
of approximately $348 million which, as described in Note 1, was utilized to reduce outstanding
indebtedness and provide for additional working capital. An additional significant contribution
of cash from financing activities was financing from mortgages and acquisition debt, which
had a positive impact of $792.3 million in 2002 versus approximately $2.1 billion in 2001.

SUMMARY OF
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

SUMMARY OF
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
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The majority of such financing in 2001was attributable to the GGP MPTC financing described
above in Note 5. The additional financing in 2002 was used to repay existing indebtedness and
to fund the acquisitions and redevelopment of real estate as discussed above. The remaining
uses of cash consisted primarily of increased distributions {including dividends paid to preferred
stockholders in 2002 and 2001].

‘Financing activities provided cash of $293.8 million in 2001, compared to $71.4 million in 2000.

The 2001 Offering resulted in net proceeds of approximately $348 million which, as described
in Note 1, was utilized to reduce outstanding indebtedness and provide for additional working
capital. An additional significant contribution of cash from financing activity was financing
from mortgages and acquisition debt, which had a positive impact of $2.1 billion in 2001
versus approximately $360 million in 2000. The majority of such financing was attributable
to the GGP MPTC financing described above. The additional financing was used to repay existing
indebtedness and to fund the acquisitions and redevelopment of real estate as discussed
above. The remaining uses of cash consisted primarily of increased distributions {including
dividends paid to preferred stockholders in 2001 and 2000).

In order to remain qualified as a real estate investment trust for federal income tax purposes,
General Growth must distribute or pay tax on 100% of capital gains and at least 90% of its
ordinary taxable income to stockholders. The following factors, among others, will affect
operating cash flow and, accordingly, influence the decisions of the Board of Directors regarding
distributions: {i] scheduled increases in base rents of existing leases; {ii/ changes in minimum
base rents and/or overage rents attributable to replacement of existing leases with new or
renewal leases; (il changes in occupancy rates at existing centers and procurement of leases
for newly developed centers; {iv] necessary capital improvement expenditures or debt repayments
at existing properties; and {v/ General Growth's share of distributions of operating cash flow
generated by the Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates, less oversight costs and debt service on
additional loans that have been or will be incurred. General Growth anticipates that its operating
cash flow, and potential new debt or equity from future offerings, new financings or refinancings
will provide adequate liguidity to conduct its operations, fund generat and administrative
expenses, fund operating costs and interest payments and atlow distributions to Generat Growth
preferred and common stockholders in accordance with the requirements of the Code.

On January 1, 2001, the REIT provisions of the Tax Relief Extension Act of 1999 became
effective. Among other things, the law permits a REIT to own up to 100% of the stock of a
Taxable REIT Subsidiary ["TRS"]. A TRS, which must pay corporate income tax, can provide
services to REIT tenants and others without disqualifying the rents that a REIT receives from
its tenants. Accordingly, on January 1, 2001 the Operating Partnership acquired for nominal
cash consideration 100% of the common stock of GGMI| and elected in 2001 to have GGMI
treated as a TRS. The Operating Partnership and GGMI concurrently terminated the management
contracts for the Wholly-Owned Centers as the management activities would thereafter be
performed directly by the Company. GGMI has continued to manage, lease, and perform various
other services for the Unconsolidated Centers and other properties owned by unaffiliated third
parties. Although taxable income is expected to be reported for 2002 and subsequent years,
GGMI is not expected to be required to pay Federal income taxes in the near term due to its
significant net operating loss carry forwards primarily arising from 2001 operations.



As described in Note 13, the FASB has issued certain statements, which are effective for the
current or subsequent year. Although SFAS 141 and SFAS 142 had been generally interpreted
at issuance by practitioners to not modify previous accounting practices with respect to real
estate acquisitions, the implementation of the statements has resulted in the recognition upon
acquisition of additional consolidated intangible assets {acquired in-place lease origination
costs] and liabilities (acquired below-market leases) relating to the Company’s 2002 real
estate purchases of approximately $32.4 mitlion and $52.5 million, respectively. The Company
does not expect a significant impact on its annual reported operations due to the application
of any of the other new statements as discussed in Note 13.

Inflation has been relatively low and has not had a significant detrimental impact on the Company.
Should inflation rates increase in the future, substantially all of the Company’'s tenant leases
contain provisions designed to partially mitigate the negative impact of inflation. Such provisions
include clauses enabling the Company to receive percentage rents based on tenants’ gross
sales, which generally increase as prices rise, and/or escalation clauses, which generalty
increase rental rates during the terms of the leases. In addition, many of the leases expire
each year which may enable the Company to replace or renew such expiring leases with new
leases at higher base and/or percentage rents, if rents under the expiring leases are below
the then-existing market rates. Finally, many of the existing leases require the tenants to
pay all or substantially all of their share of certain operating expenses, including common
area maintenance, real estate taxes and insurance, thereby partially reducing the Company's
exposure to increases in costs and operating expenses resulting from inflation.

Inflation also poses a potential threat to the Company due to the possibility of future increases
in interest rates. Such increases would adversely impact the Company due to the amount of
its outstanding floating rate debt. However, in recent years, the Company’s ratio of interest
expense to cash flow has continued to decrease. Therefore, the relative risk the Company bears
due to interest expense exposure has been declining. In addition, the Company has limited
its exposure to interest rate increases on a portion of its floating rate debt by arranging interest
rate cap and swap agreements as described below. Finally, subject to current market conditions,
the Company has a policy of replacing variable rate debt with fixed rate debt. (See Note 5).

During 2001 and 2002, the retail sector was experiencing declining growth due to layoffs,
eroding consumer confidence, falling stock prices, the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks
and, most recently, the threats of additional terrorism and war. Although the 2002 holiday
season was generally stronger than economists’ predictions, the retail sector and the economy
as a whole remains weak. Such reversals or reductions in the retail market adversely impacts
the Company as demand for leaseable space is reduced and rents computed as a percentage
of tenant sales declines. In addition, a number of local, regicnal and national retailers,
including tenants of the Company, have voluntarily closed their stores or filed for bankruptcy
protection during the last few years. Most of the bankrupt retailers reorganized their operations
and/or sold stores to stronger operators. Although some leases were terminated pursuant
to the lease cancellation rights afforded by the bankruptcy laws, the impact on Company
earnings was negligibte. Over the last three years, the provision for doubtful accounts has
averaged only $3.1 million per year, which represents less than 1% of average total revenues
of approximately $827.6 million. In addition, the Company historically has generatly been
successful in finding new uses or tenants for retail locations that are vacated either as a result
of voluntary store closing or bankruptcy proceedings. Therefore, the Company does not expect
these store closings or bankruptcy reorganizations to have a material impact on its consolidated
financial results of operations.

RECENTLY ISSUED
ACCOUNTING
PRONGUNCEMENTS
AND DEVELOPMENTS

ECONOMIC
CONDITIONS
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QUANTITATIVE

AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT
MARKET RISK

The Company and its affiliates currently have interests in 153 operating retail properties in the

United States. The Portfolic Centers are diversified both geographically and by property type

(both major and middle market properties] and this may mitigate the impact of a potential

economic downturn at a particular property or in a particular region of the country.

The shopping center business is seasonal in nature. Mall stores typically achieve higher sates
levels during the fourth quarter because of the hotiday selling season. Although the Company

has a year-long temporary leasing program, a significant portion of the rents received from

short-term tenants are collected during the months of November and December. Thus,

occupancy levels and revenue production are generally highest in the fourth quarter of each

year and lower during the first and second quarters of each year.

The Company has not entered into any transactions using derivative commodity instruments.
The Company is subject to market risk associated with changes in interest rates. Interest rate
exposure is principally limited to the $2.1 billion of debt of the Company outstanding at
December 31, 2002 that is priced at interest rates that vary with the market. However, approxi-
mately $665.8 million of such floating rate consolidated debt is comprised of non-recourse
commercial mortgage-backed securities which are subject to interest rate swap agreements,
the effect of which is to fix the interest rate the Company is required to pay on such debt to
approximately 4.84% per annum. Therefore, a 25 basis point movement in the interest rate
on the remaining $1.4 billion of variable rate debt would result in an approximately $3.5 million
annualized increase or decrease in consolidated interest expense and cash flows. The remaining
debt is fixed rate debt. In addition, the Company is subject to interest rate exposure as a result
of the variable rate debt collateralized by the Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates for which
similar interest rate swap agreements have not been obtained. The Company’s share (based on
the Company's respective equity ownership interests in the Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates)
of such remaining variable rate debt was approximately $1.1 billion at December 31, 2002.

A similar 25 basis peint annualized movement in the interest rate on the variable rate debt
of the Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates would result in an approximately $2.6 million
annualized increase or decrease in the Company’s equity in the income and cash flows from
the Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates. The Company is further subject to interest rate risk
with respect to its fixed rate financing in that changes in interest rates will impact the fair value
of the Company'’s fixed rate financing. The Company has an ongoing program of refinancing
its consolidated and unconsolidated variable and fixed rate debt and believes that this program
allows it to vary its ratio of fixed to variable rate debt and to stagger its debt maturities to
respond to changing market rate conditions. Reference is made to the above discussions of
Liquidity and Capital Resources of the Company and Note 45 for additional debt information.



)RS’ REPORT -

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS
GENERAL GROWTH PROPERTIES, INC.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of General Growth Properties, Inc. {the "Company”] as of
December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, stockholders’
equity and cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
did not audit the consolidated financial statements of GGP/Homart, Inc. and GGP/Homart Il L.L.C., the Company's investments
in which are accounted for by use of the equity method. The Company's equity of $197,737,000 and $223,517,000 in GGP/Homart,
Inc.’s net assets as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and $23,418,000 and $21,822,000 in GGP/Homart, Inc.’s
net income, respectively, for the years then ended are included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The
Company’s equity of $190,597,000 and $134,453,000 in GGP/Homart 1l L.L.C.’s net assets as of December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, and of $26,421,000 and $23,995,000 in GGP/Homart Il L.L.C.’s net income, respectively, for the years then ended
are included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements of GGP/Homart,
Inc. and GGP/Homart Il L.L.C. were audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar
as it relates to the amounts included for such companies, is based sclely on the reports of such other auditors. The consol-
idated financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2000 were audited by other auditors whose
report, dated February 6, 2001, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the reports
of the other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. '

in our opinion, based on our audits and the reports of the other auditors, such consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of General Growth Properties, Inc. at December 31, 2002
and 2001, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for derivative
instruments and hedging activities in 2001.

Deloite § Tmole 1P

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chicago, WWinois * February 3, 2003
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- CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS DECEMBER 31, 2082 AND 2001

" IDOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT FOR PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

| ASSETS

- Investmient in reat-estater
[ Land
[ Buildings and equipment
Less accumulated deprematnon
Developments in progress
- Net property and equipment :
nvestment in and toans from Unconsolidated Real Estate Affitiates

Net investment in real estate

=5
>

15

Cash and cash equivalents

5;

=
@A

- Marketable securities

®

Tenant accounts receivable, net
leferred expenses, net
Prepa|d expenses and other assets

| LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

- Mortgage notes and other debit payable
F Distributions payable
Network discontinuance reserve

--Accounts-payable and accrued expenses

| Minority interests:

Preferred Units

- Common Units

Commitments and contingendies

- Preferred stock: $100 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized;
345,000 designated as PIERS [Note 1) which are convertible
and carry a $1,000 liquidation value, 337,580 of which were
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001

Stoeckhotders’ Equity:

- “Commion stock: $.10 par value; 210,000,000 shares authorized;
62,397,085 and 61,923,932 shares issued and outstanding
- __as of December-31, 2002 and 2001, respectively ...

[ Additionat paid-in capital
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit]
| Notes receivable-commaon steck purchase
Unearned compensation - restricted stock
- Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

- Total stockhaolders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




'

CONSGLIBATEB STATEMENT—S oF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME -

[DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT FOR PER SHARE AMOUNTS) ]

2007

| Revenues:

fMiﬁi‘mum rents ) : ‘ Z 268,617 © §
Tenant recoveries ' Ba- | 221,850 -
7%&& '

Other ‘ 3 ‘ :
Total revenues | _” ‘ N 803,709 -

- Expenses: :
" Real estate taxes ‘ - 6231 52,200 |
- Property-eperating - : ) ‘ , : 236,23% :
A Provision for doubtful accounts : - 3,402 :
- General and administrative 720 6,006 -
- Depreciation and amortization SR80 : 145,352 |
Network discontinuance costs j ,i: x@D@@@ :
| Total operating expenses
Operating income

'

Interestincome . : 3,88 4,588 |
- Interest expense . 18,928 1214.277) |

Income altocated to minority interests : 3, (40, ?9%
' Equity in income of unconsolidated affitiates ‘ :

Income before gain on sales, extraordinary items,
- and cumulative effect of accounting change

§ Gain on sales
i

L . \
- Extraordinary items ! ! u’&@ 7)) |

effect of accounting change

- Cumulative effect of accounting change
tincome
Convertible Preferred Stock Dividends
| Net income available to comman stockholders
Earnings before galn on sales, extraordinary items; and cumulatwe’ -
effect-of accounting-change per share-basic — 3

Earnmgs before gain on sales, extraordinary items, and cumulatlve
effect of accounting change per share-diluted

Edrnings per share-basic

Earnings per share-diluted

" Net income
[ Other comprehensive income:

Net unrealized gains (losses] on financial instruments,
“net of minority interest

_Minimum pension liability adjustment

Eqmty in unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securmes
~of unconsolidated affiliate, net of minarity interest

wprehensive income

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
* Including $52,646, $45,079 and $6,967, respectively, fram Unconsolidated Real Estate Affitiates.




CONSOLIDATED 'ST’A'!:fEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

{DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT FOR PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Unearned: -

Compen-
Additional Retained |Employee | sation ‘ ]
Paid-in Earnings Stock | Restricted | - Gains/ | Stockholders™
Capital (Defigit) Steck (Losses} | - Equity -

Balsnes,

| December 31, 1999 57697425 $ 5,070 € 1199921 $1292,199) . § (34200 § = $ 19798) % 927,758 l

' Net income ! . 937,948 : ' 137,948 |
ash distributions i f ‘ {
declared ($2.06 : ‘ : ;
share} ; : (107,367} .‘ . . 1909.967)
onvertibte Preferred | : : : : ‘
Stock Dividends (26,667) ‘ i 126,467

'
|
|

"RPU issuance costs ; [4.378] ‘ (3751 |
H | |
- Conversion ‘ ‘ i 1
E. - of operating i “ ‘ ‘
partrership. units : !
- to common stock  [EPEPEAS) 21 5,490 5579
 Isswance of Common ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘
Stock, net of : ! i
employee stock : ‘ j ‘
option loans 371,784 27 10,666 C (6,029 | 4 57%
] ' | | i I
- Other comprehensive ‘ | : \
gains of i “ ‘ i ‘
- --unconsotidated i ‘ ! : | ‘
. affitiate | ‘ : ﬂ 177 o
:qujustment for ‘ !
-~ minority interest "
- in-operating E : ‘ 5 ]
partnership ‘ (1,447) : i 17 AbT] ‘
Belenes, | - ] !
December 37, 2000 | 52,289,289 $ 5,228 ' $ 1,210,261 | $(266088) & (9.449) $ = $ 0.837) % 936478
: " — pra— ~ - S e T e el == — - - - ; - - T - —E——de —_——— =
- Netincome 92,310 92,310
| Cash distributions | ‘
declared ($2.36 ‘ . | 3 ‘{
. -per share] | ‘ . 1930907 ‘ 1126,107)
- Convertible Preferred ‘ ! : ‘ |
- Stock Dividends | . | o (24,447 ! : (24,647) !
Conversion of | ; ‘ : ‘
_operating | [
partnership units " | : ‘
to common stock. | 21,212 . 2 573 ' 577
Issuance of Common ‘ ‘
Stock; net-of ‘ : I |
. .employee stock : ! ; ‘ ; ‘
- option loans | 9,627,467 962 | 7824 | (10.441) . ‘ B35 |
| Qther comprehensive | : !
gains | | | | 3787 3,757
Adjustment for ‘ ; :
ority inferest ‘ ! !

in-operating

165,667) | 165,247 |

i
. i L

continued on next page
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CONSOLIDATED.: STATEMfEN

S OF STOCKHOLBERS™ EQUITY (cortinued |

{DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT FOR PER SHARE AMOUNTS!}

%a ce

declared ($2.74
per share]

Convernble Preferre

onversion of
operating .-
partnership units

to common stock RS

| Issuance of Common
Stock; net of
employee stock
option loans

Issuance costs,
—preferred-units— ]
" Restricted stock

grant, net of
recognized
compensation

_expense

losses.

- Adjostment faor

- —minority interest
in_operating
partnership

er comprehensive (IS

_,,ﬂ@m

H -

§

Decsmibsr 51, 2007 © 40590,085 § 6,060 6 7

B4

$(218.844

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consclidated financial statements,

continued on next page
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LIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

“[DDLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT FOR PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Years endjed Decé’m’bef 3

ulative effect of accounting change

net-income of u-n»cons;otid'a-fed affiliates

.ﬁt aécoﬁnt‘é receivable
""Prepaid expenses and other agsefs... _
-fncrease in deferred expenses.
-payable-Netwerk-and Broadband System Reserve
payable and accrued:expenses

~cash-provided by-lused in} eperating activities

flows from investing acti

isition/devetopment of real estate and improvements
Hditions to properties

‘_ rk and Broagdband Systefm additions

ributions received from unconsolidated affiliates in excess of income
aans from unconsotidated affjliates, net
increase) decrease in holdings of investments in marketable securities

et cash provided by (used in} investing activities

Sh flows from financing activities:
ash distributions paird to c&)ﬁfmon stockholders
ash distributions paid to hro[die rs of Common Units
;Cash distributions paid to holders of Preferred Units
_Payment of dividends on PIERS
Proceeds from sale of commo:‘n stock, net of issuance costs
oceeds from:isstiance of RPUs and CPUs; net of issuance costs
e Pro‘vcé‘e‘ds from iss‘u«ance of moﬁrtg.age notes and other debt payable
Principal payments on mortgaig:e notes and other debt payable
T fease in deferred expenses%

Net cash provided by (used in} financing activities

at change in cash and cash equivalents

sh and cash equivalents af beginning of period

ivalents at end of period

continued on next page




{DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT FOR PER SHARE AMOUNTS}

Years ended D’i cember

2006

e S, <~ 276573 & 209519 0 6 227,700
[nterest-capitalized —= - e g - ]()277@ e

cash investing and financing activities: =~

- Common stock issued in exchange for Operating-Partnership Units —— ¥or § 877 ° $ 5,571
- Notes receivable issued-for-exercised-stock ‘aptions == R 10,647 7.14%
86,079 | = |

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

{DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT FOR PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

NOTE 1.
CRGANIZATION

(52}

GENERAL General Growth Properties, Inc., a Delaware corporation ["General Growth”],

was formed in 1986 to own and operate regional matl shopping centers. All references to the
“Company” in these notes to Consolidated Financial Statements include General Growth and
those entities owned or controlled by General Growth {including the Operating Partnership
and the LLC as described below), unless the context indicates otherwise. On April 15, 1993,
General Growth completed its initial public offering and a business combination involving
entities under varying common ownership. Proceeds from the initial public offering were used
to acquire a majority interest in GGP Limited Partnership [the “Operating Partnership”} which
was formed to succeed to substantially all of the interests in regional mall general partnerships
owned and controlled by the Company and its original stockholders. The Company conducts
substantially all of its business through the Operating Partnership.

During December 2001, General Growth completed a public offering of 9,200,000 shares of
Common Stock (the "2001 Offering”). General Growth received net proceeds of approximately
$345,000 which was used to reduce outstanding indebtedness and increase working capital.

On January 1, 2001, the Operating Partnership acquired for nominal cash consideration 100%
of the common stock of General Growth Management, Inc. ("GGMI"). In connection with the
acquisition, the GGM| preferred stock owned by the Operating Partnership was cancelled and
approximately $40,000 of the outstanding loans owed by GGMI to the Operating Partnership
were contributed to the capital of GGMI. The operations of GGM! have been fully consolidated
with the Company as of and for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. This transaction
was accounted for as a purchase. In addition, the Operating Partnership and GGMI concurrently
terminated the management contracts for the Wholly-Owned Centers (as defined below) as
the management activities would thereafter be performed directly by the Company. GGMI
nas continued to manage, lease, and perform various other services for the Unconsolidated
Centers [as defined below) and other properties owned by unaffiliated third parties. During
2001, the Company elected that GGMI be treated as a taxable REIT subsidiary [a "TRS") as
permitted under the Tax Relief Extension Act of 1999.

General Growth has reserved for issuance up to 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock for issuance
under the Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan ["DRSP”}. The DRSP allows, in
general, participants in the plan toc make purchases of Common Stock from dividends received
or additional cash investments. Although the purchase price of the Common Stock is determined
by the current market price, the purchases will be made without fees or commissions. General
Growth has and will satisfy DRSP Common Stock purchase needs through the issuance of
new shares of Common Stock or by repurchases of currently outstanding Common Stock.
As of December 31, 2002, an aggregate of 88,509 shares of Common Stock have been issued
under the DRSP.

PREFERRED STOCK During June 1998, General Growth completed a public offering of
13,500,000 depositary shares [the "Depositary Shares”}, each representing % of a share of
7.25% Preferred Income Equity Redeemable Stock, Series A, par value $100 per share ("PIERS").
The Depositary Shares are convertible at any time, at the option of the holder, into shares of
Common Stock at the rate of 6,297 shares of Common Stock per Depositary Share. Although
no Depositary Shares had been converted at December 31, 2002, holders of approximately
1,600 Depositary Shares elected to convert to Common Stock in January 2003. On or after
July 15, 2003, General Growth has the option to convert the PIERS and the Depositary Shares
at the rate of .6297 shares of Common Stock per Depositary Share if the closing price of the
Common Stock exceeds $45.65 per share for 20 trading days within any period of 30 consec-
utive trading days. In addition, the PIERS have a preference on liquidation of General Growth
equal to $1,000 per PIERS [equivalent to $25.00 per Depositary Share], plus accrued and
unpaid dividends, if any, to the liquidation date. The PIERS and the Depositary Shares are




- NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (contnuedt -

" (DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT FOR PER SHARE AMOUNTS} -

subject to mandatory redemption by General Growth on July 15, 2008 at a price of $1,000 per
PIERS, ptus accrued and unpaid dividends, if any, to the redemption date. Accordingly, the
PIERS have been reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements at such lig-
uidation or redemption value.

During 2002, other classes of preferred stock of General Growth were created to permit the
future conversion of certain equity interests assumed by the company in conjunction with the
JP Realty acquisition {Note 3) into General Growth equity interests. As the conditions to allow
such a conversion have not yet occurred, such additional classes of preferred stock have not
been presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet for December 31, 2002.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN General Growth has a shareholder rights plan pursuant to which
one preferred share purchase right {a "Right”] is attached to each currently outstanding or
subsequently issued share of Common Stock. Prior to becoming exercisable, the Rights
trade together with the Common Stock. In general, the Rights will become exercisable if a
person or group acquires or announces a tender or exchange offer for 15% or more of the
Common Stock. Each Right will initially entitle the holder to purchase from General Growth
one one-thousandth of a share of newly-created Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock, par value $100 per share [the “Preferred Stock”), at an exercise price of $148 per
one one-thousandth of a share, subject to adjustment. In the event that a person or group
acquires 15% or more of the Common Stock, each Right will entitle the holder {other than the
acquirer] to purchase shares of Common Stock (or, in certain circumstances, cash or other
securities] having a market value of twice the exercise price of a Right at such time. Under
certain circumstances, each Right will entitle the holder {other than the acquirer] to purchase
common stock of the acquirer having a market value of twice the exercise price of a Right at
such time. In addition, under certain circumstances, the Board of Directors of General Growth
may exchange each Right (other than those held by the acquirer} for one share of Common
Stock, subject to adjustment. If the Rights become exercisable, holders of units of partnership
interest in the Operating Partnership, other than General Growth, will receive the number of
Rights they would have received if their units had been redeemed and the purchase price paid
in Common Stock. The Rights expire on November 18, 2008, unless earlier redeemed by the
General Growth Board of Directors for $0.01 per Right or such expiration date is extended.

OPERATING PARTNERSHIP The Operating Partnership commenced operations on April 15,
1993 and as of December 31, 2002, it owned directly or indirectly 100% of fifty-seven regional
shopping centers, 100% of the Victoria Ward Assets (as defined in Note 3] and 100% of the
JP Realty Assets {as defined in Note 3] (collectively, the "Wholly-Owned Centers”); 50% of
the common stock of GGP/Homart, Inc. {"GGP/Homart”), 50% of the membership interests
in GGP/Homart II, L.L.C. ["GGP/Homart II"), 50% of the membership interests in GGP-TRS

- L.L.C. {"GGP/Teachers"], 51% of the common stock of GGP Ivanhoe, Inc., ("GGP lvanhoe"), 51%
of the common stock of GGP Ivanhoe Ill, Inc., ("GGP Ivanhoe I11”), 50% of Quail Springs Mall
and Town East Mall, and a 50% general partnership interest in Westlake Retail Associates, Ltd.
{("Circle 7"} [collectively, the "Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates”], and a 100% common
stock interest in GGMI. As of such date, GGP/Homart owned interests in twenty-two shopping
centers, GGP/Homart Il owned 100% of ten shopping centers, GGP/Teachers owned interests
in five shopping centers, GGP Ivanhoe owned 100% of two shopping centers, GGP Ivanhoe ll|
{through certain wholly-owned subsidiaries) owned 100% of eight shopping centers, and Circle T
owned 100% of one shopping center, [collectively, with Quail Springs Mall and Town East Mall,
the "Unconsolidated Centers”}. Together, the Wholly-Owned Centers and the Unconsolidated
Centers comprise the “Company Portfolio” or the "Portfolio Centers” except for the center
owned and being developed by Circle T which has been excluded from the definition of, and
the operating statistics for, the Company Portfolio as it is not yet operational.
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During May 2000, the Operating Partnership formed GGPLP L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability
company (“the LLC"], by contributing its interest in a portfolio of 44 Wholly-Owned Centers
to the LLC in exchange for all of the common units of membership interest in the LLC. On
May 25, 2000, a total of 700,000 redeemable preferred units of membership interest in the LLC
[the "2000 RPUs"] were issued to an institutionat investor by the LLC, which yielded approximately
$170,625 in net proceeds to the Company which were used primarily to repay unsecured debt.
During April 2002, an additional 240,000 RPUs were issued by the LLC to an affiliate of the
same institutional investor (the “2002 RPUs") yielding net proceeds of approximately $58,365
which were used for various development and acquisition needs. Holders of the 2000 RPUs
and 2002 RPUs are entitled to receive cumulative preferential cash distributions per RPU at
a per annum rate of 8.95% of the $250 liquidation preference thereof (or $5.59375 per quarter)
prior to any distributions by the LLC to the Operating Partnership. Subject to certain limitations,
the RPUs may be redeemed in cash by the LLC for the liquidation preference amount plus
accrued and unpaid distributions and may be exchanged by the holders of the RPUs for an
equivalent amount of redeemable preferred stock of General Growth. Such preferred stock
provides for an equivalent 8.95% annual preferred distribution and is redeemable at the option
of General Growth for cash equal to the liquidation preference amount plus accrued and
unpaid distributions. The redemption right may be exercised at any time on or after May 25,
2005 with respect to the 2000 RPUs and April 23, 2007 with respect to the 2002 RPUs and the
exchange right generally may be exercised at any time on or after May 25, 2010 with respect
to the 2000 RPUs and April 23, 2012 with respect to the 2002 RPUs. The RPUs outstanding
at December 31, 2002 and 2001 have been reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements as a component of minority interest—Preferred Units at the then current total lig-
uidation preference amounts of $235,000 and $175.000, respectively.

During May 2002, 20,000 8.25% cumulative preferred units {the "CPUs"] were issued by the LLC
to an independent third-party investor yielding $5,000. The holders of these CPUs are entitled
to receive cumulative preferential cash distributions per CPU at a per annum rate of 8.25%
of the $250 liguidation preference thereof (or $5.15625 per quarter], prior to any distributions
by the LLC to the Operating Partnership. In addition and subject to certain conditions, the
holders of the CPUs may, on or after June 1, 2012, elect to exchange each CPU for shares of
Common Stock with a value as of the exchange closing date equal te the $250 per unit liquidation
preference of such CPU plus any accrued and unpaid distributions. However, after receipt

of such exchange election, General Growth may elect to fulfill such an exchange election in
whole or in part in cash. The CPUs outstanding at December 31, 2002 have been included in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements as a component of minority interest
—Preferred Units at the then current total liquidation preference amount of $5,000.

On July 10, 2002, in conjunction with the acquisition of the JP Realty Assets {Note 2], the
Operating Partnership issued 1,426,393 8.5% Series B Cumulative Preferred Units of limited
partnership interest in the Operating Partnership (the "Series B Preferred Units”]. The holders
of these Series B Preferred Units are entitled to receive cumulative preferential cash distributions
per Series B Preferred Unit at a per annum rate of 8.50% of the $50 per unit liquidation preference
thereof (or $1.0625 per unit per quarter], prior to any distributions by the Operating Partnership
to its common unit holders. [n addition and subject to certain conditions, the holders of the
Series B Preferred Units may elect to exchange each Series B Preferred Unit for common
units of limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership (which are convertible to
Common Stock as discussed below] with a value as of the exchange closing date equal to the
$50 per unit liquidation preference of such Series B Preferred Units plus any accrued and
unpaid distributions. The Series B Preferred Units outstanding at December 31, 2002 have
been included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as a component of minarity
interest—Preferred Units at the then current total liquidation preference amount of $71,320.




On November 27, 2002, in conjunction with GGP/Homart II's acquisition of Glendale Galleria
in Glendate [Los Angeles], California, the Operating Partnership issued 822,626 convertible
preferred Operating Partnership units (the “Series C Preferred Units”). The Series C Preferred
Units are entitled to receive cumulative preferential cash distributions per Series C Preferred
Unit at a per annum rate of 7% of the $50 per unit liquidation preference thereof {or $0.8750
per unit per quarter), prior to any distributions by the Operating Partnership to its common
unit holders. The Series C preferred units are convertible into approximately 667,000 com-
mon units of limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership, based upon an initial
conversion rate of .8109 cammon units per Series C Preferred Unit. The Series C Preferred
Units outstanding at December 31, 2002 have been included in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements as a component of minority interest—Preferred Units at the then current
total liquidation preference amount of $41,131.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company owned an approximate 76% generat partnership interest
in the Operating Partnership (excluding its preferred units of partnership interest as discussed
below). The remaining approximate 24% minority interest in the Operating Partnership is
held by limited partners that include trusts for the benefit of the families of the original
stockholders who initially owned and controlled the Company and subsequent contributors
of properties to the Company. These minority interests are represented by common units of
limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership {the "Units”]. The Units can be
redeemed at the option of the holders for cash or, at General Growth's election with certain
restrictions, for shares of Common Stock on a one-for-one basis. The holders of the Units
also share equally with General Growth's common stockholders on a per share basis in any
distributions by the Operating Partnership on the basis that one Unit is equivalent to one
share of Common Stock.

In connection with the issuance of the Depositary Shares and in order to enable General Growth
to comply with its obligations with respect to the PIERS, the Operating Partnership Agreement
was amended to provide for the issuance to General Growth of preferred units of limited
partnership interest (the "PIERS Preferred Units") in the Operating Partnership which have
rights, preferences and other privileges, including distribution, liquidation, conversion and
redemption rights, that mirror those of the PIERS. Accordingly, the Operating Partnership is
required to make all required distributions on the Preferred Units prior to any distribution of
cash or assets to the holders of the Units. At December 31, 2002, 100% of the PIERS
Preferred Units of the Operating Partnership (337,500] were owned by General Growth.

Changes in outstanding Operating Partnership Units [excluding the Preferred Units) for the
three years ended December 31, 2002, are as follows:

19.798.192

iAcquisitrioﬁ of outparcel ;VGreenwood Mall - e 7.563
| Conversion to commeon stock ' . (212,350)
| December 31, 2009 S ' | 19572498

hyefsion to common stock o (96.246)

| Becemier 31, 2002 19,556,267 |
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NOTE 2
SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION The Financial Accounting Standards Board [the "FASB”)
issued Statement No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”
("Statement 131") in June of 1997. Statement 131 requires disclosure of certain operating and
financial data with respect to separate business activities within an enterprise. The primary
business of General Growth and its consolidated affiliates is the owning and operation of
shopping centers. General Growth evaluates operating results and allocates resources on

a property-by-property basis. General Growth does not distinguish or group its consolidated
cperations on a geographic basis. Accordingly, General Growth has concluded it currently has
& single reportable segment for Statement 131 purposes. Further, all operations are within the
United States and no customer or tenant comprises more than 10% of consolidated revenues.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION The accompanying consolidated financial statements include
the accounts of the Company consisting of the fifty-seven centers, the Victoria Ward Assets,
the JP Realty Assets and the unconsolidated investments in GGP/Homart, GGP/Homart I,
GGP/Teachers, GGP Ivanhoe, GGP Ivanhoe I, Circte T, Quail Springs Mall, and Town East
Mall and, until the acquisition of its common stock by the Operating Partnership in January
2001 as discussed above, GGMI. Included in the consolidated financial statements are four joint
ventures, acquired in the JP Realty acquisition {Note 3], which are partnerships with non-con-
trolling independent joint venture partners. Income allocated to minority interests includes
the share of such properties’ operations (computed as the respective joint venture partner
ownership percentage} applicable to such non-controlling venture partners. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

REVENUE RECOGNITION Minimum rent revenues are recognized on a straight-line basis
over the terms of the related leases. As of December 31, 2002, approximately $62,294 has
been recognized as straight-line rents receivable [representing the current net cumulative
rents recognized prior to when billed and collectible as provided by the terms of the leases),
altl of which is included in tenant accounts receivable, net in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements. Also included in consolidated minimum rents in 2002 is approximately
$4,589 of accretion related to below-market leases at properties acquired as provided by
SFAS 141 and 142 as defined in Note 13. Overage rents are recognized on an accrual basis
once tenant sales revenues exceed contractual tenant lease thresholds. Recoveries from
tenants computed as a formula related to taxes, insurance and other shopping center operating
expenses are recognized as revenues in the period the applicable costs are incurred. Amounts
collected from tenants to allow the termination of their leases prior to their scheduled ter-
mination dates, approximately $8,303, $7,500 and $3,892 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively,
have been included in minimum rents. Fee income primarily represents GGM| management
and leasing fees in 2002 and 2001 due to the consolidation of GGMI and, in 2000, financing
fees and other ancitlary services performed by the Company for the benefit of its Unconsolidated
Real Estate Affiliates. Management and leasing fees of GGMI are recognized as services

are rendered.

The Company provides an allowance for doubtful accounts against the portion of accounts
receivable which is estimated to be uncollectible. Such allowances are reviewed periodically
based upon the recovery experience of the Company. Accounts receivable in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets are shown net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $7,817
and $5,523 as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS The Company considers all highly liquid investments pur-
chased with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The cash and
cash equivalents of the Company are held at two financial institutions.
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DEFERRED EXPENSES Deferred expenses consist principally of financing fees which are
amortized over the terms of the respective agreements and leasing commissions which are
amortized over the average life of the tenant leases. Deferred expenses in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets are shown at cost, net of accumulated amortization of $73,546 and
$61,282 as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS Statement No. 107, "Disclosure about the Fair Value of Financial
Instruments”, ["SFAS No. 107"), issued by the FASB, requires the disclosure of the fair value
of the Company’s financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate that value.
SFAS No. 107 does not apply to all batance sheet items and the Company has utilized mar-
ket information as available or present value techniques to estimate the amounts required
to be disclosed. Since such amounts are estimates, there can be no assurance that the dis-
closed value of any financial instrument could be realized by‘ immediate settlement of the
instrument. The Company considers the carrying value of its cash and cash equivalents to
approximate the fair value due to the short maturity of these investments. Based on borrowing
rates available to the Company at the end of 2002 and 2001 for mortgage loans with similar
terms and maturities, the fair value of the mortgage notes and other debts payable approxi-
mates $4,880,611 and carrying value at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. in addition,
the Company estimates that the fair value of its interest rate cap and swap agreements (Note 5)
related to consolidated debt at December 31, 2002 and 2001 is approximately $128,292} and
$3,487, respectively.

The Company purchased approximately $155,100 of marketable securities (bearing interest
at a weighted average variable annual rate of 2.9% at December 31, 2001 and having a weighted
average maturity of approximately 3.63 years). Such securities were classified as available-for-
sale securities and were recorded at cost which approximated market value at December 31,
2001. Such securities, which were subsequently sold in May 2002 to finance certain acquisitions
(Note 3], represented a portion of the commercial mortgage pass-through certificates issued
in December 2001 as more fully described in Note 5. At December 31, 2002, the Company
holds approximately $476 of common stock of certain former tenants who had settled their
previous obligations by transferring such common stock to the Company. These equity securities
have been reflected at their respective market values and were sold in February 2003 at prices
approximating such assigned values. In addition, the Company has certain derivative financial
instruments as described in Notes 5 and 13.

ACQUISITIONS Acquisitions of properties are accounted for utilizing the purchase method
(as revised by SFAS 141 and SFAS 142 - Note 13) and, accordingly, the results of operations are
included in the Company’s results of operations from the respective dates of acquisition. The
Company has used estimates of future cash flows and other valuation techniques to allocate
the purchase price of acquired property between land, buildings and improvements, equipment
and other identifiable debit and credit intangibles such as lease origination costs and acquired
below-market leases, respectively. The Company has included at December 31, 2002 net
unamortized lease origination cost of approximately $28,434 in buildings and improvements
and the net deferred credit related to acquired below-market leases of approximately $47,867
in accounts payable and accrued expenses. These identifiable debit and credit intangibles are
amortized over the terms of the acquired leases. The Company has financed the acquisitions
through a combination of secured and unsecured debt, issuance of Operating Partnership Units
and the proceeds of the public offerings of Depositary Shares and Common Stock as described
in Note 1.

PROPERTIES Real estate assets are stated at cost. Interest and real estate taxes incurred
during construction periods are capitalized and amertized on the same basis as the related
assets, For redevelopment of existing operating properties, the net book value of the existing

{87}




TES TO CONSO!

L

FED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (coninuedt

- {BOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT F_éR PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

(58]

property under redevelopment plus the cost for the construction and improvements incurred
in connection with the redevelopment are capitalized to the extent the capitalized costs of the
property do not exceed the estimated fair value of the redeveloped property when complete. The

real estate assets of the Company are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. A real estate asset
is considered to be impaired when the estimated future undiscounted operating cash flow is
less than its carrying value. To the extent an impairment has occurred, the excess of carrying
value of the asset over its estimated fair value will be charged to operations. Depreciation expense

is computed using the straight-line method based upon the following estimated useful lives:

Construction allowances paid to tenants are capitalized and depreciated over the average
lease term. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when incurred. Expenditures
for significant betterments and improvements are capitalized.

INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES The Company accounts for its investments in
unconsolidated affiliates using the equity method whereby the cost of an investment is adjusted
for the Company's share of equity in net income or loss from the date of acquisition and reduced
by distributions received. Generally, the operating agreements with respect to these unconsoli-
dated affiliates [Note 4) provide that elements of assets, liabilities and funding obligations are
shared in accordance with the Company’s ownership percentages (50% or $1% depending on
the affiliate). In addition, the Company generally shares in the profit and losses, cash flows and
other matters relating to its unconsolidated affiliates in accordance with its respective ownership
percentages. However, due to unpaid and accrued preferences on the GGMI preferred stock as
described in Note 4, the Company was entitled to 100% of the earnings (loss] and cash flows
generated by GGMI in 2000. As of January 1, 2001, GGMI has been consolidated due to the acqui-
sition of its common stock as discussed above. In addition, the differences between the Company’s
carrying value of its investment in the unconsolidated affiliates and the Company’s share of the
underlying equity of such uncansolidated affiliates (approximately $102,690 and $130,752 at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively} are amortized over lives ranging from five to forty
vears. Further, any advances to or loans (see Note 5) from the Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates
{loans equal approximately $102,053 and $94,996 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively}
have been included in the batance of the Company’s investments in Unconsotidated Affiliates.

INCOME TAXES General Growth elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust ("REIT")
under sections 856-860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code”], commencing with
its taxable year beginning January 1, 1993. To qualify as a REIT, General Growth must meet
a number of orginizational and operational requirements, including requirements to distribute
at least 90% of its ordinary taxable income and to distribute to stockholders or pay tax on
100% of capital gains and to meet certain asset and income tests. It is management’s intention
0 adhere to those requirements. As a REIT, General Growth will generally not be subject to
corporate level Federat income tax on taxable income it distributes currently to its stockholders.
{f General Growth fails to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, it will be subject to Federal income
taxes at regular corporate rates {including any applicable alternative minimum tax) and may
not be able to qualify as a REIT for four subsequent taxable years. Accordingly, the consolidated
statements of operations do not reflect a provision for income taxes. Even if the Company gualifies
for taxation as a REIT, General Growth may be subject to certain state and local taxes on its




income or property, and to Federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed taxable income.
However, such state and local income and other taxes have not been and are not expected to
be significant.

Earnings and profits, which determine the taxability of dividends to stockholders, differ from
net income reported for financial reporting purposes due to differences for Federal income
tax reporting purposes in, among other things, estimated useful lives, depreciable basis of
properties and permanent and timing differences on the inclusion of deductability of elements
of income and expense for such purposes.

The allocation of the common distributions declared and paid for income tax purposes are
as follows:

2007
76.8%
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One of the Company’'s subsidiaries, GGMI, is a taxable corporation and accordingly, state and
Federal income taxes on its net taxable income are payable by GGMI. GGMI has recognized a
benefit provided for income taxes in the amount of $2,696, $0 and $1,002 for 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively. The net deferred tax asset [liability}, net of a valuation allowance of $11,649
at December 31, 2002, was approximately $5,133 which was primarily comprised of net operating

loss carryforwards which are currently scheduled to expire in subsequent years through 2021.

At December 31, 2002, the Company concluded that it was more likely than not that this net

deferred tax asset will be realized in future periods.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ("EPS") Basic per share amounts are based on the weighted average
of common shares outstanding of 62,181,283 for 2002, 52,844,821 for 2001 and 52,058,320 for
2000. Diluted per share amounts are based on the total number of weighted average common
shares and dilutive securities outstanding of 70,851,003 for 2002, 52,906,549 for 2001 and
52,096,331 for 2000. The effect of the issuance of the PIERS is anti-dilutive with respect to
the Company’s calculation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31,
2001 and 2000 and therefore has been excluded. In addition, 384,375,737,693 and 1,115,516
options, respectively, outstanding for such years were not included in the computation of
diluted earnings per share either because the exercise price of the options was higher than
the average market price of the Common Stock for the applicable periods and therefore, the
effect would be anti-dilutive or because the conditions which must be satisfied prior to the
issuance of any such shares were not achieved during the applicable periods. The outstanding
Units have been excluded from the diluted earnings per share calculation as there would be
no effect on the EPS amounts since the minority interests’ share of income would also be
added back to net income.




The following are the reconciﬁations of the numerators and denominators of the basic and
diluted EPS:
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* In 2002, the effect of the issuance of the PIERS is dilutive and, therefore, no adjustment of net income is made as the PJERS dilution is reflected in denaminator of
the diluted EPS calculation.

MCCRELESS MALL On January 21, 2003, the Company entered into a contract for the sale
of McCreless Matt in San Antonio, Texas. The contract provides for the sale to occur no later
than March 31, 2003 for aggregate consideration of $15,000 (to be paid in cash at closing]. The
sale, as approved by General Growth's Board of Directors subsequent to year end, is subject to
customary closing conditions and, therefore, there can be no assurance that this transaction
will be completed on these or any other terms. The Company has reclassified the McCreless
Mall to property-held-for-sale as of January 21, 2003 and operations of the property will
subsequently be reported as discontinued operations until the sale date.

MINORITY INTEREST Income is allocated to the limited partners {the "Minority Interest”) based
on their ownership percentage of the Operating Partnership. The ownership percentage is
determined by dividing the numbers of Operating Partnership Units held by the Minority Interest
by the total Operating Partnership Units (excluding Preferred Units] outstanding. The issuance
of additional shares of Common Stock or Operating Partnership Units changes the percentage
ownership of both the Minority Interest and the Company. Since a Unit is generally redeemable
for cash or Common Stock at the option of the Company, it may be deemed to be equivalent
to a common share. Therefore, such transactions are treated as capital transactions and
result in an atlocation between stockholders’ equity and Minority interest in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets to account for the change in the ownership of the underlying
equity in the Operating Partnership.
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, "Reporting
Comprehensive Income”, requires that the Company disclose comprehensive income in addition
to net income. Comprehensive income is a more inclusive financial reporting methodology
that encompasses net income and all other changes in equity except those resulting from
investments by and distributions to equity holders. Included in comprehensive income but
not net income is unrealized holding gains or losses on marketable securities classified as
available-for-sale and unrealized gains or losses on financial instruments designated as cash
flow hedges (Note 13]. Also included in Comprehensive loss of 2002 is approximately $740
representing the 2002 change in the fair value of plan assets relating to a suspended pension plan
of Victoria Ward assumed by the Company upon acquisition (Note 3). In addition, one of the
Company’s unconsolidated affiliates received common stock of a large publicly-traded real
estate company as part of a 1998 transaction. For the year ended December 31, 2000, there were
holding gains on such securities of $177, net of minority interest of $67, which were recorded.
Buring 2001, portions of the Company’s holdings of the stock were sold and the cumulative
previously unrealized losses for the stock sold were realized. For the year ended December 31,
2002, there were no unrealized losses as the remaining stock was sold in March 2002 and
the remaining cumulative unrealized losses pertaining to such stock holdings were realized.

USE OF ESTIMATES The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. For example, significant estimates and assumptions have been made with
respect to useful lives of assets, capitalization of development and leasing costs, recoverable
amounts of receivables and deferred taxes, initial valuations and related amortization periods
of deferred costs and intangibles, particularly with respect to property acquisitions. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

RECLASSIFICATIONS Certain amounts in the 2001 and 2000 consolidated financial statements
have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

WHOLLY-OWNED PROPERTIES 2002 On May 28, 2002, the Company acquired the stock of Victoria
Ward, Limited, a privately held real estate corporation ["Victoria Ward”]. The total acquisition
price was approximately $250,000, including the assumption of approximately $50,000 of existing
debt, substantially all of which was repaid immediately following the closing. The $250,000
total cash requirement was funded from the proceeds of the sate of the Company’s investment
in marketable securities [related to the GGP MPTC financing (Note 5)} and from available cash
and cash equivalents. The principal Victoria Ward assets include 5 fee simple acres in Kakaako,
central Honolulu, Hawaii, currently improved with, among other uses, an entertainment, shopping
and dining district which includes Ward Entertainment Center, Ward Warehouse, Ward Village
and Village Shops. In total, Victoria Ward currently has 17 properties subject to ground leases
and 29 owned buildings containing in the aggregate approximately 878,000 square feet of
retail space, as well as approximately 441,000 square feet of office, commercial and industrial
leaseable area (collectively, the "Victoria Ward Assets”).

On July 10, 2002, the Company acquired JP Realty, Inc. ["JP Realty”], a publicly- held real estate
investment trust, and its cperating partnership subsidiary, Price Development Company,
Limited Partnership ["PDC"), by merging JP Realty and PDC with wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company, with PDC surviving the merger and all of its subsidiaries remaining in existence.
The total acquisition price was approximately $1,100,000 which included the assumption of
approximately $460,000 in existing debt and approximately $116,000 of existing cumulative
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preferred operating partnership units in PDC (510,000 Series A 8.75% units redeemable in
April 2004, 3,800,000 Series B 8.95% units redeemable in July 2004 and 320,000 Series C 8.75%
units redeemable in May 2005) which has been included in minority interest-Preferred Units in

the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Each unit of each series of the cumulative
redeemable preferred units in PDC has a liquidation value of $25 per unit and is convertible
at the option of the preferred unit holder in 2009 (2010 for the Series C Units] into 0.025 shares
of a newly created series of General Growth preferred stock [$1,000 per share base liguidation
preference) with payment and liquidation rights comparable to such preferred unit. Pursuant
to the terms of the merger agreement, the outstanding shares of JP Realty common stock
were converted into $26.10 per share of cash (approximately $431,470). Holders of common
units of limited partnership interest in PDC were entitled to receive $26.10 per unit in cash
or, at the election of the holder, .522 8.5% Series B Preferred Units (Note 1] per unit. Based
upon the elections of such holders, 1,426,393 Series B Preferred Units were issued and the
holders of the remaining common units of limited partnership interest of PDC received
approximately $23,600 in cash. JP Realty owned or had an interest in 51 properties, including
18 enclosed regiona[ mall centers (two of which were owned through controlling general
partnership interests], 26 anchored community centers {two of which were owned through

controlling general partnership interests), one free-standing retait property and 6 mixed-use

commercial/business properties, containing an aggregate of over 15,200,000 square feet of GLA
in 10 western states (collectively, the "JP Realty Assets”). The cash portion of the acquisition

price was funded from the net proceeds of certain new mortgage loans, a new $350,000
acquisition loan {Note 5], and available cash and cash equivalents.

On August 5, 2002, the Operating Partnership acquired from GGP/Homart, the Prince Kuhio
Plaza in Hilo, Hawaii for approximately $39,000. Prince Kuhio Plaza, which contains approximately
504,000 square feet of GLA, was acquired by the assumption by the Operating Partnership
of the allocated share of the GGP MPTC financing [Note 5) pertaining to Prince Kuhio Plaza
{approximately $24,000) and the payment to GGP/Homart of $7,500 in cash and $7,500 in the
form of a promissory note. Immediately following the acquisition, GGP/Homart issued a dividend
of $15,000 to its two co-investors, paid in the form of $7,500 in cash to NYSCRF and the $7,500
promissory note to the Operating Partnership. Upon receipt of the promissory note as a dividend,
the Operating Partnership caused the promissory note to GGP/Homart to be cancelled.

On August 26, 2002, concurrent with the formation of GGP/Teachers [Note 4], the Company,
through GGP/Teachers, acquired Galleria at Tyler in Riverside, California, Kenwood Towne Centre
in Cincinnati, Chio and Silver City Gatleria in Taunton, Massachusetts from an institutional investor
for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $477,000. Two existing non-recourse loans
on Silver City Galleria, with a then current principal balance aggregating $75,000 and bearing
interest at a rate per annum of 7.41%, were assumed and three new non-recourse mortgage
loans totaling approximately $337,000 were obtained. The new loans bear interest at a weighted
average rate per annum of LIBOR (1.38% at December 31, 2002) plus 76 basis points.

On September 13, 2002, the Company acquired Pecanland Mall, an enclosed regional mall in
Monroe, Louisiana, for approximately $72,000. The acquisition was funded by approximately
$22,000 of cash on hand and the assumption of a $50,000 existing non-recourse loan that bears
interest at a rate per annum equal to the sum of 3.0% plus the greater of [i/ LIBOR or {ii] 3.5%. The
loan is scheduled to mature in January of 2005 (subject to a right to extend for one additional year).

On December 4, 2002, the Company acquired Southland Mall, an enclosed regional mall in
Hayward, California. The aggregate consideration paid was approximately $89,000. The purchase
was financed with approximately $24,000 of cash on hand and a new 5-year (assuming alt
options to extend are exercised) $65,000 mortgage loan that bears interest at LIBOR plus 75

basis points.
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2001 During April 2001, GGP-Tucson Mall, L.L.C., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Operating
Partnership ("GGP-Tucson”), agreed to advance $20,000 to an unaffiliated developer in the
form of a secured promissory note (bearing interest at 8% per annum) collateralized by such
developer’s ownership interest in Tucson Mall, a 1.3 miltion square foot enclosed regional mall
in Tucson, Arizona. The promissory note was payable interest only and was due on demand.
GGP-Tucson had also entered into an option agreement to purchase Tucson Mall from such
developer and its co-tenants in title to the property. On August 15, 2001, the promissory note
was repaid in conjunction with GGP-Tucson’s completion of its acquisition of Tucson Mall
pursuant to the option agreement. The aggregate consideration paid by GGP-Tucson for Tucson
Mall was approximately $180,000 {subject to prorations and to certain adjustments and payments
to be made by GGP-Tucson). The consideration was paid in the form of cash borrowed under
the Operating Partnership’s revolving line of credit and an approximately $150,000 short-term
floating rate acquisition loan which was scheduled to mature in December 2001 but was
refinanced in December 2001. '

2000 On March 15, 2000, St. Cloud Mall L.L.C. acquired the Crossroads Center in St. Cloud
(Minneapolis], Minnesota. St. Cloud L.L.C. had previously held a $31,000 second mortgage
on the property and, pursuant to a purchase option, acquired the property for a purchase
price of approximatety $2,000 plus the assumption of the first mortgage on the property
lapproximately $46,600} and the balance of the second mortgage.

DEVELOPMENTS The Company has an ongoing program of renovations and expansions at
its properties including significant projects currently under construction or recently completed
at Alderwood Mall in Lynnwood {Seattle], Washington; Altamonte Mall in Altamonte Springs
Florida; Tucson Mall in Tucson, Arizona; and Fallbrook Mall in West Hilis (Los Angeles}, California.

During 1999, the Company formed the Circle T joint venture to develop a regicnal mall in
Westlake (Dallas), Texas as further described in Note 4 below. As of December 31, 2002, the
Company had invested approximately $17,368 in the joint venture. The Company is currently
obligated to fund additional pre-development costs of approximately $699. Actual development
costs are not finalized or committed but are anticipated to be funded from a construction loan
that is expected to be obtained. The retail site, part of a ptanned community which is expected
to contain a resort hotel, a golf course, luxury homes and corporate offices, is currently planned
to contain up to 1.3 million square feet of tenant space with up to six anchor stores, an ice rink and
a multi-screen theater. The construction project is currently anticipated to be completed in 2005.

On September 23, 2002, the Company commenced construction of the Jordan Creek Town Center
on a 200 acre site in West Des Moines, lowa. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had invested
approximately $30,431 in the project, including land costs. Actual development costs are estimated
to be approximately $199,000, which are anticipated to be funded primarily from a construction

loan expected to be obtained and from current and to-be-arranged unsecured revolving credit
facilities. At completion, currently scheduled for August 2004, the regional mall is planned to

contain up to two million square feet of tenant space with up to three anchor stores, a hotel

and an amphitheater.

The Company also owns and/or is investigating certain other potential development sites
(representing a net investment of approximately $20,156), including sites in Toledo, Ohio and
South Sacramento, California but there can be no assurance that development of these sites
will proceed.
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GGP/HOMART The Company owns 50% of the common stock of GGP/Homart with the
remaining ownership interest held by the New York State Common Retirement Fund {"NYSCRF").
GGP/Homart has elected to be taxed as a REIT. NYSCRF has an exchange right under the
GGP/Homart Stockholders Agreement, which permits it to convert its ownership interest in
GGP/Homart to shares of Common Stock of General Growth. If such exchange right is exercised,
the Company may alternatively satisfy such exchange in cash.

During 2002, as further described in Note 3, GGP/Hemart sold its interest in Prince Kuhio Plaza
to the Company for approximately $39,000. In addition, GGP/Homart acquired on December 19,
2002, for a purchase price of approximately $50,000, the 50% interest that it did not own in
The Woodlands Mall in Houston, Texas from The Woodlands Commercial Property Company,
LP. An additional $50,000 mortgage loan bearing interest at a rate per annum of LIBOR plus
250 basis points was placed at the property on December 31, 2002 which is scheduled to
mature in December 2006.

GGP/HOMART Il In November 1999, the Company, together with NYSCRF, the Company's
co-investor in GGP/Homart, formed GGP/Homart Il, a Delaware limited liability company which
is owned equally by the Company and NYSCRF. According to the membership agreement
between the venture partners, the Company and its joint venture partner generally share in
the profits and losses, cash flows and other matters relating to GGP/Homart Il in accordance
with their respective ownership percentages.

At the time of its formation, GGP/Homart Il owned 100% interests in Stonebriar Centre in Frisco
{Dallas), Texas; Altamonte Mall in Altamonte .Springs (Orlando], Florida; Natick Mall in Natick
(Boston), Massachusetts; and Northbrook Court in Northbrook (Chicagol, Illinois which were
contributed by the Company; and 100% interests in Alderwood Mall in Lynnwood [Seattle],
Washington; Carolina Place in Charlotte, North Carolina; and Mentclair Plaza in Los Angeles,
California which were contributed by NYSCRF. Certain of these seven malls were contributed
subject to existing financing [“Retained Debt"] in order to balance the net equity values of the
malls contributed by each of the venture partners. Such contribution arrangements between
the Company and NYSCRF have the effect of the Company having an additional contingent
abligation to fund any shortfalls GGP/Homart Il may incur if the non-recourse debt (approximately
$167,000 at December 31, 2002) related to Natick Mall is not funded by proceeds from any
subsequent sales or refinancing of Natick Mall.

Subsequent to its formation, GGP/Homart |l made three additional acquisitions. Specifically,
during March 2001, GGP/Homart Il acquired a 100% ownership interest in Witlowbrook Mall
in Houston, Texas for a purchase price of approximately $145,000. GGP/Homart |l financed
the Willowbrook acquisition with a new $102,000 10-year mortgage loan bearing interest at
6.93% per annum and approximately $43,000 in financing proceeds from a new mortgage loan
collateralized by the Stonebriar Center. Glendale Galleria was acquired by GGP/Homart If on
November 27, 2002, for approximately $415,000. A portion of the purchase price was paid by
the Operating Partnership’s issuance of 822,626 convertible preferred Operating Partnership
units having a liquidation preference of approximately $41,100 (Note 1). in addition, on
December 30, 2002, GGP/Homart Il acquired First Colony Mall, an enclosed regional mall in
Sugar Land, Texas for approximately $105,000. The acquisition was funded by cash on hand
and a new $67,000 mortgage loan bearing interest at a rate per annum of LIBOR plus 80
basis points with a scheduled maturity of January 2006.

GGP/TEACHERS On August 26, 2002, the Company formed GGP/Teachers, a new joint venture
owned 50% by the Company and 50% by Teachers’ Retirement System of the State of Illinois
[“{llinois Teachers”). Upon formation of GGP/Teachers, Clackamas Town Center in Portland,
Oregon, which was 100% owned by Illinois Teachers, was contributed to GGP/Teachers. In addition,
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concurrent with its formation, GGP/Teachers acquired Galleria at Tyler in Riverside, California,
Kenwood Towne Centre in Cincinnati, Ohio, and Silver City Galleria in Taunton, Massachusetts, as
described in Note 3. The Company’s share (approximately $112,000] of the equity of GGP/Teachers
was funded by a portion of new unsecured loans that total $150,000 (see Note 5) and bear interest
at LIBOR plus 100 basis points. According to the operating agreement between the venture

partners, the Company and Illinois Teachers generally share in the profits and losses, cash flows
and other matters relating to GGP/Teachers in accordance with their respective 50% ownership
percentages. Also pursuant to the operating agreement, and in exchange for a reduced initial
cash contribution by the Company, approximately $19,488 of debt related to the properties was
deemed to be Retained Debt and therefore, solely attributable to the Company. The Company
would be obtigated to fund any shortfalls of any subsequent sale or refinancing proceeds of

the properties against their respective loan balances {to the extent of such Retained Debt).

In addition, on December 19, 2002, Florence Mall in Florence, Kentucky was acquired by
GGP/Teachers for a purchase price of approximately $97,000 inctuding a new, two-year $60,000
mortgage loan that bears interest at a rate per annum of LIBOR plus 89 basis points and
matures in January 2008 (assuming an exercise of both extension options).

GGP IVANHOE [Il As of June 30, 1998, GGP lvanhoe Ili acquired the U.S. Prime Property, Inc.
("USPPI"} portfolio through a merger of a wholly-owned subsidiary of GGP Ivanhoe Ill into
USPPI. The common stock of GGP Ivanhoe Il is owned 51% by the Company and 49% by an
affiliate of lvanhce Cambridge Inc. of Montreal, Quebec, Canada (“Ilvanhoe™). GGP ivanhoe llI
has elected to be taxed as a REIT. The properties acquired include: Landmark Mall in Alexandria,
Virginia; Mayfair Mall and adjacent office buildings in Wauwatosa {Milwaukee), Wisconsin;
Meadows Mall in Las Vegas, Nevada; Northgate Mall in Chattanooga, Tennessee; Oglethorpe
Mall in Savannah, Georgia; and Park City Center in Lancaster, Pennsylvania. Effective as of
September 28, 1999, GGP Ivanhoe Il acquired Oak View Mall in Omaha, Nebraska and on
December 22, 1999, Eastridge Shopping Center in San Jose, Catifornia.

In conjunction with the GGP MPTC financing as defined and described in Note 5, GGP Ivanhoe lil
entered into an interest rate swap agreement with the Operating Partnership. The swap agreement
effectively converts approximately $90,790 of GGP Ivanhoe ill debt bearing interest at a weighted

average fixed rate of 5.33% per annum, which was obtained in the GGP MPTC transaction, to
variable rate debt bearing interest at a weighted average rate per annum of LIBOR plus 110

basis points. The swap agreement qualifies as a cash flow hedge for the Operating Partnership

and a fair value hedge for GGP Ivanhoe IlI.

The joint venture partner in GGP Ivanhoe Il is also the Company’s joint venture partner in
GGP Ivanhoe (described below]. The Company and lvanhoe share in the profits and losses,
cash flows and other matters relating to GGP Ivanhoe [l in accordance with their respective
ownership percentages except that certain major operating and capital decisions (as defined
in the stockholders’ agreement} require the approval of both stockholders. The stockholder’s
agreement further provides that any stockholder wishing to sell its stock to a third party must
offer the stock to the other stockholder and, after the fifth anniversary of the stockholder
agreement (July 30, 2003], each stockholder has the right to offer to sell its stock to the other
stockholder. Accordingly, the Company is accounting for GGP Ivanhoe Il using the equity method.

GGP IVANHOE GGP Ivanhoe owns The Oaks Mall in Gainesville, Florida and Westroads Mall
in Omaha, Nebraska. The Company contributed approximately $43,700 for its 51% ownership
interest in GGP Ivanhoe and Ivanhoe owns the remaining 49% ownership interest. The terms
of the stockholders’ agreement are similar to those of GGP Ivanhoe Ill. As certain major
decisions concerning GGP Ivanhoe must be made jointly by the Company and Ivanhoe, the
Company is accounting for GGP Ivanhoe using the equity method.
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TOWMN EAST MALL / QUAIL SPRINGS MALL The Company owns a 50% interest in Town East
Mall, located in Mesquite, Texas and a 50% interest in Quail Springs Matl in Oklahoma City,
Oklahoma. The Company shares in the profits and losses, cash flows and other matters relating
to Town East Mall and Quail Springs Mall in accordance with its ownership percentage.

CIRCLE T At December 31, 2002, the Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, owns a 50%
general partnership interest in Westlake Retail Associates, Ltd. ("Circle T"). AIL Investment,

LP, an affiliate of Hillwocd Development Company, [“Hillwood"] is the limited partner of Circle T.

Circle Tis currently developing the Circle T Ranch Mall, a regional matl in Dallas, Texas, scheduled
for completion in 2005. Development costs are expected to be funded by a construction loan

to be obtained by the joint venture and capital contributions by the joint venture partners.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company has made contributions of approximately $17.368 to

the project for pre-development costs and Hillwood has contributed approximately $11,200,

mostly in the form of tand costs and related predevelopments costs.

GGMi At December 31, 2000, the Operating Partnership owned all of the non-voting preferred
stock of GGMI representing 95% of the equity interest. Certain key current and former employees
of the Operating Partnership held the remaining 5% equity interest through ownership of 100%
of the common stock of GGMI, which was entitled to all voting rights in GGMI. Accordingly,

the Company utilized the equity method to account for its ownership interest in GGM!. As no
preferred stock dividends had been paid by GGMI, the Company had been allocated 100% of
the earnings (loss) and cash flows generated by GGMI since 1996, The Operating Partnership
also had advanced funds to GGMI, at interest rates ranging from 8% to 14% per annum, which
were scheduled to mature by 2016. The loans required payment of interest only until maturity.

On January 1, 2001 the Operating Partnership acquired 100% of the common stock of GGMI
as described in Note 1 and the operations of GGMI have been fully consolidated with the
Company as of and for the years ended December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2002.
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SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED REAL ESTATE AFFILIATES Following is
summarized financial information for the Company’s Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates as of December 31, 2002 and
2001 and for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.
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(*) At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the net investment in reat estate includes approximately $28,563 and $27,400, respectively, of assets of the Circle T joint venture which
are currently categorized as developments in progress.
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Significant accounting policies used by the Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates are the same as those used by the Company.
* Includes depreciation and amortization.
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Mortgage notes and other debts payable have various maturities through 2095 (weighted average

scheduled remaining term equal to 4.7 years at December 31, 2002] and consisted of the fotlowing:

$ 2289811

9,472,310 959,696
B30 | __ 207000
T 2068690 | 1,188,696
$-4892319 | $_3398,207

Land, buildings and equipment related to the mortgage notes payable with an aggregate

cost of approximately $6,343,793 at December 31, 2002 have been pledged as collateral. Certain
properties, including those within the portfolios collateralized by commercial mortgage-backed
securities, are subject to financial performance covenants, primarily debt service coverage ratios.

FIXED RATE DEBT Mortgage notes and other debt payable Mortgage notes and other debt
payable consist primarily of fixed rate non-recourse notes collateralized by individuat or
groups of properties or equipment. Also included in mortgage notes and other debt payable
are $100,000 of ten-year senior unsecured notes, bearing interest at a fixed rate of 7.29%
per annum, which were issued by PDC in March 1998 and were assumed by the Company in
conjunction with the acquisition of JP Realty (Note 2]. Interest payments on these notes are
due semi-annually on March 11 and September 11 of each year and principal payments of
$25,000 are due annually beginning March 2005. The fixed rate notes bear interest ranging
from 1.81% to 10.00% per annum (weighted average of 6.42% per annum), and require monthly
payments of principal and/or interest. Certain properties are pledged as collateral for the
related mortgage notes. Substantially all of the mortgage notes payable as of December 31,
2002 are non-recourse to the Company. Certain mortgage notes payable may be prepaid but are
generally subject to a prepayment penalty of a yield-maintenance premium or a percentage
of the loan balance. Certain loans have cross-default provisions and are cross-collateralized
as part of a group of properties. Under certain cross-default provisions, a default under any
mortgage notes included in a cross-defaulted package may constitute a default under all such
mortgage notes and may lead to acceleration of the indebtedness due on each property within
the collateral package. In general, the cross-defaulted properties are under common ownership.
However, GGP Ivanhoe debt collateralized by two GGP Ivanhoe centers (totaling $125,000) is
cross-defaulted and cross-collateralized with debt collateralized by eleven Wholly-Owned centers.

VARIABLE RATE DEBT Mortgage notes and other debt payable Variable rate mortgage notes
and other debt payable at December 31, 2002 consist primarily of approximately $852,691

of collateralized mortgage-backed securities (approximately $665,790 of which are currently
subject to fixed rate interest swap agreements as described below and in Note 13), the $275,000
outstanding on the loan obtained in conjunction with the JP Realty acquisition, the $172,500
outstanding on the Company's Term Loan, the approximately $130,000 of revolving credit of

PDC, the approximately $91,000 of construction loans assumed in the JP Realty acquisition, and
the $150,000 in bank loans obtained in September 2002, all as described below. The remaining
variable rate loans are individual notes collateralized by individual properties and equipment.
The loans bear interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR plus 60 to 250 basis points.

NOTES
MORTGAGE NOTES
AND OTHER DEBT
PAYABLE
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Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities In August 1999, the Company issued $500,000 of
commercial mortgage-backed securities [the "Ala Moana CMBS”} collateralized by the Ala

Moana Center. The securities were comprised of notes which bore interest at rates per annum
ranging from LIBOR plus 50 basis points to LIBOR plus 275 basis points [weighted average

equat to LIBOR plus 95 basis points), calculated and payable manthly. The notes were repaid
in December 2001 with a portion of the proceeds of the GGP MPTC financing described below.
In conjunction with the issuance of the Ala Moana CMBS, the Company arranged for an interest
rate cap agreement, the effect of which was to limit the maximum interest rate the Company

would be required to pay on the securities to 9% per annum. Payments received pursuant to

the interest rate cap agreement for the year ended December 31, 2000 were approximately
$77, which were reflected as a reduction in net interest expense. No amounts were received
on the cap agreement in 2001. Approximately $438,000 of the proceeds from the sale of the
Ala Moana CMBS was used by the Company to repay the short-term mortgage loan obtained
in July 1999 to enable it to purchase the Ala Moana Center. The remainder was utilized by
the Company for general working capital purposes including repayments of outstanding

indebtedness under the Company’s Credit Facility.

In September 1999, the Company issued $700,229 of commercial mortgage-backed securities
[the "GGP-lvanhoe CMBS") cross-collateralized and cross-defaulted by a portfolio of nine
regional malls and an office complex adjacent to one of the regional malls. The properties
in the portfolio were Mayfair Mall and adjacent office buildings in Wauwatosa [Milwaukee],
Wisconsin; Park City Center in Lancaster, Pennsylvania; Oglethorpe Mall in Savannah, Georgia;
Landmark Mall in Alexandria, Virginia, all centers owned by GGP Ivanhoe lIl; and Northgate
Mall in Chattanooga, Tennessee; The Boulevard Mall in Las Vegas, Nevada; Regency Square
Mall in Jacksonville, Florida; Valley Plaza Shopping Center in Bakersfield, California; Northridge
Fashion Center in Northridge (Los Angeles), California, all Wholly-Owned Centers. The GGP-
lvanhoe CMBS was comprised of notes which bore interest at rates per annum ranging from
LIBOR plus 52 basis points to LIBOR plus 325 basis points [weighted average equal to LIBOR
plus approximately 109 basis points), calculated and payable monthly. The notes were repaid
in December 2001 with a portion of the proceeds of the GGP MPTC financing described below.
In conjunction with the issuance of the GGP-Ilvanhoe CMBS, the Company arranged for an
interest rate cap agreement, the effect of which was to limit the maximum interest rate the
Company would be required to pay on the securities to .03% per annum. Payments received
pursuant to the interest rate cap agreement for the year ended December 31, 2000 were
approximately $366, which were reflected as a reduction in net interest expense. No amounts
were received on the cap agreement in 2001. Approximatety $340,000 of the proceeds from
the sale of the GGP-ivanhoe CMBS repaid amounts collateralized by the GGP Ivanhoe llI
properties in the GGP-lvanhoe CMBS Portfolio of properties and the remaining approximately
$360,000 repaid amounts collateralized by Wholly-Owned properties in the GGP-lvanhoe
CMBS portfolio of properties.

In early December 2001, the Operating Partnership and certain Unconsolidated Real Estate
Affiliates completed the placement of $2,550,000 of non-recourse commercial mortgage pass-
through certificates (the “GGP MPTC"]. The GGP MPTC is collateralized by 27 malls and one
office building, including 19 malls owned by certain Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates.
The GGP MPTC is comprised of both variable rate and fixed rate notes which require monthly
payments of principal and interest. The certificates represent beneficial interests in three loan
groups made by three sets of borrowers {(GGP/Homart-GGP/Homart I, Wholly-Owned and GGP
Ivanhoe Ill]. The original principal amount of the GGP MPTC was comprised of $1,235,000
attributed to the Operating Partnership, $900,000 to GGP/Homart and GGP/Homart I and
$415,000 to GGP lvanhoe Ill. The three loan groups are comprised of variable rate notes with
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a 36 month initial maturity [with two no cost 12-month extension options), variable rate notes
with a 51 month initial maturity (with two no cost 18-month extension options) and fixed rate
notes with a 5 year maturity. The 36 month variable rate notes bear interest at rates per annum
ranging from LIBOR plus 60 to 235 basis points weighted average equal to 79 basis points},
the 51 month variable rate notes bear interest at rates per annum ranging from LIBOR plus
70 to 250 basis points {weighted average equal to 103 basis points] and the 5 year fixed rate
notes bear interest at rates per annum ranging from approximately 5.01% to 6.18% {weighted
average equal to 5.38%]. The extension options with respect to the variable rate notes are subject
to obtaining extensions of the interest rate protection agreements which were required to be
obtained in conjunction with the GGP MPTC. The GGP MPTC yielded approximately $470,000
of net proceeds (including amounts attributed to the Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates)
which were utilized for loan repayments and temporary investments in cash equivalents and
marketable securities. On closing of the GGP MPTC financing, approximately $94,996 of
such proceeds attributable to GGP/Homart and GGP/Homart Il were loaned to the Operating
Partnership. The loans, which were comprised of approximately $16,596 by GGP/Homart
and $78,400 by GGP/Homart Il, bear interest at a rate of 5.5% per annum on the remaining
outstanding batance and mature on March 30, 2003.

Concurrent with the issuance of the certificates, the Company purchased interest rate protection
agreemehts (structured to limit the Company’'s exposure to interest rate fluctuations in a
manner similar to the interest rate cap agreements purchased in connection with the Ala Moana
and GGP-lvanhoe CMBS), and simultaneously an equal amount of interest rate protection
agreements were sold to fully offset the effect of these agreements and to recoup a substantiat
portion of the cost of such agreements. Further, to achieve a more desirable balance between
fixed and variable rate debt, the Company entered into $666,933 of swap agreements,
Approximately $575,000 of such swap agreements are with independent financial services
firms and approximately $920,790 is with GGP lvanhoe Il! to provide lvanhee with only variable
rate debt (see Note 4). The notional amounts of such swap agreements decline over time to
an aggregate of $25,000 at maturity of the 51 month variable rate loans (assuming both 18
month extension options are exercised). The swap agreements convert the related variable
rate debt to fixed rate debt currently bearing interest at a weighted average rate of 4.85%
per annum. Such swap agreements have been designated as hedges of related variable rate
debt as described in Note 13.

Credit Facilities The Company’s $200,000 unsecured revolving Credit Facility was originally
scheduled to mature on July 31, 2000. On June 23, 2000 the Company prepaid all remaining
outstanding principal amounts and terminated the Credit Facility. The Credit Facility bore
interest at a floating rate per annum equal to LIBOR plus 80 to 120 basis points depending
upon the Company's leverage ratio. The Credit Facility was subject to financial performance
covenants including debt-to-market capitalization, minimum earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA"] ratios and minimum equity values.

As of July 31, 2000, the Company obtained a new unsecured revolving credit facility {the
"Revolver”) in a maximum aggregate principal amount of $135,000 [cumulatively increased
to $185,000 through December 2001). The outstanding balance of the Revotver was fully repaid
from a portion of the proceeds of the GGP MPTC financing described above and the Revolver
was terminated. The Revolver bore interest at a floating rate per annum equal to LIBOR plus
100 to 190 basis points, depending on the Company’s average leverage ratio. The Revolver was
subject to financial performance covenants including debt to value and net worth ratios,
EBITDA ratios and minimum equity values.
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In January 2001, GGM! borrowed $37,500 under a new revolving line of credit obtained by GGMI
and an affiliate, which was guaranteed by General Growth and the Operating Partnership. This
revolving line of credit was scheduled to mature in July 2003 but was fully repaid in December
2001 from a portion of the proceeds of the GGP MPTC financing described above and the line
of credit was terminated. The interest rate per annum with respect to any borrowings varied
from LIBOR plus 100 to 190 basis points depending on the Company’s average leverage ratic.

In conjunction with the acquisition of JP Realty, an existing $200,000 unsecured credit facility
{the "PDC Credit Facility”) with a balance of approximately $120,000 was assumed. The PDC
Credit Facility has a principal balance of $130,000 at December 31, 2002, a scheduled maturity
of July 2003 and bears interest at the option of the Company at [i/ the higher of the federal

funds rate plus 50 basis points or the prime rate of Bank One, NA, or i} LIBOR plus a spread
of 85 to 145 basis points. The LIBOR spread is determined by PDC'’s credit rating. The PDC Credit
Facility, which is expected to be repaid or extended in conjunction with the new credit facility to be
obtained as discussed below, contains restrictive covenants, including limitations on the amount
of outstanding secured and unsecured debt, and requires PDC tc maintain certain financial ratios.

In March 2003, the Company reached a preliminary agreement with a group of banks to establish
a new revolving credit facility and term loan. The total amount to be financed is expected to
be approximately $700 million, have a term of three years and provide for partial amortization
of a portion of the principal balance of the term loan in the second and third years. The proceeds
are anticipated to be used to repay and consolidate existing financing including amounts due
on the PDC Credit Facility, the Term Loan, the JP Realty acquisition loan, and to Unconsolidated
Real Estate Affiliates.

Interim Financing In January 2000, the Company obtained a new $200,000 unsecured short-term
bank loan. The Company's initial draw under this loan was $120,000 in January 2000 and the
remaining available amounts were fully drawn at June 30, 2000. The bank loan bore interest
at a rate per annum of LIBOR plus 150 basis points and was refinanced on August 1, 2000
with the Revolver and the Term Loan described below.

As of July 31, 2000, the Company cobtained an unsecured term loan [the “Term Loan")in a
maximum principal amount of $100,000. As of September 30, 2001, the maximum principal
amount of the Term Loan was increased to $255,000 and, as of such date, all amounts avail-
able under the Term Loan were fully drawn. Term Loan proceeds were used to fund ongoing
redevelopment projects and repay a portion of the remaining balance of the bank loan described
in the prior paragraph immediately above. During the fourth quarter of 2001, approximately
$48,000 of the principal amount of the Term Loan was repaid from a portion of the 2001 Offering.
The Term Loan, which is expected to be repaid or extended at or prior to its scheduled maturity
of July 31, 2003 by the new credit facility discussed above, bears interest at a rate per annum of
LIBOR plus 100 to 170 basis points depending on the Company's average leverage ratio.

In July 2002, in conjunction with the JP Realty acquisition, the Company obtained a new $350,000
loan from a group of banks. The loan, with a an outstanding principal balance of $275,000 at
December 31, 2002, bears interest at a rate (as elected by the borrower) per annum equal to
LIBOR plus 150 basis points and matures on July 9, 2003. The loan, which is expected to be
extended or refinanced by the new credit facility discussed above, provides for periodic partial
amortization of principal prior to the maturity of the loan (aggregating not less than $60,000
paid prior to the maturity date) and for additional prepayments that may be required under
certain circumstances including the refinancing of certain indebtedness.
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During August 2002, the Company, through Victoria Ward, arranged for an aggregate of $150,000
in loans from two seperate groups of banks. On August 23, 2002, the Company borrowed an
initial $80,000 and, on September 19, 2002, the Company borrowed an additional $70,000. The
two-year loans provide for quarterly partial amortization of principal, bear interest at a rate
(as elected by the borrower] per annum of LIBOR plus 100 basis points, and require the
remaining balance to be paid at maturity {unless extended, under certain conditions, for an
additional six months).

Construction Loan During April 1999, the Company received $30,000 representing the initial
loan draw on a $110,000 construction loan facility. The facility was collateralized by and provided
financing for the RiverTown Crossings Mall development (including outparcel development)
in Grandville (Grand Rapids}, Michigan. The construction loan provided for periodic funding
as construction and leasing continued and bore interest at a rate per annum of LIBOR plus
150 basis points. As of July 17, 2000 additional loan draws of approximately $80,000 had been
made and no further amounts were available under the construction loan facility. Interest was
due monthly. The loan had been scheduled to mature on June 30, 2001 and was refinanced on
June 28, 2001 with a non-recourse, long-term mortgage toan. The new $130,000 non-recourse
mortgage loan bears interest at 7.53% per annum and matures on July 1, 2011.

In connection with the acquisition of JP Realty, the Company assumed a $47,340 construction
loan of Spokane Malt Development Company Limited Partnership, and a $50,000 construction
toan of Provo Mall Development Company, Ltd., for bath of which PDC is the general partner.
The loans, which bore interest at a rate per annum of LIBOR plus 150 basis points, were
scheduled to mature in July 2003 but were replaced in February 2003 with a new, long-term
non-recourse mortgage loan. The new loan, allocated $53,000 to the Provo Mall and $42,000
to the Spokane Mall, is collateralized by the two centers, bears interest at a rate per annum
of 4.42% and matures in February 2008.

Letters of Credit As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had outstanding letters
of credit of $12,104 and $13,200, respectively, primarily in connection with special real estate
assessments and insurance requirements.
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The extraordinary items resulted from prepayment penalties and unamortized deferred financing

costs related to the early extinguishment, primarily through refinancings, of mortgage notes
payable. In 2002, the basic and diluted per share impact of the extraordinary items was $0.02.
The basic and the diluted per share impact of the extraordinary items in 2001 was $0.27.

The Company receives rental income from the leasing of retail shopping center space under
operating leases. The minimum future rentals based on operating leases of Wholly-Owned
Centers held as of December 31, 2002 are as follows:

A4BBIG
392,742
345,949

‘Minimum future rentals do not include amounts which are payable by certain tenants based upon
a percentage of their gross sales or as reimbursement of shopping center operating expenses.

The tenant base includes national and regional retail chains and local retailers, and consequenttly,
the Company'’s credit risk is concentrated in the retail industry.

GGMI In 2000, GGMI had been contracted to provide management, leasing, development and
construction management services for the Wholly-Owned Centers. In addition, certain shopping
center advertising and payroll costs of the properties were paid by GGMI and reimbursed by the
Company. Total costs included in the consolidated financial statements related to agreements
between the Wholly-Owned Centers and GGMI are as follows:

Management and Leasing Fees : $ 22,834

[ Cost Reimbursements 55,937

Vear Ended Deeamber 31, 2000 |
:

:: Development Costs
s i s W Sy

On January 1, 2001, in connection with the acquisition of the common stock of GGMI, the
Company and GGMI agreed to concurrently terminate the management contracts with respect
to the Wholly-Owned Centers. Since January 1, 2001, the Wholly-Owned Centers have been
self-managed under the same standards and procedures in effect prior to January 1, 2001.

NOTES RECEIVABLE-OFFICERS During 1998 certain officers of the Company issued to the
Company an aggregate of $3,164 of promissory notes in connection with their exercise of
options to purchase an aggregate of 166,000 shares of the Company’'s Common Stock. During
2000, the Company made aggregate advances of $7,149 in conjunction with the exercise of
options to purchase an aggregate 270,000 shares of Common Stock by officers. In June 2000,
a $1,120 loan was repaid by one of the officers. Also in 2000, the Company forgave approximately




$150 of other notes receivable from an officer {previously reflected in prepaid expenses and
other assets). During 2001, the Company made additional advances to officers of an aggregate
of $10,441 in conjunction with the exercise of options to purchase an aggregate of 330,000 shares
of Common Stock. In early 2002, additional advances of $4,243 were made to officers in connection
with the exercise of options to acquire approximately 135,000 shares of Common Stock.

As of April 30, 2002, the Company's Board of Directors decided to terminate the availability of
loans to officers to exercise options on the Common Stock. In conjunction with this decision,
the Company and the officers restructured the terms of the promissory notes, including the
approximately $2,823 previously advanced in the form of income tax withholding payments
made by the Company on behalf of such officers. Each of the officers repaid no less than 60%
of the principal and 100% of the interest due under such officer’s note as of April 30, 2002
and the remaining amounts, approximately $10,141 as of April 30, 2002, were represented by
amended and restated promissory notes. These amended and restated, fully recourse notes
are payable in monthly installments of principal and interest (at a market rate which varies
monthly computed at LIBOR plus 125 basis points per annum) until fully repaid in May 2009
{or within 90 days of the officer’s separation from the Company, if earlier]. In October 2002,
a voluntary prepayment of approximately $500 was received from one of the officers. As of
December 31, 2002, the current outstanding balance under the promissory notes was $8,698,
including approximately $926 relating to income tax withholding payments which have been
reflected in prepaid expenses and other assets.

STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN The Company's 1993 Stock incentive Plan provides incentives to attract
and retain officers and key employees. An aggregate of 3,000,000 shares of Common Stock
have been authorized for issuance under the plan. Options are granted by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors at an exercise price of not less than 100% of the fair
market vatlue of the Common Stock on the date of grant. The term of the option is fixed by
the Compensation Committee, but no option is exercisable more than 10 years after the date
of the grant. Options granted to officers and key employees are for 10-year terms and are
generally exercisable in either 33%% or 20% annual increments from the date of the grants.
However, during 2000, 53,319 options were granted to certain employees under the Stock
Incentive Plan [of which 5,000 were forfeited during 2000) with the same terms as the TS0's
granted in 2000 (as described and defined below]. Options granted to non-employee directors
are exercisable in full commencing on the date of grant and expire on the tenth anniversary
of the date of the grant.

In February 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the adoption of the Company's
2003 Stock incentive Plan, to replace the existing Stock Incentive Plan which, by its terms,
expires in April 2003. The 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, which is subject to stockholder approval
at 2003 annual meeting, provides for the issuance of up to 3,000,000 shares of Common Stock.

NOTE ¢
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT
AND STOCK PLANS
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A summary of the status of the options granted under the Company’'s 1993 Stock Incentive

Plan as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 and changes during the year ended on those

dates is presented below.

Weighted

Average
Exercise
Price

dtstanding at beginning-of year
anted :

ercised

- Forfeited

| Outstanding at end of year

ercisable at end of year

%2379 |

'

Lo 213000 ¢

i

i

$2,100) !
542,219

~[350,000) | -

217,500 |.
1698006 |-
cem e

s
$ 30.50 % 20.
- » |
| % 3.0 $ 2.62

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Weighted
Average
- Exercise- -

§3397 | 205319 | §

@ R
Q(Lﬁ)@%@g
B @ <8 @ D ]

§39.60 | (2765000 | $

(14200  §

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding pursuant to

the 1993 Stock Incentive Plan at December 31, 2002:

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life

Range Of
. Exercise Prices
| $27.81 - $29.97
-$31.75 - $33.95
36.03 - $40.74
50.03 - $51.28

Outstanding
At 12/31/02
: 5.2 years

7.7 years

7.2 years

9.7 years
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1998 INCENTIVE PLAN General Growth also has an incentive stock plan entitled the 1998
Incentive Stock Plan [the “1998 Incentive Plan”). Under the 1998 Incentive Plan, stock incentive
awards in the form of threshold-vesting stock options ("TSOs") are granted to employees. The
exercise price of the TSOs to be granted to a participant will be the Fair Market Value ("FMV")
of a share of Commaon Stock on the date the TS0 is granted. The threshold price {the “Threshold
Price”) which must be achieved in order for the TSO to vest will be determined by multiplying
the FMV on the date of grant by the Estimated Annual Growth Rate (currently set at 7% in the
1998 Incentive Plan) and compounding the product over a five-year period. Shares of the Common
Stock must achieve and sustain the Threshold Price for at least 20 consecutive trading days
at any time over the five years following the date of grant in order for the 750 to vest. All TSOs
granted will have a term of 10 years but must vest within 5 years of the grant date in order
to avoid forfeiture. As of December 31, 2002, increases in the price of the Common Stock since
the respective grant dates has caused all TSOs granted in 1999, 2000 and 2001 to become
vested, as detailed below. The aggregate number of shares of Common Stock which may be
subject to TSOs issued pursuant to the 1998 Incentive Plan may not exceed 2,000,000, subject
to certain customary adjustments to prevent dilution.

The following is @ summary of the options issued under the 1998 Incentive Plan that have
been awarded as of December 31, 2002:

, | W00 . 2000 , 9999
- Exercise price ] , 4 =7 S .73 E $29.97 $31.69
Threshold Vesting ' : _ : ?
. .Stock Price r 143 $68.70 | $42.03 .‘ B bh.4h
| Fair value of options on grant date oo $ 220 | 6 149 . § 1.36
| Original Grant Shares 675 329996 | 281080 | 313986
! Forfeited at December 31,2002 3 300 (46,347) (36,242) ‘ (93,993)
[ Vested and exchanged for cash at December 37, 2002 o (974,467] t 1143,478) {144, 636)
Vested and exercised December 31, 2002 - - _B2,867) i (30,268) ‘ (37.730)
1998 Incentive Plan TSOs outstanding at. December 31, 2002 - 78,327 21,022 “ 378588

The fair value of each option grant for 2002, 2001 and 2000 for the 1993 Stock Incentive Plan
and the 1998 Incentive Plan was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following assumptions:

| Risk-free interest rate T , - 6.I9%

| Dividend yield ' = 3 L 6.30%

CExpected life T - - 3 | 5.2 years
Expected volatility - - 18.2%

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN During 1999, General Growth established the General

Growth Properties, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP”) to assist eligible employees
in acquiring a stock ownership interest in General Growth. A maximum of 500,000 shares of
Common Stock is reserved for issuance under the ESPP. Under the ESPP, eligible employees
make payroll deductions over a six-month purchase period, at which time, the amounts withheld

are used to purchase shares of Common Stock at a purchase price equal to 85% of the lesser
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of the closing price of a share of Common Stock on the first or last trading day of the purchase
period. Purchases of stock under the ESPP are made on the first business day of the next month
after the close of the purchase period. As of January 6, 2003, an aggregate of 223,722 shares
of Common Stock have been sold under the ESPP, including 23,258 shares for the purchase
period ending December 31, 2002 which were purchased on December 31, 2002 at a price of
$42.50 per share.

In September 2002, an officer was granted 50,000 shares of restricted Common Stock pur-
suant to the Stock Incentive Plan. As the restricted stock represents an incentive for future
periods, the compensation expense of approximately $2,500 will be recognized ratably over
the vesting period of the Common Stock [through September 2005).

STOCK OPTION PRO FORMA DATA During the second quarter of 2002, the Company elected
to adopt the fair value based employee stock-based compensation expense recognition pro-
visions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” ["SFAS 123”), prospectively. The Company previously applied the intrinsic
value based expense recognition provisions set forth in APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees” ("APB 257). SFAS 123 states that the adoption of the fair value based
method is a change to a preferable method of accounting. In applying APB 25 in accounting
for the Stock Incentive Plan, the 1998 Incentive Plan and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan
as provided by Interpretation 44 as defined and further described in Note 13, no compensation
costs have been recognized in 2001 and 2000 were recorded. Had compensation costs for
the Company's plans been determined based on the fair value at the grant date for options
granted in 2001 and 2000 in accordance with the method required by SFAS 123, the Company's
net income available to common stockholders and earnings per share would have been

reduced to the pro forma amounts as follows:

' Year Ended December 31,

-recorded for options granted

{
|

Deduct: stock-based compensation
(332) (40)
$ 47511 . $113,089

$ 128 % 218
$ 128 $& 297
N |
$ 928 & 218 ‘
$ 128 § 217 J
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MAMNAGEMENT SAVINGS PLAN The Company sponsors the General Growth Management
Savings and Employee Stock Ownership Plan {the "401(k) Plan") which permits all eligible
employees to defer a portion of their compensation in accordance with the provisions of
Section 401(k) of the Code. Under the 401(k] Plan, the Company may make, but is not obligated
to make, contributions to match the contributions of the employees. For the years ending
December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, the Company has elected to make matching contributions
of approximately $4,196, $3,851, and $3,554, respectively.

On December 12, 2002, the Company declared a cash distribution of $.72 per share that was
paid on January 31, 2003, to stockholders of record (1,762 owners of record} on January 4, 2003,
totaling $44,937. Also on January 31, 2003, a distribution of $14,080 was paid to the limited
partners of the Operating Partnership. Also on December 12, 2002, the Company declared
the fourth quarter 2002 preferred stock dividend, for the period from October 1, 2002 through
December 31, 2002, in the amount of $0.4531 per share, payable to preferred stockholders of
record on January 6, 2003 and paid on January 15, 2003. As described in Note 1, such preferred
stock dividend was in the same amount as the Operating Partnership’s distribution to the
Company of the same date with respect to the PIERS Preferred Units held by the Company.

On December 10, 2001, the Company declared a cash distribution of $.65 per share that was
paid on January 31, 2002, to stockholders of record (1,481 owners of record) on January 14,
2002, totaling $40,266. Also on January 31, 2002, a distribution of $12,722 was paid to the limited
partners of the Operating Partnership. Also on December 10, 2001, the Company declared
the fourth quarter 2001 preferred stock dividend, for the period from October 1, 2001 through
December 31, 2001, in the amount of $0.4531 per share, payable to preferred stockhotders
of record on January 4, 2002 and paid on January 15, 2002. As described in Note 1, such preferred
stock dividend was in the same amount as the Operating Partnership’s distribution to the
Company of the same date with respect to the PIERS Preferred Units held by the Company.

The allocations of the common distributions declared and paid for income tax purposes are

as follows:

2002 |

76.0%
- (
=9 =%
260% - 78%

1000% | 900.0%

During 2000 and 2001, The Company installed a broadband wiring and routing system that provides
tenants at the Company’s properties with the supporting equipment (the "Broadband System”)
to allow such tenants and mall locations to arrange high-speed cable access to the Internet.
Certain of the properties acquired subsequent to July 1, 2001 do not have such an installation.

Also during 2000 and 2001, the Company had also been engaged in Network Services development
activities, an effort to create for retailers a suite of broadband applications to support retail
tenant operations, on-line sales, and private wide area network services to be delivered by
the Broadband System. As of December 31, 2000, the Company had invested approximately
$66,000 in the Broadband System and approximately $18,000 in Network Services development

activities, all of which was reflected in buildings and equipment. The Company discontinued

MCTE 10
DISTRIBUTIONS
PAYABLE

NOTE 11

NETWORK
DISCONTINUANCE
COSTS AND OTHER
INTERNET INITIATIVES
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AND CONTINGENCIES

its Network Services development activities on June 29, 2001, as retailer demand for such serv-
ices had not developed as anticipated.

The discontinuance of the Network Services development activities resulted in a non-recurring,
pre-tax charge to second quarter 2001 earnings of $65,000. The $65,000 charge was comprised
of an approximate $11,800 reduction in the carrying value of equipment that was intended to
allow tenants access to the Network Services applications and approximately $53,200 in the
write-off of capitalized Network development costs as follows: approximately $17,400 in obligations
to various vendors including amounts related to the termination of contracts which provide no
future benefit to the Company, approximately $10,600 in private wide area network equipment
that was deemed without value, approximately $25,200 in capitalized network development costs
including third-party consultants, internal payroll, supplies and equipment for the design,
configuration and installation costs of private wide area network equipment; various costs
related to the development of Mallibu.com, a consumer Internet portal; and retated consumer-
direct e-commerce initiatives. In addition, the Company recognized $1,000 of net incrementat
discontinuance costs in the third quarter of 2001. This third quarter amount was comprised
of approximately $1,366 of incremental discontinuance costs (primarily payroll and severance
costs] and approximately $366 of reduction in the Network discontinuance reserve. Such
reduction in the Network discontinuance reserve was primarily due to the settlement of
obligations to Network Services vendors and consultants at amounts lower than originally
contracted for. Minor reductions have been made in the Network discontinuance reserve in
2002 since settlement discussions are continuing with other vendors and the Company has
and will continue to reduce the Network discontinuance reserve as additional settlements
are agreed to [expected to be finalized in the next 12 months).The Company’s investment

in the Broadband System, which is comprised primarily of mall equipment and mall wiring,
has been retained by the Company. The Company has, after accumulated depreciation of
approximately $19,783, a net carrying investment of approximately $45,920 in the Broadband
System as of December 31, 2002. This net investment has been reflected in buildings and
equipment and investment in Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

In the normal course of business, from time to time, the Company is involved in legal
actions relating to the ownership and operations of its properties. In management’s opinion,
the liabilities, if any that may ultimately result from such legal actions are not expected to
have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations
or liquidity of the Company.

The Company leases land or buildings at certain properties from third parties. Rental expense
including participation rent related to these leases was $1,642, $664 and $460 for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The leases generally provide for a
right of first refusal in favor of the Company in the event of a proposed sale of the property
by the tandlord.

From time to time the Company has entered into contingent agreements for the acquisition
of properties. Each acquisition is subject to satisfactory completion of due diligence and, in
the case of developments, completion and occupancy of the project.




ATED. AAL- ¥ NTS: (continued
{DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS] |

The following tabte aggregates the Company's expected contractual obligations and commitments

subsequent to December 31, 2002:

2068 oA06 . 2007 | SubseguEmt

R T I N R R T & 3 .
$ 726702, $ 453459 $ 128836 § 973455 8 @@z@@ofsﬂm
3,277 3,592 7,308 - 6281 168,220 =z
| 2405 249 A888 247 238 _ 09369
782,426 § 489520 § 130899°$ 960,123 $ 601045 $1,968808 B

On June 1, 1998 the FASB issued Statement No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments | NOTE 13

and Hedging Activities” {"Statement 133"). Statement 133, as amended, was adopted by the RECENTLY ISSUED

: . " ACCOUNTING

- Company January 1, 2001. The Company’s only hedging activities are the cash flow hedges PRONOUNCEMENTS
represented by its interest rate cap and swap agreements relating to its commercial mortgage-
backed securities (Note 5). These agreements either place a limit on the effective rate of
interest the Company will bear on such variable rate obligations or fix the effective interest
rate on such obligations to a certain rate. The Company has concluded that these agreements
are highly effective in achieving its objective of eliminating its exposure to variability in cash
flows relating to these variable rate obligations in any interest rate environment for loans
subject to swap agreements and for loans with related cap agreements, when LIBOR rates
exceed the strike rates of the agreements. However, Statement 133 also requires that the
Company fair value the interest rate cap and swap agreements as of the end of each reporting
period. Interest rates have declined since these agreements were obtained. In accordance
with the transition provisions of Statement 133, the Company recorded at January 1, 2001 a
loss to earnings of $3,334 as a cumulative-effect type transition adjustment to recognize at
fair value the time-value portion of all the interest rate cap agreements that were previously
designated as part of a hedging retationship. Inctuded in the $3,334 loss is $704 relating to
interest rate cap agreements held by Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates. The Company
also recorded $112 to other comprehensive income at January 1, 2001 to reflect the then fair
value of the intrinsic portion of the interest rate cap agreements. Subsequent changes in the
fair value of these agreements will be reflected in current earnings and accumulated other
comprehensive income. During 2002 and 2001, the Company recorded approximately $(30,774)
and $2,389, respectively, of additional other comprehensive income {loss) to reflect changes
in the fair value of its interest rate cap and swap agreements.

in conjunction with the GGP MPTC financing (Note 5], all of the debt hedged by the Company’s
then existing interest rate cap agreements was refinanced. As the related fair values of the

previous cap agreements were nominal on the refinancing date, these cap agreements were
not terminated and any subsequent changes in the fair value of these cap agreements will

be reflected in interest expense. Further, certain caps were purchased and sold in conjunction
with GGP MPTC financing. These purchased and sold caps do not qualify for hedge accounting
and changes in the fair values of these agreements witl also be reflected in interest expense.
Finally, certain interest rate swap agreements were entered into to partially fix the interest rates
on a portion of the GGP MPTC financing. These swap agreements have been designated as cash
flow hedges on $666,933 of the Company's consolidated variable rate debt [see also Note 5).

In July 2001, the FASB issued Statement No. 141, "Business Combinations”, ("SFAS 1417)
and Statement No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” {"SFAS 1427). SFAS 141
requires the purchase method to be used for business combinations initiated after June 30,
2001. SFAS 142 requires that goodwill no longer be amortized to earnings, but instead reviewed
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for impairment, upon adoption on January 1, 2002. The implementation of the statements
has resulted in the recognition upon acquisition of additional consolidated intangible assets
lacquired in-place lease origination costs) and liabilities {acquired below-market leases)
related to the Company’s 2002 real estate purchases of approximately $32,385 and $52,46¢6,
respectively. These intangible assets and liabilities, and similar assets and liabilities at the
Unconsolidated Real Estate Affiliates, are being amortized over the terms of the acquired leases
(weighted average life of approximately 6.1 and é.4 years, respectively] which resulted in additional
2002 net income, including the Company’'s share of such items from its Unconsolidated Real
Estate Affiliates, of approximately $1,361.

In August 20017, the FASB issued Statement No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations” {"SFAS 143"]. SFAS 143 addresses the financial accounting and reporting for

asset retirement costs and related obligations and was adopted by the Company on January
1, 2003. The Company does not believe the impact of the adoption of SFAS 143 on its current
or future operations or financial results will be significant.

In October 2001, the FASB issued Statement No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets” ["SFAS 144"). SFAS 144 prescribes one accounting model for long-lived
assets [including discontinued operations) that are to be held or disposed of by sale, as well
as addresses certain discontinued operations issues. SFAS 144 was adopted by the Company
on January 1, 2002. Although the Company has identified in January 2003 the McCreless Mall
in San Antonio, Texas as property held-for-sale (Note 2], the Company does not generally
hold its properties for sale and has historically not had significant operations that have been
accounted for as "discontinued operations”. Therefore, the Company does not anticipate that
SFAS 144 will have a significant impact on its current or future operations or financial results.

In February 2002, the FASB announced the rescission of Statement No. 4, "Reporting Gains and
Losses from Extinguishment of Debt”. Generally, such rescission has the effect of suspending
the treatment of debt extinguishment costs as extraordinary items. The rescission is effective
for the year ended December 31, 2003. Accordingly, in the comparative statements presented
in 2003, the Company will reclassify to other interest costs approximately $1,343 and $14,022
of debt extinguishment costs recorded in 2002 and 2001, respectively, that are classified under
current accounting standards as extraordinary items.

On November 25, 2002, the FASB published Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting
and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness
of Others” [“FIN 45"]. FIN 45 prescribes the disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its interim
and annual financial statements about obligations under certain guarantees it has issued.
FIN 45 also reaffirms that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee,
a liability for the fair vatue of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. The initial
recognition and initial measurement provisions of FIN 45 are applicable on a prospective basis
to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The disclosure requirements of
FIN 45 are effective for the Company’s December 31, 2002 consolidated financial statements.
As the Company does not typically issue guarantees on behalf of its unconsolidated affiliates
or other third-parties, the adoption of FIN 45 is not expected to have a significant impact on
the Company’s financial statements or disclosures.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 ("FIN 46”], "Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities” ("VIEs"], to improve financial reporting of special purpose and other entities.
Certain VIEs that are qualifying special purpose entities ("QSPEs"] will not be required to be
consolidated under the provisiohs of FIN 46. In addition, FIN 46 expands the disclosure require-
ments for the beneficiary of a significant or a majority of the variable interests to provide
information regarding the nature, purpose and financial characteristics of the entities. The
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Company has certain special purpose entities, primarity created to facilitate the issuance of
its commercial mortgage-backed securities [Note 5). Because these special purpose entities
are QSPEs, which are exempted from consolidation, the Company does not believe these
special purpose entities will reqUire consolidation in its financial statements.

Due to the impact of the acquisitions made or committed to during 2000, 2001 and 2002 as NOTE 14

described in Note 3, historical results of operations may not be indicative of future results g&iiﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ:&
of operations. The pro forma condensed consolidated statements of operations for the year INFORMATION
ended December 31, 2002 include adjustments for the acquisitions made during 2002 as {UNAUDITED)

described in Note 3 as if such transactions had occurred on January 1, 2002. The pro forma
condensed consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2001
include adjustments for the acquisitions made during 2002 as described in Note 3 plus the
acquisitions made in 2001 (the acquisition of a 50% interest in Willowbrook Mall through
GGP/Homart Il and the Company's acquisition of 100% of Tucson Mall), as if such transactions
had occurred on January 1, 2001. The pro forma condensed consolidated statements of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2000 include the 2002 and 2001 acquisitions
described above plus the 2000 acquisition of the Crossroads Center, all as if such transactions
had occurred on January 1, 2000. The pro forma information is based upon the historical
consolidated statements of operations excluding extraordinary items, cumulative effect of
accounting change and gain on sale and does not purport to present what actual results would
have been had the acquisitions, and related transactions, in fact, occurred at the previously

mentioned dates, or to project results for any future period.

PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION

BT

Total revenues 80096526 1003799 . § 626692
Exbenses: ) ' T ;
Real estate taxes : 72,062 70,897 58,667
Other property operating . . g 40398 6,436 233,920
Depreciation and amortization . 0 \ 8972 189,428
Total Expenses 2 - 610,387 : H 622301 | &e6,208
Operating Income , TUTTO4BB,187 407,498 458,686
Interest expense, net § . (268.817) ‘ (300,329) 1331.742)
Income allocated to minority interests ... " . (102759) ' (58,352) (39,823
Equity in income of unconsolidated affiliates , o %E%@ 65430 ‘ 42,4088
" Pro forma earnings before extraordinary items and cumulative } : : o '
effect of accounting. change® { 227,089 108,247 109,829
| (24467} |

- Pro forma convertible preferred stock-dividends - - : ‘ (24,667) :

Pro forma earnings before extraordinary items and cumulative —
effect of accounting change available to common stockholders® |

-Pro forma earnings per share - diluted”

la) The pro forma adjustments include management fee and depreciation modifications and adjustments to give effect to the acquisitions activity describad above and does
not include extraordinary items or the 2001 cumulative effect of accounting change.

(b} Pro forma basic earnings per share are based upon weighted average common shares of 62,181,283 for 2002, 52,844,821 for 2001 and 52,058,320 for 2000. Pro forma
diluted per share amounts are based on the weighted average common shares and the effect of dilutive securities (stock options and, for 2002 only, PIERS) outstanding of
70,851,003 for 2002, 52,906,549 for 2001 and 52,096,331 for 2000,
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FINANCIAL
INFORMATION
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i Secdn‘& .
Quarter

tal revenues

income

come-before-extraordinary items ‘ 5 SHRUS Sl jlﬂl(é?

et mcorme applicable to.common shares 1408 Sl Té&éﬂ@

nings before extraordinary items per share-basic? ’ ; : 072 $ ﬂ@@

gs before extraordinary items per share-dituted®

Earmings per share - basic®

Earnings per share - diluted®

Distributions declared per share

Wi ghted average shares outstanding (in thousands) - basic

leighted average shares ou—tsitvandiﬂ-g lin thousands) - dituted

Veer Erded
December 37, 2007

First }
i Quarter Quarter )

$228,928

- _ $191.970 | $189542 | $196,269 |
Fating income S 8,796 | 18497 | 90088 | 908,063

lncome {loss) before extraordinary items and cumulative g ‘ ‘ “
effect of accounting change . 30071 ¢ (17,830) ¢ 35,609 | 61,696
etincome [loss] applicable te common shares ) 20,620 ‘ 126,758) 29,239 | 42 742

Earnings (loss) before extraordinary items and cumulative ‘ \u
effect of accounting charnge per share-basic® $ 0461 $ (048] @ $ 085 | $ 1.08

- Earnings (loss) before extraordinary items and cumulative \\ “\ I
- effect of accounting change per share-dituted® - 046 | 0.58) | 0.86 | 1.03
ﬂf‘_:ﬁﬁiﬁg’sﬁ (loss] per share - baéic‘a’ - .39 ;‘ (©.47) ; 0.86 0.79
Earnings lloss) per share - diluted® 0.3% ‘; (©.47) ‘ 0.58 ;’1 @.79
| Distributions declared per share $ 053 % 085 | § 0465 %  0.65
eighted average shares Outstanding lin thousands) - basic 52,368 ‘ 52,413 } 52,596 | §3,990
i ;e“fajg?jhalfe%HO'g»t;iEtanding lin thousands] - diluted  |NRCERCCUNNEER 0 52,662 J} 54,067

(a)Earnings (loss) per share for the four guarters do not add up to the annual earnings per share due to the issuance of additional stock during the year.
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MATTHEW BUCKSBAUM, 77
Founder and Chairman

JOHN BUCKSBAUM, 46
Chief Executive Officer

ALAN S. COHEN, 42
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Marketing
Airespace, Inc.

San Jose, California

ANTHONY DOWNS, 72
Senior Fellow

The Brookings Institution
Washington, D.C.

MORRIS MARK, 62
President

Mark Asset Management
Corporation

New York, New York

ROBERT MICHAELS, 59
President and
Chief Operating Officer

BETH STEWART, 46
Chief Executive Officer
Storetrax.com
Rockville, Maryland
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MATTHEW BUCKSBAUM
Founder and Chairman

JOHN BUCKSBAUM
Chief Executive Officer

ROBERT MICHAELS
President and
Chief Operating Officer

BERNARD FREIBAUM
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Cfficer

JEAN SCHLEMMER
Executive Vice President
Asset Management

JOEL BAYER
Senior Vice President and
Chief Investment Officer

JOHN BERGSTROM
Senior Vice President
Development

RONALD L. GERN
Senior Vice President
and Assistant Secretary

MARSHALL E. EISENBERG
Secretary
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CORPORATE OFFICE

EMPLOYEES
REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENT
AND SHAREOWNER

SERVICES
DEPARTMENT

INDEPENDENT
ACCOUNTANTS

ANNUAL MEETING

FORM 10-K

INVESTOR RELATIONS
CONTACT

COMMON STOCK PRICE
AND DIVIDENDS

COMMON STOCK

PRICE AND DIVIDENDS
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110 North Wacker Drive
Chicago, Illinois 60606
{312} 960-5000

3,810

For information about the Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan, please contact:
Mellon Investor Services, LLC

Shareholder Relations

P.0. Box 3315, South Hackensack, New Jersey 07606

You may contact the Administrator at (888) 395-8037 or www.mellon-investor.com

TDD for Hearing Impaired: (800) 231-5469

Foreign Shareholders: {201} 329-8640, TDD for Foreign Shareholders: {201} 329-8354

Deloitte and Touche LLP
Chicago, lilinois

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders of General Growth Properties, Inc. will be held on May 7,
2003, at General Growth Properties, 110 North Wacker Drive, Chicago, Illinois, at 9 a.m. CDT.

Readers who wish to receive, without charge, a copy of Form 10-K as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission should call (866) 818-9933 or, visit our website at
www.generalgrowth.com and refer to our financial downloads page in the Investment section.

Elizabeth Coronelli, Vice President, Investor Relations

Set forth below are the high and low sales prices per share of common stock for each period as
reported by the NYSE, and the distributions per share of common stock declared for such period.

L Sew7s SO0 8
| $ 5100 ’kfi CSerls 0§
65180 - $41.38 - - 6 T2

- --QUARTER ENDED - DECLARED DIST

Mareh 39 _ 8§33 o g

June 30 o 53936 - $33.95 8
September 30 $ 39:51 $3:EE - 8
December 31 $ 40.50 $ 34.35 $

 HIGH

: $ 3280 $ 39.69 S Bl
Becemiber 31 $ 35.80 $ 28.69 $ 53

New York Stock Exchange New York, New York
NYSE Symbols: GGP (Common), GGPPrA (Preferred)
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General Growth Properties, Inc.
410 North Wacker Drive
Chicago, lllinois 60606
1312) 960-5000

X

www.generalgrowih.com




